

"Epidemiology of acute traumatic aortic injuries in Galicia, Spain. Development and validation of a score for early diagnosis of aortic injuries in major blunt chest trauma patients and optimization of management algorithm"

Victor Xesús Mosquera Rodríguez

This thesis has been submitted to the Universidad de A Coruña in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of "Doctor con Mención Internacional" by the Universidad de A Coruña.

March 2012

D. JAVIER MUÑIZ GARCÍA, Doctor en Medicina y Cirugía y Profesor Titular de Universidad del área de Medicina Preventiva y Salud Pública de la Universidad de A Coruña,

Dña. MILAGROS MARINI DÍAZ, Doctora en Medicina y Cirugía y Jefa de Sección de la Unidad de Radiología Intervencionista del Departamento de Radiología del Complejo Hospitalario Universitario de A Coruña, y

D. JOSÉ MARÍA HERRERA NOREÑA, Doctor en Medicina y Cirugía y Jefe de Sección del Departamento de Cirugía Cardiaca del Complejo Hospitalario Universitario de A Coruña

CERTIFICAN:

Que el trabajo contenido en la presente memoria y titulado:

"Epidemiología de las lesiones traumáticas agudas en Galicia. Desarrollo y validación de un método diagnóstico precoz de lesión aórtica en los pacientes con traumatismo torácico cerrado mayor y optimización de las estrategias de manejo"

"Epidemiology of acute traumatic aortic injuries in Galicia, Spain. Development and validation of a score for early diagnosis of aortic injuries in major blunt chest trauma patients and optimization of management algorithm"

Que para optar al grado de Doctor con "Mención Internacional" presenta D. Víctor Xesús Mosquera Rodríguez, licenciado en Medicina y Cirugía, ha sido realizado bajo nuestra dirección y reúne las características precisas para su presentación y defensa como Tesis Doctoral.

A Coruña, 5 de Marzo de 2012

Fdo. Javier Muñiz García

Fdo. Milagros Marini Díaz

Fdo. José María Herrera Noreña

DEDICATION

"This Thesis is dedicated to the loving memory of my sister, Bea. Gone, but not forgotten"

DECLARATION

I hereby declare that the work presented in this thesis is my own, except where stated.

This work has not been submitted for any other degree or professional qualification.

Victor X. Mosquera Rodríguez

ACKNOWLWEDGMENTS

I am deeply indebted to my supervisors Dr. Milagros Marini, Dr. Javier Muñiz and Dr. Jose M. Herrera, whose support, stimulating suggestions and encouragement helped me throughout this project and in writing of this thesis. Their support in the daunting task of part-time research was invaluable and I will be forever grateful.

Many thanks go to the Head of Cardiac Surgery Department of the *Complejo Hospitalario Universitario de A Coruña*, Dr. José J. Cuenca, for not only his ongoing support and guidance but his help during difficult periods. His important help in both academic research and in my developing surgical practice has been invaluable.

This project would not have been possible without the help of our collaborators at *Complejo Hospitalario Universitario de Vigo*, Dr. Gonzalo Pradas, *Complejo Hospitalario Universitario de Santiago de Compostela*, Dr. Belén Adrio, and *Hospital Clínic Universitari de Valencia*, Dr. Ricardo Boix, who provided the datasets for the validation of the predictive score. I would also like to thank Dr. Javier J. Mariñas from the *Unidade de Codificación Clínica* of the *Complejo Hospitalario Universitario de A Coruña* for his help to design the comprehensive search strategies for patient recruitment and for identifying all major blunt chest trauma patients from the whole region of Galicia in the period 2006-2010.

My parents deserve special thanks for their inseparable support, patience and years of love. Warm appreciation goes out to my wife, for her years never-ending support and for filling my life with love.

Finally, I would like to thank the Direction of the *Complejo Hospitalario Universitario de A Coruña* and the *Servicio Galego de Saude* for their cooperation and encouragement.

INDEX:

I.	TABLE OF CONTENTS
II.	LIST OF FIGURESxi
III.	LIST OF TABLESxv
IV.	LIST OF ABBREVIATIONSxvii
V.	PUBLICATIONSxx
VI.	SUMMARYxxiii
VII.	EXTENDED SUMMARY IN SPANISH (RESÚMEN EXTENDIDO EN
	ESPAÑOL)xxvii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	1
STATE OF THE ART IN ACUTE TRAUMATIC AORTIC INJURIES	3
2.1. Epidemiology	3
2.2. Natural history and prognosis of ATAIs	11
2.3. Mechanisms of injury	15
2.3.1. Stretching and shearing forces	15
2.3.2. Intravascular pressure	17
2.3.3. Water-hammer effect	18
2.3.4. Osseous pinch	19
2.3.5. Multivariate complex models	20
2.3.6. Additional factors in the pathogenesis of ATAI	23
2.4. Pathology of ATAI	25
2.4.1. Morphology of ATAI	25
	INTRODUCTION STATE OF THE ART IN ACUTE TRAUMATIC AORTIC INJURIES 2.1. Epidemiology 2.2. Natural history and prognosis of ATAIs 2.3. Mechanisms of injury 2.3.1. Stretching and shearing forces 2.3.2. Intravascular pressure 2.3.3. Water-hammer effect 2.3.4. Osseous pinch 2.3.5. Multivariate complex models 2.3.6. Additional factors in the pathogenesis of ATAI 2.4.1. Morphology of ATAI

2.4.2. Anatomic location of ATAI
2.4.3. Classification of ATAI
2.5. Clinical signs and symptoms
2.6. Radiographic diagnosis of ATAI
2.6.1. Chest X-ray35
2.6.2. Computed tomography scan
2.6.2.1. CT scan: multidetector computed tomography44
2.6.2.2. CT scan: imaging pitfalls46
2.6.2.3. Risks associated to the widespread use of high-resolution CT
scan: an increased source of radiation exposure48
2.6.3. Magnetic Resonance Imaging
2.6.4. Aortography
2.6.5. Intravascular ultrasound
2.6.6. Transesophageal echocardiography56
2.7. Management of ATAIs
2.7.1. Medical treatment
2.7.2. Open surgical repair
2.7.2.1. Simple cross-clamping technique
2.7.2.2. Passive perfusion shunts
2.7.2.3. Partial left heart bypass
2.7.2.4. Full or partial cardiopulmonary bypass

2.7.2.5. Additional measures for avoiding spinal cord ischemia76
2.7.3. Endovascular repair77
2.7.3.1. LSA management during zone 2 coverage
2.7.3.2. Spinal drainage
2.7.4. Open repair versus endovascular repair
2.7.5. Operative timing: early versus delayed repair
2.7.6. Definitive conservative management
2.7.7. Management of minimal aortic injuries101
2.7.8. ATAIs in crush trauma103
2.7.9. Ascending aorta and aortic arch traumatic injuries: a different
challenge105
2.7.10. Management of ATAIs associated with major aortic abdominal visceral
branch injuries
2.8. The rationale behind predictive scoring in ATAIs121
SCOPE, OBJECTIVES AND MOTIVATION OF THE RESEARCH127
PATIENTS AND METHODS
4.1. Study design and patient recruitment
4.1.1. Study design for Objective I (Epidemiology of ATAI in Galicia)125
4.1.2. Study design for Objective II (Predictive risk scoring method)133
<i>4.1.2.1. Score dataset</i> 135
1122 Validation dataset 136

3.

4.

	4.2. Inclusion and exclusion criteria	136
	4.3. Imaging data	137
	4.4. Variables collected	138
	4.5. Definitions	139
	4.6. Statistical analysis	140
5.	RESULTS	144
	5.1. Results: epidemiology and clinical outcomes of patients w	ith ATAIs among
	major blunt chest trauma patients in Galicia between 2000	6 -2010 144
	5.2. Results: predictive scoring method	153
	5.2.1. Description of the score dataset	153
	5.2.2. Development of the predictive score	
	5.2.3. Description of the validation dataset	165
	5.2.4. Validation of the predictive score	168
	5.2.4.1. Internal validation	168
	5.2.4.2. External validation	169
6.	DISCUSSION	174
	6.1. Discussion: importance of ATAI among major tran	ıma patients in
	Galicia	174
	6.2. Discussion: TRAINS predictive scoring method	
	6.3. Limitations	191
7.	CONCLUSIONS	
	I. Objective I- Epidemiology of ATAI in Galicia	193
	II. Objective II- Predictive score of the risk of ATAI	in major trauma
	patients	195
8.	BIBLIOGRAPHY	197

9.	APENDICES	233

9.1.APPENDIX I: Publications

9.2.APPENDIX II: Unpublished data. Manuscripts under review

LIST OF FIGURES

1.	Figure 1. Distribution of fatal casualties per million population in the European
	Union in 2009
2.	Figure 2. Distribution of fatal casualties by age and sex per million population
	in Spain in 20097
3.	Figure 3. The "shovelling effect"
4.	Figure 4. Mechanisms of injury resulting in ATAI
5.	Figure 5. Classification of traumatic aortic injuries proposed by Azizzadeh et
	al31
6.	Figure 6. Findings of ATAI on admission CXR (I)36
7.	Figure 7. Findings of ATAI on admission CXR (II)
8.	Figure 8. Findings of ATAI in MDCT (I)42
9.	Figure 9. Findings of ATAI in MDCT (II)45
10	. Figure 10. MRI in ATAIs51
11.	Figure 11. Aortography (I)52
12	. Figure 12. Aortography (II)53
13	. Figure 13. TEE in ATAIs
14	. Figure 14. Repair of ATAI with Dacron graft interposition67
15	. Figure 15. ATAI repaired using LHB73

16. Figure 16. Intraoperative aortography (I)
17. Figure 17. Intraoperative aortography (II)80
18. Figure 18. Classification of proximal landing zones for TEVAR83
19. Figure 19. Modification in ATAIs management since incorporation of emergent
TEVAR
20. Figure 20. Kaplan-Meier survival curves of different strategies of management
of ATAI patients100
21. Figure 21. Test images of ATAIs caused by crush traumas103
22. Figure 22. Flow chart showing the distribution of patients in a multicentre study
of ascending aorta and arch injuries by Mosquera et al106
23. Figure 23. Kaplan-Meier survival curves of traumatic aortic injuries of the
ascending aorta or the aortic arch vs. traumatic aortic injuries of the aortic
isthmus, mid-descending aorta or abdominal aorta108
24. Figure 24. MDCT on admission and after 1 week in a major trauma patient with
associated ATAI and MAAVB injuries114
25. Figure 25. On admission MDCT and aortography images from a major trauma
patient with associated ATAI and MAAVB injuries116
26. Figure 26. Kaplan-Meier survival curves of ATAI patients with associated
injury to MAAVB injuries vs. ATAI patients without associated MAAVB
injuries117
27. Figure 27. Selection of a criterion value

- 34. Figure 34. Causes of accident among overall major blunt chest trauma patients, major trauma without ATAI and with an associated ATAI admitted to public hospitals in Galicia between 2006-2010......147
- 35. Figure 35. Anatomic location of ATAIs.....148
- 36. Figure 36. ROC curve of the TRAINS in the score dataset......159
- 37. Figure 37. DeLong method for ROC curves comparison......160
- 38. Figure 38. Distribution of patients from the score dataset according to their TRAINS result.
- 39. **Figure 39.** Means of TRAINS results among the different degrees of severity of Mosquera V.X.

the aortic injuries in the score dataset
40. Figure 40. Means of trauma scores, TRISS, ISS and RTS, among the different
degrees of severity of the aortic injuries in the score dataset164
41. Figure 41. ROC curve of TRAINS in validation dataset
42. Figure 42. Distribution of patients from the validation dataset according to their
result obtained in the TRAINS scoring method171
43. Figure 43. Means of TRAINS results among the different degrees of severity of
the aortic injuries in the validation dataset
44. Figure 44. Means of trauma scores, TRISS, ISS and RTS, among the different
degrees of severity of the aortic injuries in the validation dataset173
45. Figure 45. Algorithm for management of major trauma patient

LIST OF TABLES

1.	Table 1. Evolution of the total number of road deaths in Spain from 2000 to
	2008
2.	Table 2. Number of dead pedestrians in pedestrian-vehicle collisions in
	Spain
3.	Table 3. Distribution of road deaths by Spanish regions between 2000-
	2009
4.	Table 4. Logistic regression analysis of physiologic factors, associated injury
	patterns, and aortic repair as potential factors associated with mortality in
	patients with ATAI from Arthurs et al13
5.	Table 5. Location of traumatic aortic injuries in autopsy series
6.	Table 6. Chest radiographs findings associated with ATAI
7.	Table 7. Mortality and risk of paraplegia with ATAI repair procedures
8.	Table 8. Recommended clinical factors for a delayed repair
9.	Table 9. Types of aortic injury in crush trauma and non-crush trauma
	patients104
10	T-11. 10 ICD 0 des services d'fra identification of mains blant short through
10	. Table 10. ICD-9 codes screened for identification of major blunt chest trauma
	patients132
11	Table 11. Anatomic location of the ATAIs vs. mechanisms of the aortic
	injury149
12	. Table 12. Severity of the ATAIs vs. mechanisms of the aortic injury150

13. Table 13. Severity of the ATAIs vs. anatomic location of the ATAIs151
14. Table 14. Epidemiological, clinical and diagnostic characteristics in patients of
score dataset
15. Table 15. Distribution of causes of in-hospital mortality in score dataset155
16. Table 16. Results of the bivariate analysis for the patients of the score
dataset
17. Table 17. Results of the binary stepwise forward logistic regression and the
corresponding score assigned to each significant variable according to its
OR158
18. Table 18. Results of the Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test in score
dataset161
19. Table 19. Epidemiological, clinical and diagnostic characteristics in patients of
the validation dataset165
20. Table 20. Distribution of the causes of in-hospital mortality in the validation
dataset167
21. Table 21. Bootstrap for variables included in the equation168
22. Table 22. Results of the Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test in the
validation dataset170
23. Table 23. Comparison of our results with those previously published in the
literature regarding the distribution of causes of accident among major trauma
with ATAI176

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS (in alphabetical order)

- AIS: Abbreviated Injury Scale.
- **ATAI(s):** Acute Traumatic Aortic Injury(ies).
- **AUC:** Area Under the Curve.
- **AVP:** Auto vs. Pedestrian.
- CHUAC: Complejo Hospitalario Universitario de A Coruña.
- CHUS: Complejo Hospitalario Universitario de Santiago de Compostela.
- CHUVI: Complejo Hospitalario Universitario de Vigo.
- **CI:** Confidence interval.
- **CPB:** Cardiopulmonary Bypass.
- **CPK:** Creatine Phosphokinase.
- **CSF:** Cerebrospinal Fluid.
- **CXR:** Chest X-Ray.
- **DSA:** Digital Subtraction Angiography.
- **ER:** Emergency.
- **Gy:** Grays.
- HCA: Hypothermic Circulatory Arrest.

Mosquera V.X.

Acute traumatic aortic injuries

- HR: Hazard Ratio.
- ICU: Intensive Care Unit.
- **ISS:** Injury Severity Score.
- **IVUS:** Intravascular Ultrasound.
- LHB: Left Heart Bypass.
- LMW: Left Mediastinal Width.
- LSA: Left Subclavian Artery.
- MAAVB(s): Major Aortic Abdominal Visceral Branch(es).
- MAP: Mean Arterial Pressure.
- MAI: Minimal Aortic Injuries.
- MCC: Motorcycle Collision.
- MDCT: Multidetector Computed Tomography.
- **MW:** Mediastinal Width.
- MWR: Mediastinal Width Ratio.
- MPR: Multiplanar reconstructions.
- **mSv:** milisieverts.
- MVC: motor vehicle collisions.
- **OR:** Odds Ratio.

- **ROC:** Receiver Operating Characteristic.
- **RTS:** Revised Trauma Score.
- **SAI:** Significant Aortic Injuries.
- SCI: Spinal Cord Ischemia.
- Sv: Sieverts.
- **TEE:** Transesophageal Echocardiography.
- **TEVAR:** Thoracic Endovascular Aortic Repair.
- TDMAC: Tridodecylmethylammonium Chloride.
- **TRISS:** Trauma Injury Severity Score.
- **YPLL:** Years of Productive Life Lost

ARTICLES PUBLISHED IN PEER-REVIEWED JOURNALS

- Mosquera VX, Herrera JM, Marini M, Estevez F, Cao I, Gulías D, Valle JV, Cuenca JJ. Mid-term results of thoracic endovascular aortic repair in surgical high-risk patients. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg* 2009;9(1):61-5.
- Mosquera VX, Marini M, Lopez-Perez JM, Muñiz-Garcia J, Herrera JM, Cao I, Cuenca JJ. Role of conservative management in traumatic aortic injury: comparison of long-term results of conservative, surgical, and endovascular treatment. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2011;142(3):614-21.
- Mosquera VX, Marini M, Muñiz J, Lopez-Perez JM, Gulías D, Cuenca JJ. Aortic injuries in crush trauma patients: Different mechanism, different management. *Injury*. 2011 Oct 11. [Epub ahead of print] DOI: 10.1016/j.injury.2011.09.022
- 4. Mosquera VX, Marini M, Cao I, Gulias D, Muñiz J, Herrera-Noreña JM, Cuenca JJ. Traumatic aortic injuries associated with major visceral vascular injuries in major blunt trauma patients. *World J Surg. 2012 Jul;36(7):1571-80.*
- Mosquera VX, Marini M, Gulias D, Cao I, Muñiz J, Herrera-Noreña JM, Lopez-Perez JM, Cuenca JJ. Minimal traumatic aortic injuries: meaning and natural history. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg. 2012 Jun;14(6):773-8. Epub 2012 Mar 21.*
- 6. Victor X Mosquera, Milagros Marini, Javier Muñiz, Vanesa Asorey-Veiga, Belen Adrio-Nazar, Ricardo Boix, José M Lopez-Perez, Gonzalo Pradas-Montilla, José J Cuenca. Traumatic Aortic Injury Score (TRAINS): an easy and simple score for early detection of traumatic aortic injuries in major trauma patients. *Intensive Care Med. 2012 May 23*. DOI: 10.1007/s00134-012-2596-y.

PUBLISHED ABSTRACTS FROM CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS

- Víctor X. Mosquera Rodríguez; Milagros Marini Diaz; José Manuel López Pérez; Javier Muñiz García; Daniel Gulías Soidán; Fernando Rodríguez López; José V. Valle Montañés; José María Herrera Noreña; Vicente Campos Rubio; José J. Cuenca Castillo. Evolución del manejo de la rotura traumatica de aorta: 30 años de experiencia. Oral presentation at the 20th Meeting of the Sociedad Española de Cirugía Torácica y Cardiovascular, San Sebastián, Spain, June 2010. Published in *Cirugía Cardiovascular*, vol. 17, Supl. 1/2010, pag. 18.
- 2. Víctor X. Mosquera Rodríguez; Carlos Velasco García; José María Herrera Noreña; Vicente Campos Rubio; Daniel Gulías Soidán; José Manuel López Pérez; Milagros Marini Diaz; José J. Cuenca Castillo. Reparación endovascular de lesiones de arco aórtico y aorta descendente en pacientes de alto riesgo quirúrgico: resultados a medio plazo. Oral presentation at the annual meeting of the Sociedad Española de Cardiología SEC 2009- El Congreso de las Enfermedades Cardiovasculares, Barcelona, Spain, October 2009.

Published in Rev Esp Cardiol, 2009;62 Supl 31-226.

3. Victor X. Mosquera Rodríguez; Carlos Velasco García; Carmen Iglesias Gil; Laura Fernández Arias; María García Vieites; Milagros Marini Diaz; Francisco Estévez Cid; Daniel Gulías Soidán; José M. Herrera Noreña; José J. Cuenca Castillo. Tratamiento endovascular de lesiones traumáticas de aorta: resultados a corto y medio plazo. Oral presentation at the annual meeting of the 21th Meeting of the Sociedad Española de Cirugía Torácica y Cardiovascular, Sevilla, Spain, June 2012. Published in *Cirugía Cardiovascular*, vol. 19, n 2, Apr-Jun 2012, pag. 128. ISSN: 1134-0096.

4. Victor X. Mosquera Rodríguez; Vanesa Asorey Veiga; Belén Adrio Nazar; Ricardo Boix Garibo; Milagros Marini Díaz; Javier Muñiz García; Gonzalo Pradas Montilla; José J. Cuenca Castillo. Traumatic Aortic Injury Score (TRAINS): una escala de riesgo rápida y fácil para la identificación precoz de lesiones traumáticas de aorta en pacientes politraumatizados. Oral presentation at the annual meeting of the 21th Meeting of the Sociedad Española de Cirugía Torácica y Cardiovascular, Sevilla, Spain, June 2012.

Published in *Cirugía Cardiovascular*, vol. 19, n 2, Apr-Jun 2012, pag. 128. ISSN: 1134-0096.

MANUSCRIPTS SUBMITTED TO JOURNALS

 Víctor X Mosquera, Milagros Marini, Javier Muñiz, Vanesa Asorey-Veiga, Belen Adrio-Nazar, Jose M Herrera, Gonzalo Pradas-Montilla, and Jose J Cuenca. Blunt traumatic aortic injuries of the ascending aorta and aortic arch: a clinical multicentre study. *Submitted to: Injury. Under Review.* JINJ-D-12-00337

SUMMARY

Acute traumatic aortic injury (ATAI) usually occurs in patients with major blunt chest trauma and has devastating consequences. An early diagnosis with risk stratification, control of blood pressure and cardiac contractility is the cornerstone of the approach to aortic injuries in these patients.

Optimization of diagnostic resources and a specific management is mandatory to both prevent potentially lethal aortic-related complications in high-risk major trauma patients, and to avoid unnecessary costs and radiation exposure in low-risk trauma patients.

This thesis describes two clinical studies designed to characterise the epidemiology and clinical profile of major trauma patients with ATAI among overall major blunt chest trauma patients in our Spanish region, Galicia, whose population is more than 2,700,000 inhabitants, and to develop and further validate a predictive score of the probability of presenting an ATAI in major trauma patients, which was named *Traumatic Aortic Injury Score (TRAINS)*.

In the first instance a retrospective descriptive study was undertaken in all major trauma patients with blunt chest trauma admitted to a public hospital in Galicia from 2006 to 2010 (1,760 patients), followed by a comparison of the distinct clinical profile between trauma patients with (44 patients) and without an associated ATAI (1,716 patients).

This epidemiological part of the research showed that overall importance in terms of percentage of ATAIs among major trauma patients with blunt chest trauma between 2006 and 2010 in our institution and region was 4.4% and 2.5% respectively. Likewise, the yearly proportion of ATAIs among major trauma patients in Galicia was 1.1%-

3.3%, whereas it ranged from 2.5% to 7.8% in our institution. After estimation of the number of major trauma patients with ATAI who die at the site of accident or during transportation, the actual resulting incidence of ATAI in Galicia would be 3 to 6.1 cases per 100,000 inhabitants per year.

Our research confirmed that in Galicia major trauma patients with associated ATAIs present a different epidemiological profile, prognosis, initial clinical presentation and the number and distribution of associated injuries. While major trauma patients without aortic injury distribute fairly homogeneously through the whole age span, ATAIs concentrate among 16 to 35 years old trauma patients, where 54.6% of overall ATAI occurs. The motor vehicle collision is the commonest cause of accident among ATAI victims in Galicia, but we have found a higher proportion of motorcycle collisions, falls and crush traumas and a lower proportion of auto-pedestrian accidents among patients with ATAI compared to those reported in ATAI victims by other authors. The proportion of "atypical or non-isthmal" aortic injuries (43.2%) is significantly higher than the 7% to 15% reported in other clinical series, also highlighting a remarkably higher proportion of injuries at the aortic arch (25%). Major trauma patients with ATAIs presented with haemodynamic instability on admission more frequently than major trauma patients without aortic injury, and they also had a higher proportion of severe extra-thoracic injuries, which justify their worse prognosis.

The second part of the research was a cross-sectional study of a diagnostic procedure. The development of a predictive score for the risk of ATAI in major trauma patients with blunt chest trauma was carried out in two stages. In the first stage, we analysed the clinical and radiological characteristics of major blunt chest trauma patients in order to develop the screening tool for ATAIs among major trauma patients. In the second stage, we validated the predictive score in an independent external population of major trauma patients. In the predictive score development, the overall study population consisted of 640 major trauma patients (all of them with blunt chest trauma) divided into two datasets: a score dataset provided only by the *Complejo Hospitalario Universitario de A Coruña* (76 consecutive major trauma patients with ATAI and 304 without aortic injury), and an independent validation dataset provided by other three different institutions: *Complejo Hospitalario Universitario de Vigo, Complejo Hospitalario Universitario de Santiago de Compostela*, and *Hospital Clínic Universitari de Valencia* (52 consecutive major trauma patients with ATAI and 208 without aortic injury).

Bivariate analysis identified variables of potential influence in presenting aortic injury among major blunt chest trauma patients. Subsequently, confirmed variables by stepwise forward logistic regression were assigned a score according to their corresponding beta coefficient which was rounded to the closest integer value (1-4).

The predictors of aortic injury that we identified included: widened mediastinum (OR: 30.82; CI: 12.05-78.81); hypotension <90 mmHg (OR: 5.85; CI: 2.26-15.15); long bone fracture (OR: 8.60; CI: 2.15-34.31); pulmonary contusion (OR: 4.12; CI: 1.11-15.20); left scapula fracture (OR: 3.81; CI: 1.24-11.69); hemothorax (OR: 3.47; CI: 1.19-10.09), and pelvic fracture (OR: 2.96; CI: 1.15-7.60).

We developed a contemporaneous multivariate prediction model for traumatic aortic injury after major trauma with a sensitivity >93% and a specificity >85%. The small number of ATAI patients who were misdiagnosed by *TRAINS* (false negatives) presented low-degree aortic injuries. The scoring method also proved its accuracy in both an internal and an external validation process. The *TRAINS* demonstrated its ability to diagnose ATAIs among major trauma patients with a sensitivity >92% and a

specificity >85% in a current multicentre population of major trauma patients, thus confirming its applicability at the current time and in different geographical areas.

We demonstrated that the conventional trauma risk scores fail to show statistical relationship between the severity of the trauma and the degree of severity of the aortic injury. Thus, the conventional trauma severity scores are useless to cast suspicion on the diagnosis of ATAI. On the contrary, *TRAINS* score has proven to be related with the severity of the aortic injury and to be useful even in the diagnosis of low-degree ATAI.

In summary, the *TRAINS* and associated algorithm have been designed to be used in daily practice to easily and rapidly identify major trauma patients who are at risk of aortic injury, thus avoiding unnecessary costs and radiation exposure in low-risk trauma patients. On the other hand, the *TRAINS* may raise suspicion of ATAI even in the cases of low-degree aortic injuries, which require a close imaging surveillance to determine whether or not those patients will need a further intervention. The *TRAINS* algorithm is also useful for resource allocation planning, enabling clinicians to refer patients at high risk of traumatic aortic injuries to specialized units, providing the ability to rapidly diagnose and therapeutically manage this critical subset of trauma patients in order to avoid potentially lethal aortic-related complications.

EXTENDED SUMMARY IN SPANISH (RESÚMEN EXTENDIDO EN ESPAÑOL)

Introducción

Los pacientes con traumatismos mayores cerrados de tórax pueden presentar lesiones traumáticas de aorta, las cuales conducen frecuentemente a complicaciones cardiovasculares potencialmente letales. Las lesiones traumáticas de aorta son la segunda causa de mortalidad en los pacientes politraumatizados, únicamente superadas por las lesiones neurológicas. Además, constituyen una importante fuente de morbilidad y de consumo de recursos sanitarios y sociales tanto en términos de años de vida productivos perdidos como de costes por dependencia de los pacientes supervivientes.

Los accidentes de tráfico son la principal causa de lesiones traumáticas de aorta, seguidos por las precipitaciones, los atropellos y, en último lugar, los traumatismo sin deceleración o traumatismos de "baja velocidad" como los aplastamientos. Los datos internacionales de los que disponemos cifran la proporción de lesiones traumáticas de aorta entre el 0.5% y el 2% del total de accidentes de tráfico no letales y entre el 10%-20% de todas los fallecimientos por accidentes de tráfico. Sin embargo, no existen datos publicados que cifren su proporción entre los pacientes traumatizados en España y, concretamente, en Galicia.

En general, las lesiones traumáticas de aorta se pueden clasificar en tres categorías en cuanto a su pronóstico a corto plazo. El grupo más amplio con el 70%-80% de los pacientes engloba a las víctimas fallecidas en el lugar de accidente, que suelen presentar una rotura completa no contenida de las tres capas de pared aórtica que Mosquera V.X.

conduce a una rápida exanguinación de la víctima. La segunda categoría incluye entre el 2% y el 5% de los pacientes con lesión traumática de aorta, que son aquellos que llegan inestables al hospital o mueren durante el trasporte al centro hospitalario. La mortalidad global en este segundo grupo excede el 90%. Finalmente, hay un porcentaje de pacientes entre el 20% y el 25%, que permanecen hemodinámicamente estables desde el punto de vista de la lesión aórtica y que presentan una mortalidad intrahospitalaria global alrededor del 25%, fundamentalmente por lesiones traumáticas asociadas no aórticas.

El manejo del paciente con traumatismo torácico mayor y lesión aórtica asociada ha cambiado sustancialmente en la última década gracias a la expansión de técnicas de imagen de alta resolución como la tomografía computerizada multidetector, a la expansión de las técnicas endovasculares para el tratamiento de las lesiones aórticas, y a la institución del tratamiento quirúrgico diferido tras la estabilización de otras lesiones traumáticas no aórticas. Sin embargo, un diagnóstico precoz con estratificación del riesgo de complicación aórtica, junto con un control óptimo de la presión arterial y de la contractilidad cardiaca mediante betabloqueantes, siguen siendo la piedra angular del manejo de este subgrupo crítico de pacientes con traumatismo torácico mayor. Por otra parte, la optimización de los recursos diagnósticos y la instauración de un manejo específico no sólo son fundamentales para prevenir complicaciones cardiovasculares en pacientes con alto riesgo de lesión aórtica, si no también para evitar el sobreuso de los recursos hospitalarios con costes económicos y exposición a radiaciones ionizantes innecesarios en los pacientes politraumatizados con bajo riesgo de lesión aórtica. Un paciente joven politraumatizado estándar que recibe más de dos pruebas de imagen de alta resolución con exposición a radiación ionizante incurre en un incremento del riesgo acumulado de desarrollar algún tipo de neoplasia durante su vida.

• Objetivos

Esta tesis consta de dos estudios clínicos diferentes desarrollados para cumplir dos objetivos independientes: I-Describir la epidemiología y definir el perfil clínico característico del paciente con traumatismo torácico mayor cerrado con lesión traumática de aorta con respecto al resto de pacientes con traumatismos mayores cerrados de tórax sin lesión aórtica asociada en nuestro área comunitaria, es decir, en Galicia; II-Desarrollar y posteriormente validar un sistema de puntuación para determinar la probabilidad de que un paciente con traumatismo torácico cerrado mayor presente una lesión traumática aórtica asociada. Dicho sistema de puntuación se ha denominado *TRaumatic Aortic INjury Score (TRAINS*).

Metodología

Para efectos del estudio y de acuerdo a la literatura internacional, se ha definido paciente con traumatismo torácico mayor como aquel paciente con traumatismo torácico que presenta una puntuación *Injury Severity Score* mayor de 15 puntos en el momento de admisión hospitalaria. Asimismo, se ha empleado la clasificación de severidad de la lesión traumática aórtica en cuatro grados (I a IV) admitida internacionalmente.

Para alcanzar el primer objetivo (I- Epidemiología de la lesión traumática aórtica en Galicia) se desarrolló un estudio descriptivo retrospectivo que englobó a todos los pacientes con traumatismo torácico cerrado mayor admitidos en un hospital público en Galicia desde el año 2006 al año 2010, esto es 1,760 pacientes consecutivos, seguido de un análisis bivariable comparativo de las distintas características epidemiológicas y clínicas entre aquellos pacientes con lesión traumática de aorta asociada (44 pacientes) y el resto de pacientes con traumatismo torácico cerrado mayor sin lesión aórtica (1,716 pacientes).

En la consecución del segundo objetivo (II- escala predictiva de riesgo de lesión traumática aórtica), el desarrollo del método predictivo del riesgo de lesión traumática de aorta en los pacientes con traumatismo torácico cerrado mayor se realizó a su vez en dos fases. En la primera fase, se elaboró un método predictivo para la clasificación de los pacientes traumatizados en función de su probabilidad de presentar una lesión traumática de aorta, mientras que en la segunda fase se efectuó una validación tanto interna como externa del método predictivo de riesgo obtenido en la primera fase.

En el desarrollo de la investigación para lograr el segundo objetivo (método predictivo y validación), la población global incluida fue de 640 pacientes con traumatismo torácico cerrado mayor divididos en dos muestras: una muestra empleada exclusivamente en el desarrollo de la escala de riesgo, que englobó únicamente pacientes procedentes del *Complejo Hospitalario Universitario de A Coruña* (76 pacientes con traumatismo torácico cerrado mayor con lesión traumática de aorta y 304 sin lesión aórtica asociada); y una muestra totalmente independiente de validación externa proporcionada por otras 3 instituciones diferentes (*Complejo Hospitalario Universitario de Santiago de Compostela*, y *Hospital Clínic Universitari de Valencia*), que incorporó 260 enfermos (52 pacientes con traumatismo torácico cerrado mayor con lesión traumática de aorta y 208 sin lesión aórtica asociada).

En la primera fase de elaboración del método predictivo se efectuó un análisis bivariable de las características clínicas y de la radiología simple de tórax para identificar variables potencialmente influyentes en la probabilidad de presentar una lesión traumática de aorta. Las variables identificadas como predictores potenciales de la presencia de lesión traumática de aorta en pacientes con traumatismo torácico cerrado mayor se introdujeron en un modelo de regresión logística binaria condicional hacia delante para confirmar las variables verdaderamente predictivas. Dichas variables confirmadas por el análisis de regresión logística binaria recibieron una puntuación de 1 a 4 puntos de acuerdo a su coeficiente beta, el cual se redondeó al número entero más próximo.

El área bajo la curva de Característica Operativa del Receptor (COR) se utilizó para medir el "poder de discriminación" de la prueba o grado en que el modelo distingue entre individuos en los que ocurre el evento y los que no.

El test de Hosmer-Lemeshow se empleó para evaluar la bondad de ajuste del modelo de regresión logística y medir la "calibración" o grado en que la probabilidad predicha coincide con la observada.

En la segunda fase, o fase de validación del método predictivo, se efectuó una doble validación de la técnica. En primer lugar, se empleó la técnica simple de *Bootstrap*, que proporciona estimaciones del error estadístico, para realizar una validación interna mediante la obtención de 1,000 sub-muestras distintas de los 380 pacientes de la muestra de elaboración de la escala predictiva. Se analizaron los coeficientes de regresión y los errores estándar obtenidos en las 1,000 sub-muestras. A continuación, se llevó a cabo un procedimiento de validación externa empleando los 260 pacientes de la muestra de validación procedente de los otros tres centros independientes.

Resultados

El análisis bivariable identificó 18 variables como predictores potenciales de la presencia de lesión traumática de aorta en pacientes con traumatismo torácico cerrado mayor. Sin embargo, el análisis de regresión logística binaria confirmó únicamente siete de esas variables como factores de riesgo para la presencia de lesión traumática de aorta, las cuales recibieron una puntuación de 1 a 4 puntos de acuerdo a su coeficiente beta proporcionado por el análisis de regresión: ensanchamiento mediastínico en radiografía de tórax, 4 puntos; hipotensión <90 mmHg, 2 puntos; fractura de huesos largos, 2 puntos; contusión pulmonar, 1 punto; fractura de escápula izquierda, 1 punto; hemotórax, 1 punto; y fractura pélvica, 1 punto. De esta forma, la escala *TRAINS* resultante podría presentar una puntuación entera entre 0 y 12 puntos. El área bajo la curva COR obtenida con el método *TRAINS* fue de 0.96 (0.95-0.98). El test de Hosmer-Lemeshow no fue estadísticamente significativo (Valor Chi cuadrado= 13.14, *P*=0.10), lo que indicó una excelente calibración del método predictivo.

Se escogió un valor de corte de la escala \geq 4 puntos para considerar positiva la prueba y maximizar tanto la sensibilidad como la especificidad. Dicho valor de corte proporcionó unos valores de sensibilidad del 93.42% (87.19%-99.65%) y especificidad del 85.85% (81.77%-89.94%). El índice de Youden para una puntuación \geq 4 puntos fue de 0.79 (0.72-0.86), mientras que la razón de verosimilitud positiva fue de 6.60 (4.98-8.77) y la razón de verosimilitud negativa de 0.08 (0.03-0.18).

La técnica de *Bootstrap* simple obtuvo 1,000 submuestras. Cuando se compararon los coeficientes de regresión obtenidos con el modelo final y los coeficientes de regresión obtenidos con las submuestras se observó que eran similares.

Los coeficientes de regresión del modelo final se encontraron dentro de los intervalos de confianza del 95% del *Bootstrap*, probándose así la validez interna del método.

En la muestra de validación externa se obtuvo un nuevo área bajo la curva COR de 0.93 (0.89-0.98), que no difirió estadísticamente de la obtenida con la muestra original, indicando que la prueba mantiene un buen poder de discriminación. Asimismo, en la muestra de validación la prueba Hosmer-Lemeshow mostró también una excelente calibración de la escala predictiva. Finalmente, la escala predictiva *TRAINS* reveló una eficacia en la muestra de validación similar a la obtenida en la muestra original con valores de sensibilidad del 92.31% (86.1%-100%) y especificidad del 85.1% (80.02%-90.18%). El índice de Youden para una puntuación \geq 4 puntos fue de 0.77 (0.69-0.86), mientras que la razón de verosimilitud positiva fue de 6.19 (4.43-8.65) y la razón de verosimilitud negativa de 0.09 (0.04-0.23).

Conclusiones

El análisis de la epidemiología de las lesiones traumáticas de aorta en Galicia mostró que la proporción de lesiones traumáticas de aorta entre los pacientes con traumatismo torácico cerrado mayor en nuestro hospital y en Galicia entre los años 2006 y 2010 fue del 4.4% y del 2.5%, respectivamente. De forma similar, la proporción anual de lesiones traumáticas de aorta entre los pacientes con traumatismo torácico cerrado mayor osciló en dichos años entre el 1.1% y el 3.3% anual en Galicia, mientras que en nuestra institución dicha proporción se situó entre el 2.5% y el 7.8% anual. Tras realizar un cálculo estimativo del número de pacientes con traumatismo torácico cerrado mayor y lesión traumática de aorta que fallecen en el lugar de accidente o durante su trasporte a un centro sanitario utilizando las referencias de las que disponemos en la literatura

actual, se pudo inferir que la incidencia real de lesión traumática de aorta en Galicia se halla entre 3 y 6.1 casos por 100,000 habitantes y año.

Nuestra investigación confirmó que los pacientes con traumatismo torácico cerrado mayor presentan diferente perfil epidemiológico, pronóstico, presentación clínica inicial y número y distribución de lesiones no aórticas asociadas con respecto a los pacientes con traumatismo torácico cerrado mayor sin lesión aórtica en Galicia. Mientras la edad de los pacientes con traumatismo torácico cerrado mayor sin lesión aórtica presenta una distribución homogénea, la edad de los pacientes con lesión aórtica asociada se concentra entre los 16 y 35 años, hallándose el 54.6% de los pacientes con lesión aórtica en dicha franja de edad. Por otra parte, aunque hemos confirmado que el accidente de tráfico es la causa más frecuente de lesión traumática de aorta en traumatismo torácico cerrado en Galicia, hemos encontrado una proporción mayor de accidentes de motocicleta, precipitaciones y aplastamientos, así como una menor proporción de atropellos, como causa de la lesión aórtica con respecto a las cifras publicadas por otros autores.

En nuestro área comunitaria, hemos hallado que la proporción de lesiones aórticas "atípicas o no istmícas" (43.2%) es significativamente mayor que el 7% a 15% reportados en otras series clínicas, destacando también una proporción inusualmente mayor de lesiones traumáticas de arco aórtico (25%). Los pacientes con traumatismo torácico cerrado mayor y lesión aórtica han presentado inestabilidad hemodinámica en el momento de la admisión hospitalaria más frecuentemente que los pacientes con traumatismo torácico cerrado mayor sin lesión aórtica, así como una mayor proporción de lesiones extra-torácicas asociadas, lo que explica el peor pronóstico de este subgrupo crítico de pacientes con traumatismo torácico cerrado mayor.

En la segunda parte de la investigación se desarrolló un modelo predictivo multivariable para la lesión traumática de aorta en el contexto del traumatismo torácico cerrado mayor, que asocia una sensibilidad superior al 93% y una especificidad mayor al 85%. El pequeño número de pacientes con lesión traumática de aorta que fueron diagnosticados como falsos negativos (1.8%) presentaban lesiones aórticas de bajo grado. Por otra parte, la escala predictiva *TRAINS* demostró también su capacidad para diagnosticar lesiones traumáticas de aorta en traumatismos torácicos cerrados mayores en una muestra externa actual multicéntrica con una sensibilidad mayor del 92% y una especificidad superior al 85%, confirmando así su aplicabilidad en el momento actual y en diferentes regiones geográficas.

Asimismo, se demostró que las escalas generales de severidad convencionales para traumatismos no presentan una relación estadísticamente significativa entre la severidad del traumatismo y la severidad de la lesión traumática aórtica. En consecuencia, las escalas de severidad convencionales para traumatismos no son útiles para orientar un diagnóstico de sospecha de lesión traumática aórtica. Por el contrario, la puntuación obtenida en la escala *TRAINS* está relacionada con la severidad de la lesión aórtica, incluso en las lesiones aórticas de bajo grado.

En conclusión, la escala *TRAINS* y el algoritmo de manejo asociado han sido diseñados para su uso en la práctica clínica diaria con el fin de identificar de forma rápida y fácil los pacientes con traumatismo torácico cerrado mayor en riesgo de presentar una lesión aórtica asociada, lo que permite reducir la exposición a radiación ionizante y eliminar costes innecesarios en aquellos pacientes de bajo riesgo. Por otra parte, la escala *TRAINS* permite orientar un diagnóstico de sospecha incluso en pacientes con lesiones aórticas de bajo grado, los cuales requieren un seguimiento radiológico estricto para determinar su evolución y si requieren o no algún Mosquera V.X.

procedimiento adicional. El algoritmo *TRAINS* es además útil en la planificación del empleo de recursos en las unidades de trauma, permitiendo a los clínicos de hospitales primarios y secundarios derivar a los pacientes de alto riesgo de lesión aórtica a unidades especializadas, lo que aceleraría el diagnóstico y el establecimiento de un manejo terapéutico específico de este subgrupo crítico de pacientes traumatizados y reduciría la aparición de complicaciones aórticas potencialmente letales.
1. INTRODUCTION

In 1557, Belgian anatomist Andreas Vesalius described the first known case of aortic disruption caused by trauma. He discovered this injury while performing an autopsy on a patient who had fallen from a horse ¹. Nonetheless, it was not until the beginning of the twentieth century when acute traumatic aortic injuries (ATAIs) became more relevant to the medical community. In the era of high-speed transportation, patterns of traumatic aortic injury changed, with aortic injury becoming frequently noted in victims of airplane crashes during World War I².

Kuhn et al. ³ published 75 autopsy reports with ATAIs between 1895 and 1925. The lesions in all of these cases were confirmed by post-mortem examination. Between 1936 and 1942, in a series of more than 7,000 autopsies, Strassman et al. ⁴ found only 51 cases with ATAIs secondary to vehicular collision. In the early fifties the first series of surgical repair of traumatic aortic pseudoaneurysms were published by Goyette et al. ⁵, Jay et al. ⁶, Ware et al. ⁷, and Gerbode et al. ⁸, which drew more attention to this rising topic. However, it was not until 1958 when Loren Parmley, a pathologist in the US Army, described the clinical and pathological aspects of 296 patients with aortic disruptions caused by blunt trauma and defined the natural history of the injury ². This study, which still remains the largest pathological series to date, emphasized the relationship between the time of trauma and subsequent death, underlining the high lethality of untreated lesions.

Notwithstanding, within the past decade, along with advancements in technology, significant changes in the diagnosis and management of ATAIs have occurred. The widespread use of computed tomography for the diagnosis of ATAIs ⁹⁻¹¹,

clinical management with aggressive blood pressure control for patients who reach the hospital alive ¹²⁻¹⁴, the shift towards a more frequent use of endovascular techniques to repair this type of injuries ¹⁵, and the institution of surgical treatment in a delayed fashion after the stabilization of associated critical injuries ¹⁶ have changed the way ATAIs are managed.

The advent of new technologies for the diagnosis and treatment of ATAIs along with the availability at our institution of multidetector computed tomography (MDCT) for emergent patients since 2006, and the incorporation of emergent aortic endografting since 2003, prompted our team to review our early and long-term outcomes in managing major blunt trauma patients with ATAIs. This line of investigation resulted in several international publications about the non-operative treatment of ATAIs and about the special management of specific types of ATAIs that require special considerations. During the course of our research, we discovered that ATAIs, which are among the most lethal types of cardiovascular catastrophes, are rarely suspected in the initial evaluation of major trauma patients, and that the optimization of diagnostic resources and specific types of management were mandatory in these patients. Thus, we realized that an improvement in our clinical results depended on an earlier diagnosis and medical stabilization of major traumas with potential ATAIs and, eventually, the development of new strategies and algorithms for managing this critical subset of trauma patients. Hence, we devised this project in order to develop a simple and fast predictive score for ATAIs in major trauma patients and an associated algorithm that would potentially enable optimization of the use of clinical and diagnostic resources to provide and early and accurate diagnoses of patients at high risk of ATAIs. Furthermore, the use of such strategies would eventually reduce admission costs and nephrotoxic contrast and radiation exposure in low-risk trauma patients.

Mosquera V.X.

2. STATE OF THE ART IN ACUTE TRAUMATIC AORTIC INJURIES

2.1. Epidemiology

Nowadays, motor vehicle collisions (MVC) account for the majority of all cases of blunt trauma resulting in substantial injury to the thorax, followed by motorcycle crashes (MCC), falls from a height, auto vs. pedestrian (AVP), and crush injuries. The proportion of ATAIs among blunt trauma patients has increased along with the number of high-speed vehicle crashes.

Blunt aortic injury is the second most common cause of death following blunt trauma. Smith et al. ¹⁷ reported 387 cases of blunt trauma death and found that aortic injury was second only to head injury as the cause of death. More recently, in a multicentre study that enrolled 26,030 blunt trauma patients, Clancy et al. ¹⁸ identified 59 ATAIs that accounted for less than 1% of the admissions but were the second leading cause of death in blunt trauma.

From 1936 through to 1942, Strassman documented only 51 (0.73%) cases of ATAI resulting from motor vehicle crashes from among 7,000 autopsied victims ⁴. As we have previously mentioned, in 1958, Parmley et al. ² described an autopsy series of 296 victims of ATAI, which still remains the largest pathological series to date. Parmley et al. found that the highest rate of mortality occurred immediately after these injuries happened, that approximately 15% of aortas ruptured 6 hours after injury, and that approximately 25% ruptured 24 hours after the injuries were sustained ².

Two decades later, studies by Greendyke et al. ¹⁹ and Sutorius et al. ²⁰ found ATAI following fatal crashes in 10-15% of the victims. More recently, Dosios et al. ²¹ published a review of 1,980 autopsies of injury-related deaths and found 251 ATAIs (217 blunt and 34 penetrating traumas). Among the 217 ATAIs from blunt trauma, 62.9% occurred in traffic accidents (car and motorcycle crashes). Teixeira et al. ²² conducted a review of 304 full autopsies of blunt trauma fatalities and reported 102 (34%) ATAIs. The most frequent mechanism of blunt trauma with an associated ATAI was MVC (53/102; 52%), followed by AVP (38/102; 37.3%), MCC (7/102; 6.9%), and falls (3/102; 2.9%). Furthermore, the incidence of ATAIs among overall MVC fatal victims was 35.1% (53/151).

Despite improvements in the pre-hospital care system, a significant proportion of patients with ATAI do not reach the hospital alive and die at the scene or during transportation to the trauma centre ^{2, 21-24}. In clinical series, the majority of ATAIs also results from a sudden deceleration in MVCs. In both prospective multicentre studies of ATAIs conducted by the *American Association for the Surgery of Trauma*, AAST₁ and AAST₂ ^{15, 25}, MVCs were responsible for 81% of the 274 and 67.7% of the 193 ATAIs reported, respectively. More recently, Arthurs et al. ²⁶ conducted a study using the *US National Trauma Data Bank* from 2000 to 2005. During the study period, 3,114 patients with ATAIs were identified among 1.1 million trauma admissions (0.3%): 113 (4%) were dead on arrival, and 599 (19%) died during triage ²⁶.

In addition to morbidity and mortality, another important variable related to the societal cost of injury is years of productive life lost (YPLL). This parameter reflects the potential productivity lost due to premature death. Trauma-related deaths result in a greater YPLL compared to cancer and cardiovascular deaths. For each traumatic death there are, on average, 36 YPLL, compared with 16 for cancer and 12 for cardiovascular

Acute traumatic aortic injuries

diseases ²⁷. In the aforementioned study by Arthurs et al. ²⁶, it was found that ATAIs resulted in poor function in those who survived to discharge. In fact, the investigators found that ATAI patients were less likely to be fully independent in terms of feeding (72% vs. 82%, P < 0.05), locomotion (33% vs. 55%, P < 0.05), and personal expression (80% vs. 88%, P < 0.05) compared to trauma patients without aortic injuries ²⁶.

The most recent data provided by the *Community Road Accident Database* (CARE) of the European Commission (data available at http://ec.europa.eu/transport/home/care/index_en.html) revealed that there were more than 34,600 fatal victims in traffic accidents in the European Union in 2009. The 8% occurred in Spain. In order to perform international comparisons, it is generally accepted that a fatality from a traffic accident, also termed road death, is that occurring as a result of the accident from the time of the collision up to 30 days after it.





Mosquera V.X.

(*) Data provided by the *Community Road Accident Database* (CARE) and *Eurostat* (Statistical Office of the European Communities).

Although there has been a decreasing trend in the number of motor-vehicles accidents during the last decade in Spain, traffic accidents still remain as the first cause of death in population between 15-34 years olds. During the year 2009, there were 88,251 traffic accidents in Spain with victims, meaning that at least one person died or was injured in each of these. In these accidents, the total number of fatal victims due to motor-vehicle accidents (including cars, trucks, motorbikes and bicycles) was 2,714, considering also 470 people killed in pedestrian-vehicle accidents. The total number of injured casualties was 124,966, among which there were 13,923 severely injured casualties, defined as those who required more than 24 hours of hospital admission. At the end of the year 2009, the overall population in Spain was 47,021,031 million people (data provided by the *Instituto Nacional de Estadística* up to 01/01/2010, *Real Decreto 1612/2010*).

	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008
(1) Data provided by DGT	5.776	5.517	5.347	5.399	4.741	4.442	4.104	3.823	3.100
(2) Data provided by INE	6.098	5.744	5.496	5.514	4.888	4.522	4.144	3.811	3.030

 Table 1. Evolution of the total number of road deaths (motor-vehicle and pedestrian-vehicle victims) in Spain from 2000 to 2008.

- (1) Database provided by Dirección General de Tráfico (DGT). Data obtained by law agents. A fatality from a traffic accident is considered as a death up to 30 days after the accident (www.dgt.es/portal/es/seguridad_vial/estadistica/publicaciones/princip_cifras_siniestral.do).
- (2) Database provided by *Instituto Nacional de Estadística (INE)* considering deaths according to the cause of death. There is no time limit between the traffic accident and death (www.ine.es).

In 2009, road deaths were more common in victims between 25 and 34 years old, with a total number of 572 motor-vehicle accident casualties, followed by 490 victims between 35 and 44 years old.



Figure 2. Distribution of fatal casualties by age and sex per million population in Spain in 2009.

The higher rate of road deaths per million population occurred in the group of victims aged 15 to 24 years old in 2009.

In 2009, 470 pedestrians died in motor vehicle-pedestrian accidents, comprising 17.3% of the total road deaths registered in Spain that year.

Year	Dead pedestrians	Percentage of dead pedestrians over overall road deaths			
2000	898	15.5%			
2001	846	15.3%			
2002	776	14.5%			
2003	787	14.6%			
2004	683	14.4%			
2005	680	15.3%			
2006	613	14.9%			
2007	591	15.5%			
2008	502	16.2%			
2009	470	17.3%			

Table 2. Number of pedestrians who died in pedestrian-vehicle collisions and number

 of pedestrians killed as a percentage of the overall road deaths in Spain.

Regarding the different Spanish regions, the total number of fatal casualties in motor-vehicle accidents decreased. As we can see in Table 3, the total number of road deaths in Galicia in 2009 was 246 victims in motor-vehicle and pedestrian-vehicle accidents. Our region, Galicia, experienced a decrease of 45% in the total number of road deaths compared to the numbers in 2003 and 2009. At the end of the year 2009, the overall population in Galicia was 2,797,653 million people (data provided by the *Instituto Nacional de Estadística* up to 01/01/2010 *Real Decreto 1612/2010*).

Total number of fatal	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2009/ 2008	2009/ 2003	
Andalucía	859	830	759	737	650	522	449	-14%	-48%	
Aragón	276	224	214	181	179	153	122	-20%	-56%	
Principado de Asturias	148	108	105	93	75	59	57	-3%	-61%	
Illes Balears	140	137	131	117	120	82	56	-32%	-60%	
Canarias	178	165	157	119	123	85	72	-15%	-60%	
Cantabria	55	43	32	48	39	25	30	20%	-45%	
Castilla-La Mancha	401	299	354	342	288	234	195	-17%	-51%	
Castilla y León	518	469	440	419	385	318	270	-15%	-48%	
Cataluña	769	674	647	569	523	450	417	-7%	-46%	
Extremadura	157	176	118	126	127	107	95	-11%	-39%	
Galicia	450	366	355	360	331	266	246	-8%	-45%	
Madrid	358	300	274	269	281	201	194	-3%	-46%	Γ
Región de Murcia	173	168	166	140	133	93	88	-5%	-49%	
Comunidad Foral de Navarra	83	83	83	50	42	48	39	-19%	-53%	
La Rioja	60	69	51	41	51	30	34	13%	-43%	
Comunidad Valenciana	538	471	441	378	385	323	263	-19%	-51%	
País Vasco	234	156	110	110	90	102	83	-19%	-65%	
Ceuta y Melilla	2	3	5	5	L	2	4	100%	100%	
Total	5.399	4.741	4.442	4.104	3.823	3.100	2.714	-12%	-50%	

Table 3. Distribution of road deaths by Spanish regions between 2000 and 2009.

Unfortunately, exact data about the total number of ATAIs diagnosed and/or treated yearly in Spain are not available, neither from clinical series nor autopsy series. Also, no information is available regarding in-hospital admissions and/or mortality due to falls or occupational accidents in Spain. Therefore, we used the data on ATAI incidence reported in clinical and autopsy series from other countries. Thus, according to the data given and assuming a proportion of 20-30% of ATAIs among road deaths, up to 900 of the 3,100 fatal victims in 2009 in Spain may have sustained an ATAI, and may potentially have benefited from an early diagnosis of the aortic injury. On the other hand, we should also consider the fact that among these potential 900 fatal victims the death rate at the scene of the accident, as reported in the literature, ranged from 45% ²⁴ to 83% ^{21,22}, and that the death rate during transportation was around 11.5-12% ^{21,24}. In

contrast, the 13,923 severely injured patients admitted to hospitals during the same year are clearly our target population because these trauma patients should have undergone an easy and low-cost screening test for ATAIs; thus, patients at high risk of suffering an ATAI would potentially have benefited from an early diagnosis of aortic injury, while avoiding unnecessary costs among those patients at a low-risk of ATAI trauma.

BRIEF SUMMARY

Motor vehicle accidents account for the majority of all cases of ATAIs, followed by falls from a height, auto vs. pedestrian and crush injuries. Blunt aortic injury is the second most common cause of death following blunt trauma. The highest rate of mortality occurs immediately after the trauma and can reach 25% in the first 24 hours after the aortic injury is sustained. In addition to morbidity and mortality, ATAIs entail an important societal cost in years of productive life lost and poor functional outcomes and dependence of the patients.

2.2. Natural history and prognosis of ATAIs.

The natural history of an ATAI in a given patient is dependent on many factors, where an early diagnosis is of paramount importance. Nowadays, survival rates are based on data drawn from autopsy series and operative series.

The classic series reported by Parmley et al. in 1958 documented a death rate at the scene of as high as 85% and a subsequent mortality rate in non-operated survivors of 1% per hour for the first 48 hours². Most of these aortic injuries represented fullthickness tears that resulted in rapid exsanguination before definitive therapeutic intervention². Furthermore, the early work of Parmley et al.² suggested that of the patients who survived long enough to reach medical care, death would have occurred within 48 hours for 39% and within 4 months for 89%². Nonetheless, a minority of aortic injuries are incomplete or contained, and 13-23% of patients may survive to presentation at the trauma centre ¹⁷. If left untreated, such injuries may progress to complete rupture or they may lead to a pseudoaneurysm with the potential for late rupture. It has since been discovered that the rate of acute mortality can be 40% to 70% and that patients admitted with ATAI fall into two broad categories ^{28, 29}. A small number, approximately 5%, are haemodynamically unstable or deteriorate within 6 hours of admission. All-cause mortality in this group invariably exceeds 90%. The remainder are haemodynamically stable and afford time for workup and the staging of any intervention. Mortalities in this latter group, for which the rate is as low as 25%, are rarely from free rupture if blood pressure is controlled; they are more commonly from a consequence of associated injuries. Recently published autopsy series reported a death rate at the scene of the accident from 45% 24 to 83% $^{21, 22}$, and a death rate during transportation of around 11.5-12%^{21, 24}. In fact, in a series of 242 autopsies, Burkhart et al. ²⁴ reported that 3% of patients died during the first 30 minutes after hospital admission; 34% between 30 minutes and 4 hours; 4% between 4 and 8 hours, and less than 2% of the patients survived more than 8 hours after hospital admission. Karmy-Jones et al. ³⁰ noted that there were three broad categories of patients who sustained an ATAI. The largest group (70% to 80%) comprised those who died at the scene. Victims of the second category were unstable when they presented to the hospital or became unstable shortly after, and only represented 2% to 5% of patients with an ATAI. The final group (20% to 25%) remained haemodynamically stable from the aortic injury, and any mortality was secondary to associated injuries.

Another factor to consider is that autopsy studies tend to overestimate the mortality rates, while operative studies tend to underestimate it. In the most recent surgical series mortality rates ranged from 0 to 50% and varied depending on the size of the series, although the rates of attributable-mortality were not clearly defined ^{15, 26, 31-35}. In a previously cited review of 3,114 ATAIs identified among more than 1.1 million trauma patients from the *US National Trauma Data Bank*, Arthurs et al. ²⁶ evaluated initial physiological variables, associated injuries, and the type of aortic repair as potential factors associated with deaths in patients with ATAI. Factors that predicted a worse outcome included: increasing age, hypotension on admission, hypothermia upon admission, major head injury (Abbreviated Injury Score (AIS) >3), major abdominal injury (AIS >3) and Injury Severity Score (ISS) >25. Other variables such as admission GCS, base deficit, delayed aortic repair (>72 hours), laparotomy, major pelvic injury and year of admission did not significantly influence the outcome ²⁶.

Variable	Adjusted	95% confidence interval	al <i>p</i> -value	
	odds			
	ratio			
Age (per year)	1.04	1.03-1.05	< 0.05	
Hypotension (SBP <90 mmHg)	5.02	3.65-7.34	< 0.05	
and hypothermia (T <35 °C)				
Major head injury (AIS ≥3)	1.50	1.00-2.23	< 0.05	
Major abdominal injury (AIS \geq 3)	1.77	1.19-2.65	< 0.05	
Injury severity score >25	2.17	1.28-3.66	< 0.05	
Aortic repair	0.36	0.24-0.54	< 0.05	

Table 4. Logistic regression analysis of physiological factors, associated injury patterns and aortic repair as potential factors associated with mortality in patients with ATAI from Arthurs et al. ²⁶. (AIS=abbreviated injury score; SBP=systolic blood pressure).

The authors found that aortic repair was the only variable associated with improved survival (OR = 0.36; 95% CI: 0.24-0.54, P < 0.05) when controlling for physiological presentation and associated injuries ²⁶.

We recently published the largest series with the longest follow-up of nonoperatively managed ATAIs to date and reported a long-term survival of non-operative managed ATAI patients of 75.6% at 1 year, 72.3% at 5 years and 66.7% at 10 years 36 .

BRIEF SUMMARY

Major blunt trauma patients with ATAIs can be classified into three broad categories. The largest group (70% to 80%) comprises those who died at the scene. Most of those aortic injuries represent full-thickness tears that result in rapid exsanguination. The second category includes the 2%-5% of patients with an ATAI who are unstable when they reach the hospital or become unstable shortly after. The overall mortality rate in this second group exceeds 90%. The final group, involving 20% to 25% of patients, remains haemodynamically stable from the ATAI and present an overall in-hospital mortality rate of around 25%, mainly secondary to associated injuries.

2.3. Mechanisms of injury

There is considerable uncertainty regarding the actual mechanism of injury in aortic blunt trauma. The process is likely the result of both anatomical and mechanical factors. The majority of ATAIs result from violent deceleration, most commonly as a result of an MVC, especially head-on and side-impact collisions. Some of the earliest investigators proposed that ATAIs had a relatively simple univariate aetiology, such as a sudden and dramatic rise in arterial blood pressure ^{37, 38}, while more contemporary theories propose that ATAIs are the result of a complex multivariate process secondary to a combination of stresses ^{39, 40}

The mechanisms currently being proposed as contributing to ATAIs include shearing forces, rapid deceleration, hydrostatic forces and the osseous pinch ⁴¹⁻⁴³.

2.3.1. Stretching and shearing forces

The first investigator to propose a fundamental mechanism for ATAI was possibly Rindfleisch ⁴⁴, who suggested that this injury was caused by a sudden stretching of the aorta. Other investigators also attributed rupture to a stretching response ⁴⁵. The rationale for this was the common belief that the aorta is inherently weaker at the isthmus, as established through a series of tensile tests conducted on aortic samples by Lundewall ⁴⁶. Furthermore, several investigators emphasized the importance of the descending aorta fixed to the spine by the mediastinal pleura relative to the more mobile arch and ascending aorta as an important contributory factor ^{45, 47, 48}.

Parmley et al.² pointed out the fact that the most common cause of traumatic aortic

Mosquera V.X.

injuries is the force generated by rapid deceleration of the body in either the vertical or horizontal plane. Indeed, deceleration sets up differential forces between the various organs and tissues of the body depending on their structure, location and attachments, and the direction of deceleration 2 . Rapid deceleration in the anteroposterior and lateral directions has been shown to be sufficient to result in cardiac displacement, producing torsion and shearing forces against the aorta at levels of relative immobility, mainly the ligamentum arteriosum, aortic root, and diaphragm²⁴. The "whiplash" mechanism that occurs in anteroposterior deceleration thoracic trauma was first described by Zehnder et al.⁴⁹. With abrupt deceleration of the thorax, such as that which occurs in high-speed vehicular accidents where the body is violently thrown against a stationary object, the ligamentum arteriosum, supra-aortic vessels and intercostal arteries anchor the middle arch and mid-distal descending aorta to the thorax. These portions decelerate with the thorax, whereas the distal end of the aortic arch and the upper descending thoracic aorta continue to move forward and decelerate later. Thus, ATAIs tend to occur at the interface between parts with different mobility. Nevertheless, anteroposterior deceleration is only responsible for the aortic stretching and the resulting shear forces. Lateral compression can also result in severe internal chest deformation and shearing forces at the aortic isthmus ^{50, 51}.

Katyal et al. ⁵⁰ conducted a study to determine the relationship between ATAIs and the direction of impact at the time of a motor vehicle crash in a series of 97 patients, and concluded that in 49.5% of the cases the ATAI was the result of a lateral impact crash. In this series, 94% of the ATAIs occurred at the peri-isthmic region ⁵⁰.

The sum of the tensile vectors is complex. The results of tensile tests conducted on samples of aorta have shown that it is capable of sustaining strains of up to 80% of its original dimension prior to rupture ^{52, 53}. Consequently, if the isthmus section of the Mosquera V.X.

aorta ruptures under tension, it is rationalised that the stretching of the aorta must be very localised in order for it to be stretched to the required strain of rupture within the confines of the thoracic cage.

A direct force that results in fracture or displacement of one of the dorsolumbar vertebrae may also cause rupture of the aorta by shearing action.

In addition, the deceleration mechanism of aortic injury after blunt thoracic trauma has never adequately explained other unusual sites of aortic wall injury ⁵⁴.

2.3.2. Intravascular pressure

In the first half of the twentieth century, ATAI was also attributed to a sudden rise in blood pressure ^{37, 38, 55}. However, more recent studies have cast doubt on this hypothesis, rationalizing that if the aorta were an isotropic cylindrical vessel under pressure it would rupture longitudinally rather than transversely. The typically observed transverse tears in the aorta could only occur if the transverse strength was more than twice the longitudinal strength. Tensile tests performed by Mohan et al. ^{52, 53} showed that the ultimate tensile strength of the aorta in the transverse direction relative to the longitudinal direction nearly approximates the required rupture ratio of 2:1. Mohan et al. ^{52, 53} demonstrated this point in bi-axial inflation tests conducted on aortic tissue samples. In these tests, the aorta samples consistently failed transversely.

Some investigators conducted studies to establish the burst pressure of the aorta. Oppenheim et al. ³⁷ stated that the aorta bursts under a pressure of around 4.0×10^5 N m⁻², whereas Klotz et al. ³⁸ found that inflating the aorta up to a pressure of 4.0×10^5 N m⁻² did not produce a single rupture. However, the results by Klotz et al. may have been Mosquera V.X. jeopardized because their analyses were conducted on aortic samples at post-mortem, so the vessels may have suffered a change in their mechanical properties that was significant enough to influence their results.

As part of the *Crash Injury Research Engineering Network* (CIREN), Siegel et al. ⁵⁶ developed a computer simulation and validation of the Archimedes Lever hypothesis as a mechanism for aortic isthmus injury in lateral MVCs. According to this hypothesis, the intrathoracic aorta would suffer a great increase in intravascular pressure following a lateral impact causing it to behave as a rigid lever system. The long arm of the lever would be the proximal aorta and the short arm the isthmus, fixed distally at the descending aorta. The left subclavian artery would act as the fulcrum so impact forces would be magnified at the isthmus by an Archimedes effect.

2.3.3. Water-hammer effect

Zehnder ^{49, 57-59} calculated that an intravascular pressure of around 2,500 mmHg would be required to rupture the aorta. Increased intravascular pressure can exceed 2,000 mmHg following direct compression of the aorta, and this was termed the "waterhammer effect" ⁶⁰. Lundewall ⁴⁶ was the first author to suggest that ATAI was the result of a "water-hammer effect".

A "water-hammer effect" results when the flow of a non-compressible fluid is dramatically occluded, which leads to high-pressure waves being reflected back along the vessel wall. During a vehicle impact it is thought that the aorta may be occluded at the point where it passes through the diaphragm as a result of the abdomen being compressed. The pressures created by this mechanism have been shown to result in

Mosquera V.X.

mainly transverse tears at the level of the isthmus ⁴⁶, but it can also cause retrograde injury at the aortic root ⁴³. Kivity et al. studied the action of this hydrostatic response of the aorta ⁶¹. These investigations found that a sudden occlusion of blood flow in the aorta would lead to a significant pulse of pressure in the aorta. This would be expected to be significantly greater at the aortic arch on account of the curvature reflecting and intensifying the pressure wave. However, these analytical studies were unable to take into account the additional deformation of the aorta during an impact where increasing the curvature of the aorta could possibly lead to greater increases in the pressure wave in this region. More recently, Pearson et al. ⁶² performed a series of experimental tests and concluded that a pressure spike alone is unlikely to be the primary cause of aortic injury, but it may well be a prerequisite for such an injury.

2.3.4. Osseous pinch

Penetrating injuries from rib and thoracic vertebral body fractures can also cause a direct injury of the thoracic aorta ^{63, 64}. The mechanism called the "osseous pinch" results from direct compression of the aorta between the anterior chest wall and the thoracic spine ^{41, 42}. An animal model study by Crass et al. ⁴¹ showed that anteroposterior compression of the chest consistently results in transverse lacerations to the aortic isthmus when compressed between the anterior bony structure and the thoracic spine. The compressive forces present in blunt thoracic trauma depress the anterior thoracic osseous structures, causing them to rotate posteriorly and inferiorly about the posterior rib articulations. However, the specific anterior bony structure that causes vascular injury may vary. This mechanism could also explain concomitant injuries at branch vessels ^{41, 42}. Cohen et al. reported calculations made from the cross-

Mosquera V.X.

sectional anatomy shown on CT scans and provided the first in vivo support for the "osseous pinch" mechanism of traumatic aortic injury ⁴².

2.3.5. Multivariate complex models

More contemporary theories propose that ATAIs results from a combination of mechanisms including shear, torsion and stretching forces, compounded by hydrostatic forces ^{39, 62, 65}.

An alternative mechanism in MVC, called the "shovelling effect", involves the compression force of the steering wheel on the sternum and abdomen, causing the mediastinum to displace upwards. As the chest is compressed, the heart is squeezed between the sternum and the spine forcing blood from the heart into the aorta and increasing the blood pressure of the aorta and pulmonary trunk. Moreover, at the level where the aorta passes through the diaphragm, the aorta may be kinked, occluding the blood flow and contributing to the rise in aortic blood pressure. This sudden occlusion of the blood flow can lead to high pressure waves in the aorta due to the aforementioned "water-hammer" effect.

The "shovelling effect" displaces the heart and aortic arch upwards while the descending aorta, which is tethered to the spine via the lungs, remains fixed. The isthmus region of the descending aorta, which is at the junction between the fixed descending and upwards displaced aortic arch, is placed under a torsional and tensile load; being inherently weaker than the rest of the vessel, the aorta then tears at the isthmus.



Figure 3. The "Shovelling effect". The "shovelling effect" has been proposed as being one of the more complex mechanisms of ATAIs in car accidents, in which the asymmetrical impact of the steering wheel on the chest displaces the heart and aortic arch upwards while the descending aorta remains fixed.

Gotzen et al. ⁶⁶ proposed that the direction of the impact to the chest and the resulting deformation of the thorax significantly affect the type of mechanisms that contribute to aortic rupture. These authors analysed cases of aortic rupture and proposed that impact to the chest from the right ventro-caudal to the left dorso-caudal predominated. They surmised that this type of impact would force the heart and aortic arch upwards posteriorly and to the left, leading to stretching and shearing of the aorta

at the isthmus. Gotzen et al. ⁶⁶ also found that ATAI at the isthmus was not as common if the impact was directed from the left ventro-caudal to the right dorso-caudal.

Richens et al. ³⁹ developed a finite element model of the aorta to investigate the mechanical initiators of ATAI. The authors suggested that susceptibility to ATAI may be dependent on the position within the cardiac cycle, the position within the pulmonary cycle, and the volume loading of the vasculature ³⁹. Likewise, Kivity et al. ⁶¹ surmised that ATAI is more likely to occur at the start of diastole when the aorta is full of blood and in its maximum state of pressurization. In addition, the state of the lungs could potentially provide additional cushioning or, conversely, a greater loading of the aorta during impact to the chest.



Figure 4. Mechanisms of injury resulting in ATAIs. The osseous pinch (orange arrows) is shown by posterior displacement of the sternum and by compression of the aorta against the thoracic spine. Torsion is depicted in the ascending aorta (curved blue

arrows), resulting in twisting above the fixed aortic valve. Compression of the lumen forces blood inferiorly towards the aortic valve, resulting in the "water hammer effect" (green arrows in the aortic root). At the ligamentum arteriosum, the aorta is affected by both bending (dark red arrows) and shearing (yellow arrow) stresses.

2.3.6. Additional factors in the pathogenesis of ATAI

It has been speculated that under a specific set of conditions certain groups of the population may be more susceptible to ATAI than others. The elastic lamina of the aorta can become frayed or destroyed in various diseases such as advanced atherosclerosis, connective tissue disorders or syphilitic aortitis, and such changes can render it more susceptible to traumatic laceration. The amount of the amorphous intercellular substance in the intima and media increases in atherosclerosis and accumulations of this material, often with focal pooling and vacuolization, characterize the lesions of idiopathic cystic medial necrosis of the aorta. Hence, it would appear that an abnormal accumulation of the amorphous intercellular substance must be considered when evaluating the effect of trauma on the aorta. These could contribute to the initiation of injury if present within an individual but, as discussed by Shkrum et al.⁴⁷, they are not a pre-condition for the occurrence of ATAI. A more common factor is the detrimental effect of age on the mechanical properties of the aorta through arteriosclerosis, reducing the ultimate tensile strength and strain of the vessel ⁵². Again, although this could contribute to the onset of injury, there is no evidence to suggest that it is a pre-condition of injury as this injury has been shown to occur in significant numbers in all age ranges.

BRIEF SUMMARY

Contemporary theories propose that ATAI is a complex multivariate process secondary to a combination of stresses, including shearing forces, rapid deceleration, hydrostatic forces and the osseous pinch.

Rapid deceleration in the anteroposterior and lateral directions is the most common mechanism of aortic wall injury, producing torsion and shearing forces against the aorta at levels of relative immobility, mainly affecting the ligamentum arteriosum, aortic root and diaphragm. The direction of impact to the chest and the resulting deformation of the thorax significantly affect the type of mechanism that contributes to aortic rupture. Other influencing variables are the position within the cardiac cycle, the position within the pulmonary cycle, and the volume loading of the vasculature at the time of impact.

Finally, there is likely to be a specific set of conditions that potentially contribute to the onset of aortic injury, such as advanced age, arteriosclerosis or connective tissue disorders.

2.4. Pathology of ATAI

2.4.1. Morphology of ATAI

The various forms of ATAI, from limited lacerations of the intima to complete transection of the aorta, depend on the morphological structure of the arterial wall and the strength of the forces causing the trauma. Acute traumatic aortic injuries typically involve a transverse tear in the wall of the aorta, with all the three layers of the vessel wall being disrupted ^{2, 21-24}. The extent of the damage varies considerably between cases. In mild trauma, the injury may only be a partial circumferential tear in the intima that may extend into the medial layer of the aortic wall⁴⁵. Partial disruptions and spiral injuries occur less frequently and are associated with intramural haematomas and focal dissections, unlike complete transections². Partial tears are usually posterior and involve the vessel intima and media, leaving the adventitia intact. Under such circumstances the intact adventitia may be strong enough to contain the circulation within the aorta and the individual stands a chance of survival ^{48, 67}. In more severe cases the tear can also extend into the adventitial layer, leading to a partial or complete transection of the aorta. Initial survivors usually have an incomplete transection, with disruption of the media and intima only, although some patients have survived circumferential, full-thickness disruptions. Following a complete transection, blood exanguinates into the mediastinum and pleural cavity and the victim usually dies 2 . Nonetheless, there are reports in the published literature about patients suffering a complete transection of the aorta but managing to survive for an adequate period to allow medical intervention ^{2, 68}.

Arterial blood pressure can force blood between the layers of the aortic wall,

forming a pseudoaneurysm. In the case of chronic pseudoaneurysms, blood flows into the false aneurysm, which later thromboses and forms a fibrous wall that then tends to calcify ⁶⁹⁻⁷¹. Post-traumatic aneurysms have been known to fistulize to the pulmonary artery or bronchus ⁷²⁻⁷⁴ or cause dyspnoea compressing the left main bronchus ⁷⁵.

2.4.2. Anatomic location of ATAI

In contrast to the anatomical extent of the aorta, ATAIs are limited to only a few specific locations along its length. Most injuries occur at the aortic isthmus, just distal to the left subclavian artery, followed by, in order of decreasing frequency, the ascending aorta, aortic arch, distal descending aorta and abdominal aorta. Clinical series have shown that injuries occur at the isthmus in 54.7% to 74.5% of cases, the ascending aorta in 1% to 3.6% of cases, the arch in 5.7% to 18% of cases, the distal descending aorta in 2% to 21.8% of cases, and simultaneously at multiple locations in 2% to 5% of cases ^{15, 25, 32, 76-78}.

Non-isthmus or "atypical" aortic injuries are remarkably more frequent in autopsy studies than in clinical practice. Originally, Parmley et al. presented a series of 171 autopsies with ATAIs located at the isthmus in 55.6% of cases, the descending aorta in 15.8%, the ascending aorta in 9.9% and the abdominal aorta in $6.4\%^2$. These authors also reported multiple aortic injuries in 2.9% of the victims ². A more recent autopsy series reported an incidence of traumatic aortic injuries at the isthmus in 44% to 66% of the victims, in the ascending aorta in 5% to 12.6%, in the arch in 2% to 11%, in the descending aorta in 0.9% to 12%, in the abdominal aorta in 0.9% to 6%, and simultaneously in multiple locations in 16% to 32% as shown in Table 5.

Author	Year	No.	Ascending	Arch	Isthmus	Descending	Abdominal	Multiple
		victims	aorta (%)	(%)	(%)	aorta (%)	aorta (%)	sites (%)
Parmley ²	1958	275	64 (23.3%)	22 (8%)	124	35 (12.7%)	13 (4.7%)	17 (6.2%)
					(45.1%)			
Feczko ²³	1990	142	11 (8%)	3 (2%)	76 (54)%	17 (12%)	9 (6%)	26 (18%)
Dosios ²¹ †	2000	217 †	21.6%†	8.3%†	59.4%†	31.3%†	NS	NS
Burkhart	2001	241	19 (8%)	7 (3%)	140 (58%)	24 (10%)	13 (5%)	29 (16%)
24								
Prijon ⁷⁹	2009	230	29 (12.6%)	5 (2.2%)	102	2 (0.9%)	2 (0.9%)	74 (32%)
					(44.3%)			
Teixeira ²²	2011	102	5 (5%)	11 (11%)	67 (66%)	††	NS	18 (18%)

Table 5. Location of traumatic aortic injuries in the autopsy series. †The sum of percentages in each row may exceed 100 as a result of multiple aortic injuries being recorded in several victims. Absolute numbers are not specified in the study by Dosios et al. ²¹.

††Teixeira et al.²² reported isthmus and descending aorta injuries altogether (NS: not specified).

Multiple aortic injuries appear to be more common in autopsy series than in clinical series $^{21-24}$. Multiple intramural and/or transmural aortic injuries can occur up to 32% of cases, in which the dominant rupture is the leading rupture with several secondary concomitant ruptures at a distance of 5-25 mm $^{2, 22-24, 79}$.

After showing that injuries to the aortic isthmus were less frequent in autopsy studies than in clinical studies, several authors suggested that non-isthmus or "atypical" injuries of the aorta are more lethal ²¹⁻²⁴. The rationale behind this may be that a greater number of patients with injuries occurring at the isthmus survive longer, owing to the protective effect that may be provided by the mediastinal periadventitial tissues surrounding the isthmus. Besides this, both relevant clinical and autopsy series seem to concur with the very poor prognosis of traumatic ascending aorta and aortic arch

injuries.

2.4.3. Classification of ATAI

A review of the literature revealed that different terms are used to describe particular forms of ATAI, which can lead to the misinterpretation of findings or diagnoses. Several classifications have been proposed based on imaging, surgical or autopsy findings.

Originally, Parmley et al.² classified traumatic aortic injuries according to the extent of the involvement of the aortic wall, as follows:

- **Type 1. Intimal haemorrhage.** Areas of intimal haemorrhage, occasionally described in association with fatal lesions.
- **Type 2. Intimal haemorrhage with lacerations.** This lesion differs in that the endothelial surface of the aorta is broken and the collagenous and elastic fibres of the subendothelial layer of the intima are more severely disrupted and separated by haemorrhaging.
- **Type 3. Medial lacerations.** These lacerations extending into, but not through, the tunica media. They can appear in association with other aortic lesions, but sometimes they are alone.
- Type 4. Complete laceration of the aorta. This is a complete rupture of the aorta, including the adventitia and the attached connective tissue.
- Type 5. False aneurysm formation. This includes all cases of aneurysmal bulging of the aortic wall followed complete laceration of the intima and media, and also cases where a false aneurysm formed after the rupture of all three layers. In cases where circumferential laceration of the intima and media was

complete, a fusiform aneurysm developed, whereas in cases where only a portion of the wall was lacerated a saccular aneurysm formed.

• **Type 6. Periaortic haemorrhage.** This injury often accompanies complete rupture or other traumatic lesions of the aorta, but it occasionally occurs independently.

In 1995, Vignon et al. ⁸⁰ defined four distinct types of traumatic aortic injury, combining the anatomical classification of Parmley et al. ² and their results from the review of the TEE findings in 32 consecutive major trauma patients with ATAI:

- **Traumatic aortic intimal tears**. In these lesions, the integrity of the aortic medial and adventitial layers is preserved (type 2 lesion in the classification of Parmley et al.²). Subadventitial traumatic aortic disruptions involve the entire aortic intimal and medial layers. In these lesions, the threat of adventitial rupture causing a massive haemorrhage is constantly present.
- **Partial aortic disruption**. These injuries appear as a limited discontinuity of both intimal and medial layers. They can be associated with or without pseudoaneurysm formation.
- Subtotal aortic disruption. These lesions involve more than two thirds of the circumference of the aortic wall. A narrow band of aortic wall, usually found in the posterior aspect of the aorta, secures the disrupted aortic segments a few centimetres apart.
- Complete aortic disruption. These lesions involve the entire circumference of the aorta. Usually, in both subtotal and complete subadventitial aortic disruptions, medial flaps are observed. The presence of a subadventitial

horizontal disruption is associated with a circular pattern of the medial flap, whereas the medial flap is linear in cases of subtotal lacerations.

More recently, Prijon et al. developed a morphological classification after reviewing 230 autopsies with 355 ATAIs ⁷⁹. This classification includes three basic types with corresponding subtypes:

• Type I (intramural) ruptures:

- IA: rupture of the tunica intima.
- **IB**: rupture of the tunica intima and the inner layer of the tunica media.
- IC: rupture of the intima and media to the adventitia.
- **ID**: post-traumatic false aneurysm or pseudoaneurysm.
- Type II (transmural) ruptures:
 - IIA: partial transmural rupture (small degree of transmural rupture).
 - **IIB**: total transmural rupture or transection (transmural rupture through the entire circumference of the aorta).
 - IIC: rupture of post-traumatic false aneurysm or pseudoaneurysm.

• Type III (multiple) ruptures:

- IIIA: multiple type I ruptures.
- **IIIB**: multiple type I and type II ruptures.
- **IIIC**: multiple type II ruptures.

The classification proposed by Prijon et al. ⁷⁹ is useful for precisely defining ATAIs in autopsy studies, but it presents several shortcomings for use on a daily clinical basis.

Another classification system for ATAIs was proposed by Azizzadeh et al.^{33, 81} in 2009 using imaging data. This classification is based on injury severity, namely, grade I (intimal tear), grade II (intramural haematoma), grade III (pseudoaneurysm) or grade IV (rupture)^{33, 81}. Figure 5 shows the different grades of ATAI severity according to this classification.



Figure 5. Classification of traumatic aortic injuries proposed by Azizzadeh et al. ³³.

Current *Clinical Practice Guidelines of the Society for Vascular Surgery for endovascular repair of traumatic thoracic aortic injury*⁸¹ use this classification to determine whether an aortic injury should be conservatively managed (grades I-II) or whether surgical or endovascular repair is required (grades III-IV).

BRIEF SUMMARY

There are various forms of ATAIs, from limited lacerations of the intima to a complete transection of the aorta. Partial circumferential tears are typical of mild trauma, occur less frequently and are associated with intramural haematomas and focal dissections. In severe cases the tear usually extends into the adventitial layer, leading to a partial or complete transection of the aorta; the latter is associated with a high mortality rate. In contained aortic ruptures, a chronic pseudoaneurysm may develop and cause late symptoms due to the compression of near structures or to rupture.

Several classifications have been proposed based on imaging, surgical and autopsy findings. Most injuries occur at the aortic isthmus, just distal to the left subclavian artery, followed by, in order of decreasing frequency, the ascending aorta, the aortic arch, the distal descending aorta and the abdominal aorta. Non-isthmus aortic injuries and multiple aortic injuries are more frequent in autopsy studies than in clinical practice, suggesting that both situations involve a worse prognosis than isolated ATAIs at the isthmus.

2.5. Clinical signs and symptoms

The presentation of ATAIs may be subtle in some patients. An ATAI manifests in the form of specific signs or symptoms in fewer than 50% of cases ^{17, 82, 83}, whereas the remaining patients have no clinical signs of aortic injury until the sudden onset of haemodynamic instability ⁶⁰. Patients may develop dyspnoea, back pain or differential blood pressure in the lower extremities compared to the upper extremities ⁸⁴⁻⁸⁶.

Sturm et al.⁸⁵ compared the clinical signs and symptoms of 50 major trauma patients with associated ATAIs with 50 major trauma patients without aortic injury. Each patient's chart was evaluated for chest pain, respiratory distress, thoracic back pain, hypotension, hypertension or a decreased femoral pulse. None of the symptoms or signs reached statistical significance between the groups, indicating that the diagnosis of ATAI cannot be accurately predicted or excluded on the basis of patients' presenting with particular complaints or physical findings⁸⁵.

However, a risk assessment for aortic injury can be performed on the basis of the presence of certain clinical variables. Blackmore et al. ⁸⁷ found that seven criteria were predictors of ATAI: age older than 50 years, being unrestrained, hypotension with a systolic blood pressure of less than 90 mm Hg, thoracic injury, abdominopelvic injury requiring emergent laparotomy or fractures of the lumbar spine and pelvis, long bone fractures and major head injury. It was found that patients who met more of these criteria had a greater chance of having an ATAI and that those who met four criteria or more had a 30% chance of sustaining an ATAI ⁸⁷. In a more recent re-evaluation ⁸⁸ of these clinical predictors, Kirkham et al. reported that only four factors (abdominopelvic injury, thoracic injury, hypotension and being unrestrained) were predictive. These authors concluded that the clinical prediction rule had not been able to stratify the

patients into a clinically useful range of injury probabilities, and thus that the prediction rule could not be used to improve the efficiency of the existing detection algorithm ⁸⁸.

Finding a presternal contusion upon physical examination is strongly suggestive of an ATAI, but this has only been noted in 12% to 43% of trauma patients sustaining an ATAI ^{85, 89}. A precordial or interscapular systolic murmur (in 14% of patients) or a decrease in the femoral pulse (4%) are also reasonably specific for the presence of an ATAI, but both are too rare to be of significant value ^{85, 89}. Symbas et al. ⁹⁰ described the equally rare acute post-traumatic coarctation syndrome, in which blood pressure and pulse amplitude are increased in the upper extremities in addition to a decreased femoral pulse.

BRIEF SUMMARY

An ATAI presents in the form of specific signs or symptoms in fewer than 50% of cases, whereas the remaining patients have no clinical signs of aortic injury until the sudden onset of haemodynamic instability.

A presternal contusion may be found on physical examination, along with a precordial or interscapular systolic murmur or a decrease in the femoral pulse. Post-traumatic coarctation syndrome consists of an increase in blood pressure and pulse amplitude in the upper extremities, in addition to a decreased femoral pulse.

2.6. Radiographic diagnosis of ATAI

2.6.1. Chest X-ray

In the acute trauma setting a supine chest X-ray (CXR) is mandatory. The CXR may be abnormal in major trauma patients with associated ATAIs, but these abnormalities can vary. The predominant rationale for obtaining a CXR in the acute trauma setting is to determine whether or not there are immediate life-threatening lesions that require immediate treatment (massive hemothorax or tension pneumothorax). However, it may also provide information regarding a suspected ATAI. The main goal of the initial chest radiograph is to look for a mediastinal haematoma, and thus a major vascular injury. While a mediastinal width (MW) of greater than 8 cm and/or 25% of the width of the thorax is the most frequent observation, it is not necessarily the most sensitive finding ^{25, 91-93}. A retrospective study conducted by Wong et al. ⁹⁴ concluded that both a left mediastinal width (LMW) of 6 cm or more and a mediastinal width ratio (MWR) of 0.60 or more are better radiographic criteria than an MW of 8 cm or more for predicting an ATAI. The authors recommended that major trauma patients with positive test results based on the combined LMW and MWR criteria should proceed immediately to aortography or computed tomography ⁹⁴. More discriminatory findings include any abnormality of the transverse aortic arch or a loss of the aortopulmonary window ^{95, 96}.



Figure 6. Findings of ATAI on admission CXR I. Supine anteroposterior CXR following MVC shows widening of the mediastinum (arrow).

In 1990, Woodring ⁹⁷ published a review of 52 articles including 656 patients with ATAI or traumatic injury of the brachiocephalic arteries; 92.7% of the patients had an abnormal mediastinum on the initial chest radiographs obtained in the emergency department, thus enabling the early detection of vascular injury. However, 7.3% of these patients had a normal mediastinum on their initial chest radiographs. The author surmised that this situation occurs when the traumatic pseudoaneurysm is not accompanied by associated mediastinal haemorrhaging or haematoma formation, and where the pseudoaneurysm is either small or is situated in such a way that it does not alter the mediastinal contours. Therefore, the use of accessory clinical and radiographic signs to indicate the need for aortography would have enabled the early detection of an additional 5.6% of the reported cases ⁹⁷. Evidence in the literature suggests that the

Mosquera V.X.
evaluation of serial chest radiographs taken at frequent intervals during the first month following trauma to check for the development of mediastinal abnormalities or a large haemothorax is an acceptable alternative to the routine performance of aortography in blunt chest trauma victims with no clinical or radiographic suspicions of vascular injury. Thus, in the setting of a rapid deceleration force or high clinical suspicion of ATAIs, further investigations are warranted regardless of the findings of chest radiographs²⁵.

Given that disruption of the aorta requires high-force trauma, other injuries are often present, such as lung (pulmonary contusion), pleura (hemothorax and pneumothorax), diaphragm and thoracic skeletal injuries. Although it has been generally accepted that the presence of thoracic skeletal injuries has a predictive value for the diagnosis of ATAIs, Lee et al. ⁹⁸ reviewed the initial chest radiographs of 548 patients who had undergone aortography for a suspected ATAI for thoracic skeletal injuries and found that rib fracture was the only thoracic skeletal injury with an incidence significantly higher in patients with ATAI (58.1%) than in those without an ATAI (42.6%) (P = 0.02). However, the authors found that the positive predictive value of rib fractures in evaluating ATAIs was 14.8%, and 57.4% the specificity. Therefore, the authors concluded that there was no clinically relevant correlation between thoracic skeletal injuries and ATAIs ⁹⁸.

Kram et al. ⁹³ reported the following as radiographic indicators for aortography: a paratracheal stripe greater than 5 mm, rightward deviation of the nasogastric tube or central venous pressure line, blurring of the aortic knob and an abnormal or absent paraspinous stripe. The authors found that upper rib fractures and mediastinal to thoracic cage width ratios at any level did not increase the diagnostic accuracy of thoracic aortic rupture.



Figure 7. Findings of ATAI on admission CXR II. While width of the mediastinum is difficult to evaluate, the supine anteroposterior CXR following MCC shows blurring of the aortic knob (arrow) and left apical cap.

Other signs of ATAIs on CXR include rightward tracheal, oesophageal, and/or nasogastric tube deviation; left mainstem bronchus depression; and a left apical cap ^{96, 97, 99}

In 2001, Cook et al. ¹⁰⁰ reviewed the CXR of 188 consecutive major trauma patients with suspected ATAIs and only confirmed 10 aortic injuries by aortography. The authors reported the presence or absence of 15 radiographic findings and determined the sensitivity and specificity of individual radiographic signs and combinations of signs; the chest radiograph findings for ATAIs in this study are summarized in Table 6 ¹⁰⁰.

CHEST RADIOGRAPH SIGNS†

- 1. Widened mediastinum (>8.0 cm)
- 2. Mediastinum-to-chest width ratio greater than 0.25
- 3. Rightward deviation of the tracheal
- 4. Blurring of the aortic contour
- 5. Loss of the aortic knob
- 6. Left apical pleural cap
- 7. Depression of the left mainstem bronchus
- 8. Opacification of the aortopulmonary window
- 9. Rightward deviation of the nasogastric tube
- 10. Wide paraspinal lines
- 11. First rib fracture
- 12. Other rib fractures
- 13. Clavicle fracture
- 14. Pulmonary contusion
- 15. Thoracic spine fracture

Table 6. Chest radiograph findings associated with ATAIs.

†Data from Cook et al. ¹⁰⁰.

Regardless, the greater the degree of manifestation of blunt force trauma, the higher the suspicion should be for ATAI. An abnormal (even minimally so) supine anteroposterior radiograph after trauma should always be accompanied by further imaging.

It should also be emphasized that the most important observation is a clear visualization of the aortic arch, not the absence of mediastinal widening, as a discriminatory feature.

On the other hand, although combining the most sensitive CXR signs may improve sensitivity up to 90% in certain series, there is a simultaneous decrease in specificity (even <50%) which fails to provide a sufficient negative predictive value ^{60,} ¹⁰⁰. In addition, it has been reported in the literature that up to 30% of patients with ATAIs may not present mediastinal abnormalities ⁹⁷. The vast majority of major trauma patients had a CXR taken in the supine position using portable imaging equipment. Thus, in a significant number of cases, the interpretation of CXR findings in major trauma patients may be difficult due to the poorer technical quality of supine radiographs taken using portable equipment ^{92, 100}.

2.6.2. Computed tomography scan

The use of computed tomography (CT) for the diagnosis of traumatic aortic and major arterial branch vessel injury has evolved significantly over the last three decades. In the early 1980s, reports began to appear describing this CT application and some early series indicated that this method was highly accurate for diagnosing or excluding this potentially fatal injury ^{95, 101-103}. The first CT findings of an injured aorta were a false aneurysm, linear lucency within the opacified aortic lumen caused by the torn edge of the aortic wall, marginal irregularity of the opacified aortic lumen, periaortic or intramural aortic haematoma and dissection ¹⁰¹. However, not all studies indicated a high level of reliability for CT ¹⁰⁴, and some authors even posed a word of caution about the use of CT for screening ATAIs in blunt trauma ¹⁰⁵. In 1994, Durham et al. ¹⁰⁴ reported a combined sensitivity of CT for detecting ATAIs in 155 major trauma patients of 88%; the specificity was 54%; the positive predictive value was 9% and the negative predictive value 99%.

As CT technology advanced, first with the introduction of helical CT and later with multidetector CT (MDCT), the quality of images obtained in the axial plane, multiplanar reformations and surface contour and volume rendering techniques improved in parallel ^{10, 11, 60, 106, 107}. Computed tomography scanning has superseded aortography as the diagnostic modality of choice, with sensitivity and negative predictive values approaching 100% ^{10, 11, 60, 106-108}. In addition to a superb diagnostic accuracy, other advantages of CT include widespread availability, speed and reasonable costs. Unlike other diagnostic modalities, CT has the unique ability to readily identify associated injuries by scanning the brain, facial bones, neck, chest, abdomen and pelvis in the same diagnostic setting.

When the presence of mediastinal haematomas alone is included as a diagnostic criterion, the number of false-positive findings is high and therefore this should not be used as a criterion for definitive injury, whereas if only direct signs are used the specificity raises to nearly 100% to the detriment of sensitivity ^{12, 109, 110}.

Computed tomography identifies direct signs of aortic injury such as contrast extravasation, intimal flaps, pseudoaneurysm formation, abnormal aortic contours, sudden changes in aortic calibre ("pseudocoarctation") and filling defects, such as a mural thrombus. The active extravasation of contrast material in practice is exceedingly rare as it often portends impending exsanguination.



Figure 8. Findings of ATAI in MDCT (I). A 70-year-old male after an MVC presented critical hypoperfusion in the lower body and lack of pulses in both legs. Notice the important periaortic haematoma (asterisk) and the "target-like" injury of the aorta (arrow) at the level of the aortic isthmus, which led to the diagnosis of a "pseudocoarctation syndrome".

The indirect signs of ATAI include periaortic and mediastinal haematomas ^{109, 111}. As has been mentioned in previous chapters, the most frequent location of an ATAI is the isthmus and the severity of injury at this level can range from minimal intimal injury to a frank rupture with active extravasation. On axial images, these isthmus injuries are most commonly observed along the medial curvature of the arch at the level of the left pulmonary artery and left mainstem bronchus and should be the first location the radiologist looks at when encountering a large mediastinal haematoma.

The most common indirect sign of an ATAI is periaortic haemorrhaging in direct communication with the aorta. When a fat plane is visible between a mediastinal haematoma and the aorta there may be venous mediastinal bleeding or bleeding from aortic side branches ^{10, 60, 107, 112}. A mediastinal haematoma may also be caused by fracture of the sternum or a vertebral body, in which case a fat plane is also usually seen between the haematoma and the aorta. A mediastinal haemorrhage that is isolated in the anterior or posterior mediastinum and is not in direct contact with the aorta is seldom associated with a major arterial injury ^{10, 113, 114}. In cases of isolated mediastinal haematomas, other possible sources of bleeding should be considered before directing patients to thoracic aortography ¹¹⁴.

Periaortic haematomas can be tracked down to the level of the diaphragm, potentially creating retrocrural haematomas. In patients who have undergone abdominal multidetector CT alone, the presence of a retrocrural haematoma or a small calibre aorta may be an indication of thoracic aortic injury ¹⁰. Wong et al. ¹¹⁵ reported a periaortic haematoma near the diaphragm being a sign of ATAI with a sensitivity of 70%; a specificity of 94%; a positive predictive value of 74%, and a negative predictive value of 92%. The positive likelihood ratio for the presence of aortic injury was 10.8 and the negative likelihood ratio was 0.3. The authors concluded that a periaortic haematoma near the diaphragmatic crura is an insensitive but relatively specific sign of aortic injury after blunt trauma. In the presence of a periaortic haematoma without direct signs of major vessel injury, as would be seen in a technically adequate study, whether or not follow-up scans should be performed within 48-72 h is still under debate ^{10, 60}.

In 2008, Demetriades et al. ⁷⁸ published a comparison of the two multicentre prospective studies undertaken by the *American Association for the Surgery of Trauma* in 1997 (AAST₁) and 2007 (AAST₂), and reported a major shift in the diagnosis of aortic injury, with the widespread use of CT scanning and the almost complete elimination of aortography and TEE.

2.6.2.1. CT scan: multidetector computed tomography

The advent of MDCT has revolutionized the diagnostic modality for the initial evaluation of blunt thoracic trauma. Imaging protocols for MDCT evaluation of the thoracic aorta vary considerably depending on the technical specifications of the device (e.g. the number of detector rows, the availability of electrocardiographic gating, etc.)^{60,} ¹⁰⁷. In general, the axial reconstruction thickness should be between 1 and 3 mm, with 4×2.5 mm collimation on 4-row scanners, 16×1.25 mm (or 1.5mm) on 16-row scanners, 64×0.5 mm on 64-row scanners and 128×0.6 mm on the most recent 128-row scanners

Steenburg et al. reported that MDCT has a sensitivity of 96.0%; a specificity of 99.8%; a positive predictive value of 92.3%; a negative predictive value of 99.9%, and an accuracy of 99.8% in ATAI diagnosis ¹¹. Besides this, difficult cases can be approached via the interactive manipulation and interpretation of the dataset in order to generate multiplanar reconstructions (MPR) in various obliquities of the coronal and sagittal plane for optimal display of vascular injuries and morphology and location with respect to adjacent vascular structures, such as the left subclavian artery (LSA)^{60, 107}.



Figure 9. Findings of ATAI in MDCT (II). Focal aortic dissection (arrow) and periaortic haematoma (asterisk) at the level of the aortic isthmus in MDCT images (A, axial slice and B, coronal reconstruction).

In spite of the fact that direct and indirect findings of ATAI are usually identifiable in axial images, the determination of some complex issues such as the exact morphology and extent of vascular injury may require coronal and sagittal images. Oblique reconstructions resembling the images obtained in conventional angiography, as well as sagittal, coronal and MPRs, should be generated on a 3D Workstation whenever findings are equivocal on axial datasets, necessitating axial reconstructions with one-third (3×2) to one-half (2×1) overlap in scanners of up to 16 detector rows. Due to isotropic voxel datasets in scanners with 64 detector rows or more, overlap in axial reconstructions is not an issue. Furthermore, the MPRs and three-dimensional volume-rendered images obtained from the isotropic datasets acquired by the MDCT may be extremely useful when planning surgical repair, especially endovascular repair.

The improved spatial resolution of the MDCT is currently responsible for the increasingly frequent diagnosis of minimal aortic injuries, which only affect the intima of the aortic wall ¹¹⁶. Malhotra et al. reported an incidence of minimal aortic injuries of up to 10% among 198 blunt trauma patients who were diagnosed by CT scanning and confirmed by aortography with or without intravascular ultrasound (IVUS) ¹¹⁶. The authors found that aortography was normal in nearly half of the cases in patients with minimal aortic injury, requiring a more invasive diagnosis technique as IVUS or video angiography.

Finally, MDCT has also improved the diagnosis of trauma patients with mediastinal haematoma but without direct signs of aortic injury. Using the volumetric data acquired by MDCT, a careful search for a supra-aortic vessel injury should be performed in the presence of a mediastinal haematoma when there is no direct sign of aortic injury, as well as in any case of ATAI.

2.6.2.2. CT scan: imaging pitfalls

Several anatomical variants can mimic an ATAI, including:

Aortic spindle. The aorta in the new-born is narrowed between the LSA and the ductus arteriosus. This isthmus disappears after 2 months of age due to cessation of flow through the ductus arteriosus and increased flow through the narrowed region. Although this configuration is usually no longer visible in the adult, the region is still referred to as the isthmus. Immediately beyond the ductus arteriosus the aorta presents a fusiform dilation, which His called the "aortic spindle", which is the point of junction of the two parts being marked in the concavity of the arch by an

indentation or angle. In the adult, these conditions can persist to some extent, and it has been pointed out that the average diameter of the spindle can exceed that of the isthmus by up to 3 mm¹⁰. The change in aortic diameter and the slight indentation at the transition can be mistaken for an injury. The MPR along the major axis and endoluminal images verify the integrity of the aortic wall whenever there is doubt.

- Classic ductus diverticulum. The ductus diverticulum is the term used for a focal, convex bulge along the anterior undersurface of the isthmic region of the aortic arch. It has been identified by thoracic aortography in 33% of infant patients but only in 9% of adult patients ¹¹⁷. Usually, the ductus bulge has a smooth contour forming obtuse angles with the aortic lumen without intimal flaps at the junction of the lumen and the focal bulge ¹¹⁸. In contrast, the typical pseudoaneurysm forms an irregular outpouching from the lumen, often displaying acute margins and intimal irregularity at its base ¹¹⁸.
- Atypical ductus diverticulum. Compared with the classic ductus diverticulum, the atypical ductus diverticulum has a somewhat shorter and steeper slope superiorly and a more classic gentle slope inferiorly ¹¹⁸. Nonetheless, both shoulders have smooth, uninterrupted margins, an important feature that distinguishes this variant from a true injury. The use of endoluminal views and the absence of periaortic mediastinal blood can exclude an intimal injury.
- **Ductus remnant.** A fibrotic remnant of the ductus arteriosus can persist and be observed arising from the aorta upon intravenous contrastenhanced MDCT studies. The remnant often displays linear calcification

and is thus easy to identify and distinguish from an injury.

• **Branch vessel infundibula.** Infundibula of aortic branch vessels, including the brachiocephalic artery, bronchial artery, intercostal arteries (right third most common), left common carotid artery and LSA, may simulate traumatic aortic injuries. Infundibula typically occur at the origin of these vessels from the aortic arch and they have smooth anatomical margins. This latter characteristic helps differentiate these variants from false aneurysms, which are usually irregular and have sharp, non-anatomical margins ¹¹⁸.

Breathing/pulsation/motion artefacts can also be misinterpreted as being ATAIs. It should also be noted that ATAIs can occur in the absence of a periaortic haematoma and at atypical sites of the aorta.

2.6.2.3. Risks associated to the widespread use of high-resolution CT scans: an increased source of radiation exposure

Various measures are used to describe the radiation dose delivered by CT scanning, the most relevant being absorbed dose, effective dose, and CT dose index. The absorbed dose is the energy absorbed per unit of mass and is measured in grays (Gy). One gray equals 1 joule of radiation energy absorbed per kilogram. The organ dose (or the distribution of dose in the organ) will largely determine the level of risk to that organ from the radiation. The effective dose, expressed in sieverts (Sv), is used for dose distributions that are not homogeneous (which is always the case with CT); it is designed to be proportional to a generic estimate of the overall harm to the patient caused by the radiation exposure. The effective dose allows for a rough comparison

between different CT scenarios but provides only an approximate estimate of the true risk. For risk estimation, the organ dose is the preferred measure.

The number of scans in a given study is, of course, an important factor in determining the dose. For example, Mettler et al. ¹¹⁹ reported that in virtually all patients undergoing CT of the abdomen or pelvis, more than one scan was obtained on the same day; among all patients undergoing CT, the authors reported that at least three scans were obtained in 30% of patients, more than five scans in 7%, and nine or more scans in 4%. The radiation doses to particular organs from any given CT study depend on a number of factors. The most important are the number of scans or phases, the tube current and scanning time in milliamp-seconds, the size of the patient, the axial scan range, the scan pitch (the degree of overlap between adjacent CT slices), the tube voltage in the kilovolt peaks and the specific design of the scanner being used ¹²⁰. Depending on the machine settings, the organ being studied typically receives a radiation dose in the range of 15-30 millisieverts (mSv) in an adult for a single CT scan, with an average of two to three CT scans per study. At these doses, there is a small but certain risk for radiation-induced carcinogenesis¹²¹. Indeed, many agitated patients with traumatic injury must undergo successive imaging attempts, and the use of dosimeters on patients during trauma assessment has demonstrated doses far exceeding the initial estimates ¹²².

Of particular concern with thoracic CT are cancers of the thyroid, breast, and lung, all of which are linked to radiation exposure. A typical patient with traumatic injury who undergoes irradiation at a young age incurs an increased cumulative lifetime risk of developing cancer ^{123, 124}. A radiation dose of 0.01 Gy raises the risk of breast cancer in a 35-year-old woman by about 14%. The average thoracic CT system delivers at least twice this dose ¹²⁵.

Acute traumatic aortic injuries

There is direct evidence from epidemiologic studies that the organ doses corresponding to a common CT study (two or three scans, resulting in a dose in the range of 30 to 90 mSv) result in an increased risk of cancer ^{123, 124}. In 2005 a large-scale study of 400,000 radiation workers in the nuclear industry ¹²⁶ who were exposed to an average dose of approximately 20 mSv (a typical organ dose from a single CT scan for an adult) reported a significant association between the radiation dose and mortality from cancer in this cohort (with a significant increase in the risk of cancer among workers who received doses between 5 and 150 mSv).

A 2006 report from the *National Research Council of the National Academies*¹²⁷ indicated that previous studies had underestimated the deleterious effects of diagnostic radiation. It was estimated in 2007 that up to 2% of all future cancer cases in the United States might be due to radiation from CT ^{123, 124}.

Concern about excess radiation exposure has given rise to various techniques and technologies designed to minimize radiation exposure ¹²² none of which are as effective as thoughtfully avoiding non-indicated imaging altogether.

In summary, the potentially detrimental effects of serial high-radiation tests during a long period of time must be weighed up, especially in young patients.

2.6.3. Magnetic Resonance Imaging

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) has been proven to be remarkably accurate in the detection of ATAIs ^{128, 129}. Notwithstanding its excellent imaging test properties, MRI actually has few uses in the evaluation of ATAIs because of long examination times and limited access. Conversely, some authors have reported ¹²⁸⁻¹³⁰ that MRI may have a role in follow-up when a delay in surgery is contemplated and minimal or equivocal intimal Mosquera V.X.

injuries are present, particularly as a strategy for radiation dose reduction in young trauma victims. Furthermore, considering the fact that more patients are undergoing endovascular repair for ATAIs and that these patients require lifelong imaging surveillance, MRI appears to be a valuable tool for the assessment of thoracic stent grafts ¹³¹.

In summary, its ability to provide additional functional information and the lack of ionizing radiation and nephrotoxic contrast agents may make MRI a valuable tool for monitoring patients after endovascular aortic repair ^{131, 132}.



Figure 10. MRI in ATAIs. Control MRI of a saccular post-traumatic pseudoaneurysm in a 51-year-old female 6 years after a fall. **A.** Three-dimensional reconstruction image shows the presence of a huge saccular aneurysm involving the origin of the LSA. **B**. Maximum Intensity Projection revealed compression and displacement of the LSA.

2.6.4. Aortography

Historically, aortography was the gold standard for the diagnosis of aortic injury. However, the procedure is associated with some risk and requires 60 to 70 minutes to perform ¹⁰⁴. Trauma diagnosic thoracic aortography is usually performed with the use of a 5 or 6-French pigtail catheter inserted into the aortic arch by either a femoral approach or, less commonly, a humeral approach ¹³³⁻¹³⁷. Anteroposterior and 45-degree right posterior oblique views are obtained after the administration of 40 to 70 ml of contrast medium, and additional views are acquired as needed.

The role of aortography has traditionally been to identify or exclude ATAI and, if present, determine the exact location of the injury with respect to the branch vessels and to evaluate for co-existing branch vessel injuries ^{134, 135}. The thoracic aorta must be assessed for evidence of an intraluminal flap (filling defect), extravasation of dye (pseudoaneurysm) or an abnormal contour of the aortic wall (intramural haematoma) ¹³⁶⁻¹³⁸



Figure 11. Aortography (I). Emergent aortography confirming a traumatic aortic

transection of the descending aorta (solid arrow). Notice the diagnostic 6 French pigtail catheter in the ascending aorta (dashed arrow).

The value of conventional aortography for the evaluation of ATAI is well established, with a sensitivity of nearly 100%, a specificity of more than 98% and an accuracy of more than 99% $^{60, 104, 139-141}$. Besides, false-positives and false negatives are as low as 1-2% $^{104, 141}$.

One of the disadvantages of aortography is the need for a skilled team to perform the study. On the other hand, the majority (85%-95%) of these diagnostic aortographies are negative ^{93, 134, 142}. In addition, the rates of contrast reactions, contrast-induced nephropathy, groin haematomas, aortic intimal tears from angiographic catheters and pseudoaneurysm formation are low but not negligible. Sturm et al. reported a complication rate of 1.7% when performing diagnostic aortography in blunt trauma patients ¹³⁴.



Figure 12. Aortography (II). Emergent aortography reveals a focal outpunching

(arrow) at the ligamentum arteriosum caused by a fall.

In spite of its potential complications and the better accuracy of the MDCT scan, the performance of an intraoperative aortography is mandatory prior to the deployment of a thoracic aortic endograft. Moreover, the role of aortography in the embolization and/or stenting of bleeding branch vessel associated with an ATAI is of a paramount importance ¹³⁷.

2.6.5. Intravascular ultrasound

Intravascular ultrasound (IVUS) is another useful adjunctive imaging modality that can be used to provide high-resolution cross-sectional images of the vessel wall and the surrounding tissues. The potential findings of an aortic injury during IVUS include vessel wall disruption, intimal flap, focal pseudoaneurysm, intramural and periaortic haematoma and complete transection ¹⁴³⁻¹⁴⁶.

The intact wall of the aorta has a three-layered appearance (hyperechoic inner layer, hypoechoic middle layer and hyperechoic outer layer that blends with the periaortic tissue). Any disruption in the integrity of the aortic wall is readily detected by intravascular sonography ^{145, 146}. Blurring of the layered appearance may be caused by an intramural haematoma. Floating intimal flaps are often visible moving in the aortic lumen. In aortic dissection, the pulsatile membrane is usually oriented in a concave manner towards the false lumen and the outer wall of the false lumen shows a single hyperechoic layer that blends with the hyperechoic periadventitial tissue ¹⁴⁷. A pseudoaneurysm of the aortic wall presents as a hypoechoic bulging structure beyond the limits of the aortic contours, in continuity with the aortic lumen and associated with

Acute traumatic aortic injuries

a hyperechoic flap containing the intima and media. Increased echogenicity of the surrounding tissues is suggestive of periaortic haematoma, but periaortic haematoma is not easily identified by intravascular sonography ¹⁴⁷.

Although these findings are considered to be specific for ATAI, false-positive results have been described ^{145, 146}. The advantages of IVUS mainly involve its problem-solving capabilities. It can be performed alongside conventional aortography and has been shown to be a useful complementary modality ^{143, 144}. Patel et al. published a prospective series of 14 consecutive major trauma patients with abnormal aortography findings who were undergoing a complementary IVUS study ¹⁴⁶. The authors reported 11 true positives, 2 true negatives and 1 false negative, resulting in 91.7% sensitivity and a nearly 100% specificity ¹⁴⁶.

One of the main drawbacks of IVUS is its inability to provide a complete and expeditious survey of the aorta and brachiocephalic arteries ^{143, 144}. Moreover, IVUS is an operator- and experience-dependent invasive procedure, requiring arterial puncture ^{143, 144}. Technical limitations of IVUS, such as the depth of penetration, also exist and are inherent in the size and frequency of the ultrasound transducer ¹⁴⁵. In addition, some anatomical abnormalities, such as an atypical ductus diverticulum, may be mistakenly interpreted as a sign of traumatic injury of the aorta by IVUS ¹⁴⁵, requiring further studies.

On the other hand, IVUS provides immediate and dynamic imaging of aortic pathology, which can be helpful in treating aortic pathology ¹⁴⁸. Intravascular ultrasound has been shown to reduce the need for contrast imaging during endovascular aortic repair. Some authors have surmised that the use of IVUS during endovascular aortic repair to reduce contrast load, fluoroscopy time and complications can ultimately improve patient outcomes ¹⁴⁸⁻¹⁵⁰.

2.6.6. Transesophageal echocardiography

The speed and portability of transesophageal echocardiography (TEE), combined with the ability to obtain high-resolution images of the aorta, make it an attractive diagnostic modality ¹⁵¹. In addition, TEE can be performed without interrupting ongoing measures to stabilize the trauma patient. Consequently, TEE has been routinely performed in victims of violent deceleration collisions, even in patients presenting an apparently normal mediastinum on supine chest radiography ¹⁵².

In 1997, Goarin et al.¹⁵³ published a prospective study describing the signs on TEE associated with ATAI. Twenty-eight patients with ATAI underwent TEE and were compared with a control group of 30 thoracic trauma patients without aortic injury. The TEE signs were classified as direct or indirect signs. The most frequent direct sign was thick stripes, followed, in decreasing order, by free-edge intimal flaps, fusiform aneurysms, false aneurysms, aortic dissections, aortic wall haematomas and complete aortic obstruction. The indirect signs included minor increases in aortic diameter, impairment of the aortic Doppler colour flow and an increase in the aorta-probe distance, indicating hemomediastinum¹⁵³. The authors found significant blurring of the aortic outline in 20% of cases and intraluminal artefacts in 36% of cases, but none of that signs seemed to impair an accurate diagnosis of ATAI. Transesophageal echocardiography even allowed a diagnosis of limited intimal lesions, which is frequently missed by other conventional methods ¹⁵³. It also permitted a rapid diagnosis of complete rupture, in which fast degeneration means that more time-consuming methods are not practical ¹⁵³. Several investigators reported traumatic aortic injuries in the form of thick protruding membranes and mural or medial flaps^{80, 151}.



Figure 13. TEE in ATAIs. A. Biplane TEE in the longitudinal plane of the proximal descending aorta showing a traumatic intimal flap (arrow). **B.** Biplane TEE in the axial plane of the mid-descending aorta presenting a significant periaortic hematoma (arrow).

Changes in the shape of the aorta have also been frequently detected by TEE in patients with ATAI ¹⁵³⁻¹⁵⁵. The most typical echocardiographic abnormality is a localized distortion in the circular area of the aorta due to a pseudoaneurysm. A less common but highly suggestive finding revealed by TEE is fusiform dilation, with the diameter of the disrupted portion of the thoracic aorta measuring \geq 1.5 times more than that of the uninvolved aorta.

Transesophageal echocardiography may also be useful in the quantification of traumatic hemomediastinum ^{156, 157}. Le Bret et al. described three different TEE signs of

mediastinal haematoma: an increased distance between the probe and the aortic wall, a double contour of the aortic wall, and visualization of the ultrasound signal between the aortic wall and the visceral pleura ¹⁵⁶. The authors also found that the distance between the oesophageal probe and the aortic wall was the most accurate sign because it could be easily obtained; the threshold value for this distance was 3 mm ¹⁵⁶. Furthermore, in 1998, Vignon et al. ¹⁵⁷ established that the presence of hemomediastinum may be quantitatively assessed by two measures: the distance between the oesophageal probe and the aortic wall, and the distance between the posterolateral aortic wall and the left visceral pleura at the level of the aortic isthmus. The investigators also determined a threshold value of 5.5 mm for the distance between the oesophageal probe and the anteromedial aortic wall, and 6.6 mm between the oesophageal probe and the posterolateral aortic wall and the left visceral pleura at the left visceral pleura. Those signs had a sensitivity of 80%, a specificity of 92% and a positive and negative predictive value of 86% and 89%, respectively, for the diagnosis of underlying major vascular injury ¹⁵⁷.

Vignon et al. ⁸⁰ proposed a new classification of ATAIs into four types based on TEE features and combining the anatomical classification of Parmley et al. ². The first type of ATAI in their schema is the traumatic aortic intimal tears. These are superficial lacerations of the intima that do not involve the media or adventitia and are often only detectable by TEE. On TEE imaging they appear as mobile, thin, linear echo densities that are attached to the inner surface of the aortic wall. The second type of lesion, which is the partial subadventitial aortic disruption, is in the form of deep tears in the media without extensive circumferential separation of the layers of the aortic wall. This appears as a deep break in the continuity of the aortic wall, as revealed by TEE, usually without an associated flap. The subtotal subadventitial aortic disruption is the third type of injury and is characterized by a tear that involves at least two thirds of the aortic

circumference. The aortic wall is held together by a small section of intact media and adventitia. The pathognomonic feature on TEE is a thick linear flap that traverses the lumen of the aorta obliquely or transversely in the transverse plane and vertically in longitudinal images, while usually remaining nearly perpendicular to the wall of the descending aorta. In the last type, the complete subadventitial aortic disruption, the media is completely separated from the adventitia along the entire circumference of the aorta. Its appearance on TEE is a thick circular flap lying within the aorta. This classification method has prognostic value because all of these injuries, except traumatic aortic intimal tears, require surgical management ⁸⁰.

The sensitivity of TEE for diagnosing ATAIs ranges from 57 to 100%, whereas the specificity ranges from 84 to 100% ^{80, 151, 158-160}. The reason for the great variability in the reported sensitivity and specificity values is that TEE is an operator- and experience-dependent procedure. Indeed, some authors reported a sensitivity and specificity of TEE of 57% and 91% compared with a sensitivity and specificity of aortography of 89% and 100%, respectively, within the same series ¹⁵⁹.

Besides imaging ATAIs, TEE is an invaluable tool in the evaluation of all cardiovascular abnormalities in chest trauma patients, such as myocardial contusion, pericardial effusion, valvular abnormalities and hypovolemia. Transesophageal echocardiography may be especially useful for providing a safe and rapid method for examining mediastinal structures and evaluating the hemodynamic status of intubated major trauma patients, as reported by Catoire et al. ¹⁶¹. The authors found that a TEE systematic evaluation of major trauma patients revealed up to a 70% of cardiovascular diagnoses ¹⁶¹. Likewise, Karalis et al. carried out a prospective study to provide a complete echocardiographic assessment of cardiac structure and function ¹⁵⁸. The investigators used echocardiography to diagnose a myocardial contusion in 30% of

patients, and severe right ventricular dysfunction as the cause of hypotension in 1.9% of cases ¹⁵⁸. In 1998, García-Fernández et al. ¹⁶² published a multicentre trial designed to evaluate the usefulness of TEE for detecting cardiac damage after blunt chest trauma and to compare the findings of TEE with those provided by the electrocardiogram and cardiac isoenzymes assay. Relative to pathological TEE findings, the sensitivity and specificity of an abnormal electrocardiogram were 59% and 73%, respectively, whereas a high CK-MB with CK-MB/CK > 5% presented a sensitivity and specificity of 64% and 52%, respectively. The authors concluded that TEE can be routinely used to diagnose cardiac injuries, whereas electrocardiogram and isoenzyme assays are not good methods for detecting cardiac damage after a blunt chest trauma ¹⁶².

One of the main drawbacks of TEE is its inability to consistently image the distal ascending aorta and aortic arch branches, which can be injured by severe blunt chest trauma. Ahrar et al. ¹³⁵ conducted a retrospective study of 89 cases of ATAI documented by angiography that showed injuries in the distal ascending aorta and aortic branches that would not have been detected by TEE in 20% of the patients. Other authors ¹⁵⁴ similarly pointed out the limitations of TEE for the diagnosis of traumatic injuries to aortic branches.

In conclusion, TEE has a role in major trauma patients as an intermediate screening test for ATAIs, especially in intubated and/or haemodynamically unstable patients, before proceeding to aortography or CT scanning, as well as being the main test for assessing the presence of concomitant cardiac injuries.

BRIEF SUMMARY

In the acute trauma setting, the supine chest X-ray (CXR) is of paramount importance. An abnormal supine anteroposterior CXR in trauma should always be evaluated with further imaging. A mediastinal widening greater than 8 cm and/or 25% of the width of the thorax is the most frequent observation, whereas both a left mediastinal width \geq 6 cm and a mediastinal width ratio \geq 0.60 present a higher sensitivity. Other signs of ATAI on CXR include any abnormality of the transverse aortic arch; loss of the aortopulmonary window; rightwards tracheal, esophageal and/or nasogastric tube deviation; left mainstem bronchus depression, and a left apical cap.

Nowadays, multidetector CT (MDCT) has superseded aortography as the diagnostic modality of choice, with sensitivity and negative predictive values approaching 100%. Other advantages of CT include its widespread availability, speed, reasonable costs and the ability to readily identify associated injuries. Direct signs of ATAI on CT include contrast extravasation, intimal flaps, pseudoaneurysm formation, abnormal aortic contour, sudden change in aortic calibre ("pseudocoarctation") and filling defects. Indirect signs of ATAI are periaortic haemorrhage and mediastinal haematomas. In complex cases a diagnosis can be reached thanks to oblique reconstructions, which resemble the images obtained in conventional angiography, as well as the sagittal, coronal and multiplanar reconstructions provided by MDCT.

Magnetic resonance imaging has little use in the evaluation of ATAIs, despite its high degree of accuracy, because of long examination times and limited access. Magnetic resonance imaging has a role in follow-up when delayed surgery or non-operative management is selected, as well as in lifelong imaging surveillance after aortic endografting, as a strategy for radiation dose reduction in young trauma patients.

The role of aortography has traditionally been to identify or rule out an ATAI, to determine the exact location of the injury with respect to the branch vessels and the presence of any co-existing branch vessel injuries. Signs of ATAI are intraluminal flap (filling defect), extravasation of dye (pseudoaneurysm) and abnormal contours of the aortic wall (intramural haematoma). Aortography for the evaluation of ATAI presents a sensitivity of nearly 100% and a specificity > 98%. Disadvantages of aortography include the need for a skilled team, contrast reactions, contrast-induced nephropathy, groin haematomas, aortic intimal tears from catheters and pseudoaneurysm formation. Intraoperative aortography is still mandatory prior to the endovascular repair of ATAI.

Intravascular ultrasound (IVUS) is a useful complementary modality to aortography that provides immediate and dynamic imaging of aortic pathology and reduces contrast load, fluoroscopy time and complications during endovascular aortic repair. The drawbacks of IVUS include its inability to provide a complete survey of the aorta and brachiocephalic arteries and the fact that it is an operator- and experiencedependent invasive procedure. Periaortic haematomas are not easily identified by IVUS.

The sensitivity of transesophageal echocardiography (TEE) for diagnosing ATAIs ranges from 57% to 100% and the specificity from 84% to 100%. Its advantages are speed and portability, the acquisition of high-resolution images of the aorta and the assessment of cardiovascular status. Direct signs are thick stripes, free-edge intimal flaps, fusiform and false aneurysms, aortic dissection, wall haematomas, and complete aortic obstruction. Indirect signs include changes in aortic diameter, impairment of the aortic Doppler colour flow and increase in aorta-probe distance. indicating an hemomediastinum. The disadvantages are the fact that it is an operator- and experiencedependent test and its inability to image the distal ascending aorta and arch branches.

2.7. Management of ATAIs

The treatment of ATAIs in major trauma patients has traditionally posed a surgical challenge because of several reasons, namely, the initial delay in diagnosis in large numbers of patients, the high rates of morbidity and mortality due to associated non-mediastinal injures, and the potential surgery-related complications.

As with any trauma patient, the initial assessment begins with principles of the Advanced Trauma Life Support protocol. This includes a rapid assessment of airway, breathing and circulation, followed by a thorough secondary survey that includes obtaining adjunctive laboratory and radiographic data. In unstable patients, the repair of a contained aortic rupture is third in the hierarchy of addressing life-threatening injuries. Ongoing haemorrhaging must be controlled first, regardless of the source. This may include chest tube drainage of a hemopneumothorax, temporary stabilization of longbone fractures, temporary stabilization of unstable pelvic injuries, exploratory laparotomy or thoracotomy, and coil embolization of ongoing pelvic bleeding. Secondly, intracranial haemorrhaging causing a mass effect must be identified and drained. Aortic injuries should be subsequently addressed. Ongoing resuscitation should continue and beta-blocker therapy should be instituted as dictated by the patient's haemodynamic status in preparation for definitive treatment of the aortic injury ⁶⁷. Historically, open repair via thoracotomy has been the standard to which all other management strategies were compared. Conventional open repair of ATAIs via the interposition of a graft for replacing the injured segment is a safe, effective and durable technique. However, as endovascular strategies for treating abdominal and, more recently, thoracic aortic pathologies have evolved, there is growing enthusiasm for thoracic endovascular aortic repair (TEVAR) of ATAIs because of its relative ease, reduced operative time, and potentially decreased complication rate compared to conventional open repair.

2.7.1. Medical treatment

When a presumptive diagnosis of ATAI is made, haemodynamic monitoring and medical therapy should be initiated before a definitive imaging test is performed (CT, aortography, TEE). Aortic wall stress is affected by the velocity of ventricular contraction (dP/dt), the rate of ventricular contraction and blood pressure. Medical therapy should include intravenous infusion of a vasodilator to avoid hypertension and the limitation of intravenous fluid infusion once the systolic arterial pressure exceeds 100 mmHg. Initial medical stabilization using beta-blockers controls these three parameters by reducing heart rate and blood pressure as much as possible whilst still maintaining adequate end-organ perfusion ¹⁴. The systolic blood pressure should be titrated to approximately 100 mmHg and the heart rate to <60 bpm $^{12-14}$. The first-line medical treatment for ATAIs recommended by current ACCF/AHA/AATS/ACR/ASA/ SCA/ SCAI/ SIR/ STS/ SVM Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Management of Patients With Thoracic Aortic Disease is intravenous propranolol, metoprolol, labetalol or esmolol¹⁶³. In patients who have a potential contraindication to beta blockade, esmolol may be a viable option given its extremely short half-life. Use of labetalol, which is both an alpha- and beta-receptor antagonist, offers the advantage of adequate heart rate and blood pressure control from a single agent, potentially eliminating the need for a secondary vasodilator. In patients who are unable to tolerate beta blockade, nondihydropyridine calcium channel antagonists (verapamil, diltiazem) are acceptable alternatives ¹⁶³. This therapy should be continued while diagnostic studies and any surgical procedures, if indicated, are being performed ¹³. A pulmonary artery catheter can be placed in patients with proven ATAIs who require sustained therapy to maintain a mixed venous oxygen saturation of 65% ¹². This practice may only deviate in the respect that patients with evidence of increased intracranial pressure must be considered immediate operative candidates if other factors permit in order to prevent secondary brain injury associated with the decrease in cerebral perfusion pressure that accompanies hypotensive medical therapy ³².

Warren et al.¹⁶⁴ conducted a study of 37 ATAI patients retrospectively divided into three groups, namely, Group 1 (15 patients without preoperative antihypertensive therapy), Group 2 (15 patients treated for 2 to 7 hours before surgery with antihypertensives) and Group 3 (seven patients treated with antihypertensives for 24 hours to 4 months before surgery to allow recovery from associated severe injuries). The mortality rate was 13%, 7% and 14%, respectively. The authors found that temporary antihypertensive therapy is safe and effective in patients with ATAIs¹⁶⁴. Subsequently, Pate et al. ¹³ found that patients with ATAIs at the isthmus, who had not exsanguinated into the pleural cavity upon presentation to hospital, were unlikely to develop a rupture of the haematoma during the time required to investigate all injuries and attend to those of a more immediate danger. The investigators concluded that the idea that an ATAI should always take priority over other injuries was incorrect and they observed that the pharmacological reduction of wall stress appeared to decrease the probability of a rupture of the periaortic haematoma¹³. Despite the paramount importance of controlling blood pressure and cardiac contractility, the first multicentre trial of the American Association for the Surgery of Trauma (AATS₁)²⁵ revealed that only 17% of the 274 ATAI patients enrolled in that study had received correct treatment with beta-blockers. More recent studies reported a clear generalization of the use of beta-blockers for blood pressure and cardiac contractility control in ATAI patients ^{16, 32}.

2.7.2. Open surgical repair

The thoracic aorta is optimally approached through a posterolateral thoracotomy, with an incision in the fourth intercostal space. The incision should be large enough to expose the aorta from the left common carotid artery for proximal control to the distal descending thoracic aorta for arterial inflow cannulation when needed. Notching the fifth rib posteriorly may help with this exposure. Proximal and distal control is accomplished before dissecting near the injury. The distal descending aorta is exposed first because it is the least likely to precipitate a free rupture of the contained haematoma. Indeed, because the injury most often occurs just distal to the origin of the LSA, it is usually not possible to expose the aorta distally to the LSA without disrupting the contained haematoma surrounding the injury. The descending thoracic aorta is controlled distally immediately after the traumatic injury to avoid sacrificing the intercostal arteries. The aortic arch can be controlled by either clamping between the left common carotid artery and LSA or just distal to the LSA depending on the level of the ATAI. Finally, the aorta can be repaired by direct suturing or graft interposition.



Figure 14. Repair of ATAI with Dacron graft interposition.

Open surgical repair can be performed with either simple aortic cross-clamping or with circulatory assistance (left heart bypass (LHB) with heparin-coated conduits, cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB) or femoral-femoral bypass). A significant controversy developed over whether there were differences in the results between simple clamp exclusion and direct repair (clamp and sew) and techniques that provide distal aortic perfusion during repair. Specifically, the most significant complication of thoracic aortic repair is paraplegia, the incidence of which seems to be reduced by the use of distal aortic perfusion techniques. We must bear in mind that, unlike patients with chronic aneurysmal disease, young trauma patients lack well-developed collateral circulation to the spinal cord and are therefore at increased risk of spinal cord ischaemia.

The open surgical repair of ATAIs has evolved significantly over time. In 1985, Svensson et al. ¹⁶⁵ analysed literature reports of the operative mortality rate and

incidence of paraplegia in 596 ATAI patients and compared total or partial cardiopulmonary bypass, passive perfusion shunts and simple cross-clamping. The mortality rates for the three procedures mentioned above were 16.7%, 11.4% and 5.8%, respectively. The mortality rate was significantly increased when distal perfusion techniques were used (*P*<0.01). However, the incidence of paraplegia among patients who underwent LHB, temporary shunting and simple aortic cross-clamping was 2.2%, 2.3% and 5.8% respectively (*P*>0.05). The investigators concluded that simple aortic cross-clamping was the method of choice in uncomplicated cases of ATAI. Nevertheless, a subsequent meta-analysis conducted by von Opell et al. ¹⁶⁶ reviewed 1,742 patients and found that the risk of death was 18.2% with CPB, 11.9% for distal perfusion with LHB, 12.3% for shunts, and 16% for the "clamp and sew" method. The rates of paraplegia were 2.4%, 1.7%, 11.1% and 19.2%, respectively ¹⁶⁶. A comparable protective effect of distal aortic perfusion was demonstrated in a more recent cohort study and a systematic review by Jahromi et al. ¹⁶⁷, and in a single institution study by Katz et al. ¹⁶⁸.

Repair technique	Mortality rate	Paraplegia rate
	1/0/	100/
Simple aortic cross-	16%	19%
clamping		
Passive shunts	12%	11%
Left heart bypass	18% (systemic heparinization)	2%
	12% (no systemic heparinization. Use of heparin-coated circuits)	

Table 7. Mortality and risk of paraplegia with ATAI repair procedures. (*) Data from von

Opell et al. 166

Of the many variables influencing the end result of operative repair of ATAIs, one of the most important might be the surgeon. This was clearly demonstrated by Albrink et al. ¹⁶⁹, who found that better results were obtained when ATAIs were managed by experienced hands. This issue has been supported by other authors as well ¹⁷⁰.

In conclusion, the open repair of ATAIs can be accomplished via different techniques according to whether or not an adjuvant distal perfusion method is used, presenting each technique different advantages/disadvantages that must be weighed up by the surgeon, as described in the following.

2.7.2.1. Simple cross-clamping technique

The simple cross-clamping technique, also called the "clamp and sew" technique, was the first described for the repair of ATAIs in the early fifties ^{171, 172}. The advantages of the simple cross-clamping technique are its simplicity and the lack of a need for heparin. In particular, this technique may be useful to the general, vascular or trauma surgeon who is not experienced in the utilization of extracorporeal perfusion circuits or the cannulation of cardiac chambers or great vessels when thoracic surgical expertise is unavailable. It may also be useful in unstable patients who are actively bleeding from an aortic tear; in these patients there may be no time to employ a distal aortic perfusion system.

Hilgenberg et al. ¹⁷³ reported that the simple cross-clamping technique was associated with a relatively low risk of paraplegia (5.2%), and that the incidence of paraplegia was directly associated with the duration of cross-clamping and not with the use of passive shunts. Hunt et al. ¹⁷⁴ reviewed the operative results of 86 patients with

Acute traumatic aortic injuries

ATAIs and found that no patient with a cross-clamping time of less than 35 minutes developed paraplegia. Nevertheless, 42.9% of the patients with longer cross-clamping times who underwent a "clamp and sew" repair method developed paraplegia. Other authors also emphasized the fact that low rates of paraplegia were achieved when aortic cross-clamping times were less than 25 to 30 minutes^{25, 31, 175}. Recently, Bhaskar et al. ¹⁷⁶ published their 20 years of experience with the clamp-and-sew technique for ATAIs with neither paraplegia nor 30-day mortality.

However, in the aforementioned meta-analysis von Opell et al. ¹⁶⁶ highlighted the fact that the average cross-clamping time reported in the published literature was 41 minutes. Indeed, many cases of ATAI require more than 30 minutes to repair because of the amount of blood in the field, the fragility of the aorta and difficulties in identifying the local anatomy within a large haematoma. This is especially true if the tear extends proximally to involve the orifice of the LSA. These patients require clamping of the aorta proximal to the LSA, which may increase the incidence of paraplegia in the absence of distal aortic perfusion. Therefore, simple aortic cross-clamping should be reserved for patients in whom the anticipated clamping time is less than 20 to 25 minutes and for patients with a life-threatening haemorrhage ^{166, 168, 175}.

The key to performing a successful simple aortic cross-clamping technique includes rapid exposure of the proximal aorta with minimal dissection of the injured area and minimal interruption of the intercostal arteries, and maximizing measures to avoid fluctuations in blood pressure, especially during clamping and declamping of the aorta. Effective pharmacological and blood volume management can achieve this objective.

2.7.2.2. Passive perfusion shunts

In the late fifties, increasing concern about catastrophic complications, mainly paraplegia, led to the use of proximal to distal aorta either biological or artificial shunts in order to provide some blood flow to the distal aorta during aortic cross-clamping^{8, 177, 178}

One of the most frequently used passive perfusion shunts in thoracic aorta surgery is a tridodecylmethylammonium chloride (TDMAC)-heparin-coated shunt, named the Gott shunt, which was first described in 1963 by Gott et al. ¹⁷⁹. This TDMAC-heparin-coated shunt usually has one end placed in the aorta proximal to the proximal cross-clamp and one distal end located in the aorta distal to the distal clamp. Less commonly, the proximal end of the shunt may be placed in the left atrium or the apex of the left ventricle. The shunts are usually at least 9 mm in diameter and 90 mm in length because the flow is dependent on the diameter of the shunt and the pressure differential between the proximal and distal ends of the shunt. Besides providing distal flow, this shunt provides afterload reduction to the left side of the heart. The flow is usually greater than 2 l/min in 85% of patients ^{180, 181}.

Stavens et al. ¹⁸² found that the incidence of paraplegia was significantly reduced by both extracorporeal circulation and the heparin-bonded Gott shunt; however, the former method was associated with a high incidence of postoperative bleeding in conjunction with systemic heparinization, and this, in turn, contributed to a high mortality rate. The investigators concluded that the Gott shunt provided the best protection, particularly in the setting of a training programme where a relatively small number of these operations are performed and cross-clamping times may be prolonged

¹⁸². Other authors ¹⁸³⁻¹⁸⁵ also highlighted the effectiveness of the Gott shunt in preserving the functional integrity of the spinal cord during cross-clamping of the thoracic aorta.

The placement of passive perfusion shunts requires a more extensive dissection of either the aortic arch or the ascending aorta. There may be difficulties inserting the shunt because of the position of the patient, periaortic haematoma or time constraints dictated by an expanding pulsatile and uncontrolled haematoma. There have also been anecdotal reports that brain-injured patients with an aortic injury repaired using these devices tend to get worse neurologically ²⁵. Furthermore, passive shunts do not offer the left ventricular unloading or loading advantage that partial bypass systems allow, and therefore blood pressure control is left to pharmacology alone ¹⁷⁶.

Many authors have reported cross-clamping time to be the major risk factor associated with the development of paraplegia after the clamp-and-sew technique, and they have also emphasized the fact that there is no advantage in using passive perfusion shunts ^{25, 31, 175, 186}.

2.7.2.3. Partial left heart bypass

In the partial LHB method, a small single- or dual-stage cannula is placed into the left atrium through the left inferior pulmonary vein to provide inflow to the pump. Outflow arterial cannulation can be performed by placing a high-flow aortic cannula in the distal descending aorta or, less commonly, a femoral arterial cannula. Femoral aortic cannulation has the advantage of convenience and speed. Partial LHB presents several advantages, namely, unloading the left heart and controlling proximal hypertension at Mosquera V.X.
the time of cross-clamping, maintaining lower body perfusion, allowing the rapid infusion of volume and controlling intravascular volume. The lower body is perfused at a flow rate of 2 to 3 l/min with a lower body mean arterial pressure of 60 to 70 mm Hg while maintaining an upper body mean arterial pressure of 70 to 80 mm Hg. All field blood is returned to the circuit via a pump reservoir or is accumulated and returned via cell saver. Ventricular arrhythmias pose a major risk since the native heart perfuses the upper body.



Figure 15. ATAI repaired using LHB. Notice the aortic cannula (arrow) placed in the descending aorta distal to the aortic injury for lower body perfusion.

Potential advantages of the LHB technique are that the distal aorta is perfused, which may help decrease rates of paraplegia as well as reduce ischaemia and reperfusion injuries associated with the sacrifice of hepatic, renal and mesenteric flow during simple aortic cross-clamping ^{25, 31, 175, 186}.

In contrast, the disadvantages of both LHB and CPB are the need for systemic heparinization, which may predispose toward bleeding complications in patients with multiple injuries ^{176, 182}. The use of centrifugal pumps provides the advantages of distal perfusion while eliminating the potential hazards of heparin ¹⁸⁷.

The results of a logistic regression analysis in a previously mentioned study by Hunt et al. ¹⁷⁴ showed that not only was the cross-clamping time predictive of spinal cord injury, but the use of LHB was also independently predictive of protection against spinal cord injury. A review of the use of LHB with a heparinless centrifugal pump found that there was no instance of paraplegia ¹⁸⁸. Moreover, a comparison of the two multicentre trials of the *American Association for the Surgery of Trauma* (AATS₁ and AATS₂) revealed a significant increase in the use of the bypass technique in open repairs, from 64.7% in 1997 (AATS₁) to 83.8% in 2007 (AATS₂) ⁷⁸.

2.7.2.4. Full or partial cardiopulmonary bypass

The use of total or partial CPB involves either direct right atrial cannulation at the inferior vena cava-right atrial junction from a left thoracotomy or venous cannulation through a long venous catheter with multiple side holes via the left common femoral vein into the right atrium. In some cases a right atrial-femoral arterial bypass was used

with or without an oxygenator, such as a partial LHB. When no oxygenator is used, blood is returned with a partial arterial oxygen pressure of approximately 40 mm Hg (saturation 45 to 65%) so long as the haemoglobin concentration is maintained above 10 g/dl ^{189, 190}. Nonetheless, total CPB support is most useful in cases where the aortic arch is involved in the injury, in order to allow systemic cooling ^{191, 192}. Besides this, a total CPB may be preferred when there is concomitant right lung contusion in order to ensure adequate tissue oxygenation during repair.

Mattox et al. ¹⁹³ reported mortality rates for the CPB, clamp-and-sew and shunt methods of 32.6%, 13.3% and 15.1%, respectively, and paraplegia rates of 4.5%, 8.3% and 10.3%, respectively. The significantly higher operative mortality rate was classically associated with systemic heparinization, which may increase rates of morbidity and mortality in patients with multisystem injuries (especially lung and brain injuries).

In the first multicentre trial of the *American Association for the Surgery of Trauma* (AATS₁)²⁵, the rate of paraplegia was lowest (2.9%) in 69 cases with the LHB centrifugal pump compared to partial or total CPB (6.6%) in 61 cases (p>0.05). Even though no significant complications were noted with heparin in the partial or total CPB groups and no differences were observed in the mortality rate compared to the centrifugal pump group, the LHB centrifugal pump eliminated the requirement for heparin ²⁵.

More recently, Miller et al. ¹⁹⁴ compared the operative outcomes of 28 ATAI patients who were operated on with CPB to those of 32 ATAI patients who were operated on without CPB. No patient in the CPB group developed paraplegia, whereas paraplegia occurred in 12% of the simple aortic cross-clamping group. Moreover, no

patient in the bypass group experienced complications related to heparinization, but 7% presented bypass-related complications (cerebral oedema, femoral vein laceration)¹⁹⁴.

Very occasionally there may be a need to perform a proximal anastomosis under deep hypothermic circulatory arrest (DHCA) because an injury involves the mid-aortic arch ¹⁹². Use of DHCA in trauma patients should proceed with caution and only after other serious associated injuries have been addressed in order to avoid bleeding complications. In cases of aortic arch transection close to the innominate or left common carotid artery, anterior exposure via sternotomy or thoracosternotomy may offer better exposure for total arch replacement ^{191, 192}.

2.7.2.5. Additional measures for avoiding spinal cord ischaemia

In addition to lower body perfusion, several adjunctive measures can be used to reduce the risk of spinal cord ischaemia (SCI) during thoracic aortic surgery, such as monitoring motor or somatosensory-evoked potentials, lumbar cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) drainage and hypothermia ¹⁹⁵⁻¹⁹⁷. Nonetheless, these modalities are often impractical in emergent settings. A large number of pharmacological agents have been evaluated for their neuroprotective effects in experimental studies of SCI, such as steroids, lidocaine or magnesium ¹⁹⁸⁻²⁰⁰. Thiopental and methylprednisolone have a wide clinical use for the protection of the brain and spinal cord during operations that require circulatory arrest and clamping of the descending aorta ^{201, 202}. These adjuncts have not been well studied in the trauma population and may not be feasible in most of multisystem trauma patients with critical associated injuries.

2.7.3. Endovascular repair

Designed to treat degenerative aneurysms of the thoracic and abdominal aorta, endovascular stent grafts have been increasingly employed as off-label emergency treatment for ATAIs. The thoracic endovascular approach for the repair of ATAIs was pioneered by Kato et al. in 1997 ²⁰³. This technique seems to confer advantages in perioperative mortality and morbidity over traditional open surgical repair ^{15, 33, 204-206}. Nevertheless, TEVAR has not been prospectively studied for ATAI treatment; US Food and Drug Administration-approved devices are being used "off label" with considerable success based on retrospective studies. In a systematic literature review, Lettinga-van de Poll et al. ²⁰⁷ identified 284 ATAI patients who underwent TEVAR. The authors reported mortality rates ranging from 0% to 6%, whereas the procedure-related mortality rate was about 1.5%. A total of 6.7% of all of the procedures were complicated by an endoleak, and the overall procedure-related morbidity rate was 14.4% ²⁰⁷.

In a retrospective single-centre study conducted by Neschis et al. ²⁰⁸ on 20 ATAI patients treated by TEVAR, no procedure-related deaths were reported. Nine (45%) aortas were small enough to require the use of 23-mm abdominal cuffs, and six (30%) out of twenty cases required complete or partial coverage of the LSA. One patient presented a type I endoleak, whereas another patient suffered an endograft collapse ²⁰⁸.

In a study published by Tehrani et al. ²⁰⁵ on 30 patients with ATAI treated by TEVAR, the authors reported that technical success was achieved in 100% of the patients, as shown by angiographic and CT scanning. Three patients had complications: one iliac artery rupture, one cerebellar stroke and one partial stent collapse. There were two perioperative deaths and no instances of procedure-related paralysis.

Mosquera V.X.

In 2011, the Society for Vascular Surgery Outcomes Committee, including ad hoc members from the Society of Thoracic Surgeons, American Association of Thoracic Surgery, and the Society for Interventional Radiology, collected outcomes of patients with traumatic thoracic aortic transections treated with endovascular grafts²⁰⁶. The study enrolled 60 symptomatic patients with ATAIs and found an all-cause mortality rate of 9.1% at 30 days and 14.4% at 1 year. Major adverse events occurred early on in 20% and late in 3.6% of the patients. Death accounted for 41.7% of the early and all of the late major adverse events. The other early adverse events included 16.7% pulmonary, 13.3% neurological and 11.7% vascular complications. Late adverse events included one patient (1.8%) with pulmonary failure and one patient (1.8%) who died of an unknown cause. The investigators concluded that the 1-year results of endograft placement for the management of patients with ATAI (cumulative 1-year survival of 85.6%±5.2%) were acceptable, with approximately three-quarters of the deaths occurring in the first 30 days due to the acute severity of the trauma.

In almost all cases, aortic access in TEVAR for ATAIs is retrograde through the femoral or iliac arteries. As we have previously reported ²⁰⁹, TEVAR is performed in the operating room under general anaesthesia. Cardiopulmonary bypass is normally available on a standby basis during each stent placement procedure. A team of two cardiovascular surgeons and two interventional radiologists works together at our institution for TEVAR, and all procedures are monitored using a portable radiographic C-arm system Philips BV Pulsera[™] (Philips Medical Systems, Best, The Netherlands) with digital subtraction angiography (DSA) ²⁰⁹.

Bilateral access is often obtained for angiography and delivery of the endograft. Percutaneous femoral, direct femoral and iliac arterial puncture and iliac access via a side Dacron graft sewn onto the iliac artery have all been used ^{67, 210}. After establishing arterial access, 5,000 units of heparin are routinely given intravenously 209 , although it is possible to avoid heparin altogether in cases where there is concern for bleeding complications at remote sites 205 . A floppy J-tipped wire is advanced to the ascending aorta under fluoroscopic and/or TEE guidance. A marked catheter is subsequently passed over the wire. An aortogram is performed using a steep anterior oblique projection (~60°) in order to accurately assess and measure the aortic arch anatomy relative to the site of transection.



Figure 16. Intraoperative aortography (I). A. Intraoperative aortography performed using an anterior oblique projection of ~60°, showing a focal dissection at the level of the aortic isthmus (solid arrow) and the aortic endograft (dashed arrow) before deployment. **B.** Control aortography after endograft deployment, showing correct exclusion of the injured aorta.

Computed tomography images are routinely used to calculate stent graft dimensions, which are oversized by 10-15% compared to the landing zone diameters. The stent graft length is usually 30-40 mm longer than the target lesions, at least, in

order to ensure adequate wall contact and a tight circumferential seal in the landing zones. A stiff wire is advanced from the side of device delivery. The device delivery sheath is advanced over the stiff wire under continuous fluoroscopy and the device is brought into position. The image intensifier is rotated to the ideal angle to completely visualize the aortic arch, and angiography is performed with breathing suspended ²⁰⁹. The targeted landing zone can be marked on the fluoroscopy screen with a felt pen or a roadmap programme can be used when available. The pigtail catheter used for the angiogram is subsequently withdrawn and the stent graft is deployed under fluoroscopy.



Figure 17. Intraoperative aortography (II). A. Intraoperative aortography confirmed a complete aortic transection (solid arrow) in a young male after an MVC. Notice the diagnostic pigtail at the aortic root (dotted arrow), coming from the right common femoral artery, and a temporary transvenous pacing catheter (dashed arrow) inserted through the right femoral vein. **B.** Control aortography after endograft deployment shows correct exclusion of the injured aorta.

Follow-up is usually based on guidelines for evaluating thoracic endografting for

atherosclerotic aneurysms with CT angiography performed during the first postoperative week, at the time of discharge, and at 1, 6 and 12 months ^{15, 81, 163, 211}.

The Expert Opinion Committee of the Society of Thoracic Surgeons ²¹¹, the Clinical Practice Guidelines of the Society for Vascular Surgery ⁸¹, the American Association of Thoracic Surgeons ¹⁵, and the ACCF/AHA/AATS/ACR/ASA/SCA/SCAI/SIR/STS/SVM Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Management of Patients With Thoracic Aortic Disease ¹⁶³ suggest that endografts might be considered for the treatment of ATAIs. Nevertheless, some measures of caution must be taken because of the possibility of device and procedure-related complications, especially in young patients, and the lack of information regarding the long-term durability of endografts ^{15, 81, 163, 211}.

The types of complication that can occur after TEVAR include endoleak, stentgraft collapse, stroke, embolization, bronchial obstruction, migration, paralysis, dissection and rupture ⁶⁷. One of the most frequent problems with endovascular grafting for ATAIs is the need to cover the LSA, but an associated LSA revascularization is rarely required, unlike in other non-ATAI TEVAR procedures ²¹². In TEVAR for ATAIs, endografts are usually placed in the distal arch or proximal descending aorta, or both, and they are relatively short compared to what is commonly required to bridge more extensive degenerative aneurysms ²¹³⁻²¹⁵. Hence, the coverage of intercostal arteries is very limited, especially between the T6 and L1 vertebral levels. In cases of ATAI, the deployment of short endografts (usually of <150 mm) in the proximal descending aorta most likely influences the risk of paraplegia and may account for lower procedural rates of spinal cord ischaemic events in relation to those associated with the open repair of transections and TEVAR treatment for more extensive nontraumatic lesions.

On the other hand, device oversizing by more than 20% is contraindicated because the endograft can fold in on itself and obstruct the aorta. This may also lead to detrimental increased radial force on the aorta. In addition, because most patients are quite young, the aorta has generally not become enlarged and unfolded; thus, the acute angulation of the arch can be difficult to accommodate. If the proximal end of the stent graft is not apposed to the aortic wall on the lesser curve of the arch ("bird beak deformity"), the graft can become compressed by the pulse pressure under the proximal lip of the stent graft, resulting in a proximal type I endoleak. Indeed, the use of oversized devices in small aortas and imperfect proximal apposition to the lesser curvature carry a risk of device failure by collapse, which may have life-threatening clinical repercussions ²¹⁶⁻²¹⁸. When clinically indicated, percutaneous repair can be effectively performed by bare stenting ²¹⁸. In a review of six cases of endograft collapse or infolding with the TAG system (W. L. Gore & Associates, Flagstaff, Ariz), the authors ²¹⁹ highlighted the fact that the endoprosthesis collapse occurred in patients who had a smaller aortic diameter than recommended by the manufacturers for the use of these prosthesis. The investigators emphasized the fact that caution should be exercised when contemplating TEVAR in patients with an aortic diameter of <23 mm²¹⁹.

A more recent review of TEVAR in ATAI by Atkins et al. ²²⁰ raised concerns regarding the use of aortic endografts in patients <18 years of age because most of these patients have small aortas, and the current generation of devices would be grossly oversized. Moreover, little information is available regarding the long-term consequences of placing an endograft in a young person who has not yet reached full maturity, as well as the effects of cumulative radiation exposure from multiple CT scans. Likewise, TEVAR should be avoided in patients with an outer wall aortic diameter <18 mm in order to prevent dangerous oversizing ²²⁰. Stroke occurs at a rate of 3% to 5% in thoracic endografting, although the incidence is reported to be lower in the trauma population, at 0% to 2% ²²¹. Possible causes may include occlusion of the left vertebral artery, embolization of arch thrombus in older patients, inadvertent guidewire advancement into the carotid artery or air embolism.

2.7.3.1. LSA management during zone 2 coverage

As we have reported in previous chapters, published clinical series have shown that ATAIs occur at the isthmus in 54.7% to 74.5% of cases $^{15, 25, 32, 76-78}$, which may require covering of the LSA (zone 2 222 , Figure 18) in order to achieve a suitable proximal landing zone (length >1.5 cm) for safe endograft deployment.



Figure 18. Classification of proximal landing zones for endograft deployment ²²².

In a systematic review by Dunning et al. ²²³ about the safety of covering the LSA when stenting the thoracic aorta, the authors found 498 cases where the LSA was covered during TEVAR in 20 published studies. The types of complication reported after LSA coverage included strokes in 2.6%, paraplegia or paraparesis in 1.6% and endoleaks in 1.2% due to subclavian backflow. In addition, 10% of cases had ischaemia or other symptoms attributable to poor blood flow, which resulted in post-procedural revascularizations in 4%. The investigators concluded that coverage of the LSA has a low, but not insignificant, incidence of side-effects. Therefore, the risk of these potential complications must be balanced with the urgency of the procedure and may be only acceptable in emergency or salvage situations. However, in non-emergency cases the carotid arteries, the vertebral arteries and the Circle of Willis must be fully assessed by tests such as duplex ultrasound, angiography, CT or MRI scanning. An absent right vertebral artery, diseased carotid arteries or an incomplete Circle of Willis is a contraindication to LSA coverage without prior transposition or bypass grafting of the LSA.

On the other hand, some authors ²²⁴ recommended that in the presence of an inadequate proximal landing zone, conventional open surgical repair still remains a favourable option as an alternative to endovascular procedures if surgical revascularization of the LSA, carotid artery or both is necessary.

Kotelis et al. ²²⁵ found that the indications for revascularization of the LSA when performing TEVAR include coverage of a long segment of the aorta, prior or concomitant infrarenal aortic replacement and renal insufficiency. In addition, a hypoplastic right vertebral artery, a patent left internal mammary artery graft and a functioning dialysis fistula in the left arm are also indications for performing revascularization. Similarly, in 2009, the *Society for Vascular Surgery* published the *Practice Guidelines: Management of the left subclavian artery with thoracic endovascular aortic repair*²²⁶. The committee issued three recommendations:

- In patients who need elective TEVAR where the achievement of a proximal seal necessitates coverage of the left subclavian artery, routine preoperative revascularization is recommended, despite very low-quality evidence (GRADE 2, level C).
- II. In selected patients who have an anatomy that compromises perfusion to critical organs, routine preoperative LSA revascularization is strongly recommended, despite very low-quality evidence (GRADE 1, level C).
- III. In patients who need urgent TEVAR for life-threatening acute aortic syndromes where the achievement of a proximal seal necessitates coverage of the LSA, revascularization should be individualized and addressed expectantly on the basis of anatomy, urgency and the availability of surgical expertise.

Consequently, the current clinical practice guidelines of the *Society for Vascular Surgery*⁸¹ for the endovascular repair of ATAIs recommend that LSA revascularization must be individualized depending on the status of the vertebral anatomy.

2.7.3.2. Spinal drainage

As spinal cord perfusion pressure is determined by the gradient between mean arterial pressure (MAP) and CSF pressure, the cornerstones of management for SCI during TEVAR are maintaining a MAP of >90 mmHg and a CSF pressure of 10 cm H₂O ^{227,} ²²⁸. However, no data exist regarding the use of prophylactic spinal drainage for traumatic injuries. Several risk factors have been identified as being related to SCI after

Mosquera V.X.

TEVAR. It was found that the length of aortic coverage was an independent predictive factor of SCI with 205 mm as a threshold for increased risk ^{229, 230}. Other independent factors associated with a higher incidence of paraplegia are the use of three or more stent-grafts and LSA coverage without revascularization ²³¹⁻²³³, as well as simultaneous or previous open infrarenal aortic replacement ²³⁴. Nonetheless, SCI is a low-incidence event, ranging from 0.8% to 1.8% after TEVAR for traumatic injuries ^{15, 235}.

On the other hand, potential CSF drainage-related complications must not be neglected, such as bloody spinal fluid (5%), epidural haematoma (2.9%) and even mortality $(0.9\%)^{236,237}$.

In summary, based on the proximal location of the injury, limited coverage of the thoracic aorta and the risk of epidural haematoma in a coagulopathic patient, routine use of spinal drainage is not recommended by current clinical practice guidelines for TEVAR in ATAI, and it should only be used for symptoms of SCI⁸¹.

2.7.4. Open repair versus endovascular repair

For many decades open surgical repair has been the traditional method of treating ATAIs. However, in the last few years the advent of TEVAR for the treatment of thoracic aorta pathologies has led to a shift towards endovascular management of patients with ATAIs. Thoracic endovascular aortic repair allows rapid exclusion of the aortic lesion and is less invasive than open surgery, which is particularly desirable in patients with ATAI and multiple associated injuries. It also appears to reduce mortality and morbidity rates in patients with ATAIs ^{15, 238-241}. Moreover, TEVAR has extended operative treatment to patients who were not previously considered suitable candidates for repair ²³⁵, as it allows the prompt exclusion of the aortic injury and does not require Mosquera V.X.

thoracotomy or aortic clamping, which are undesirable in unstable patients with multiple associated injuries. Blood loss is reduced and systemic heparinization and perioperative single lung ventilation are required less often. Therefore, pulmonary complications are significantly reduced with TEVAR. An increased incidence of pneumonia after open repair of ATAIs compared to TEVAR has been described by some authors ^{15, 239}. Likewise, paraplegia, which is probably the most devastating complication of thoracic aortic interventions, occurs in approximately 5.6% to 7% of patients after open surgery compared to less than 1% after TEVAR ^{34, 235, 241-243}.

Due to the relative infrequency of hospital admissions with ATAIs, most studies to date have been single-institution retrospective reports. However, there are several systematic reviews and meta-analyses comparing the published literature on open repair versus TEVAR in ATAI treatment ^{34, 235, 240-243}. One must always take into account the phenomenon of publication bias when considering such data, as negative results are possibly never published. In fact, the only large evaluation that did not support the superiority of TEVAR for ATAI was a study conducted by Arthurs et al.²⁶, which identified 3,114 patients with ATAIs among 1.1 million trauma admissions between 2000 and 2005 from the US National Trauma Data Bank. The authors did not find any statistically significant differences in 30-day mortality between open repair (665 patients) and TEVAR (95 patients) (19% vs. 18%, P>0.05). Binary logistic regression showed that aortic repair, regardless of the technique used, was the only variable associated with improved survival (OR = 0.36; 95% CI: 0.24-0.54, P < 0.05) when controlling for the physiological presentation and associated injuries. Interestingly, endovascular repair was not associated with an advantage in survival over open repair. Nonetheless, the endovascular devices used in the period evaluated (2000-2005) were custom-made devices or the off-label use of aortic cuffs²⁶. This may explain the negligible improvement found in the mortality rate after TEVAR in their analysis compared with other studies published in the literature. The authors also reported that open repair was associated with higher cardiopulmonary complications (acute respiratory distress syndrome, pneumonia and myocardial infarctions), whereas endovascular repair was associated with higher rates of acute renal failure ²⁶.

Tang et al. ²⁴³ analysed 33 articles reporting on 699 patients, where 370 were treated with TEVAR and 329 with open surgery. No differences were found in age, injury severity score (ISS) or technical success rates. The mortality rate was significantly lower for TEVAR (7.6% versus 15.2%, P=0.008), as were the rates of paraplegia (0% versus 5.6%, P=0.001) and stroke (0.85% versus 5.3%, P=0.003). TEVAR-associated complications were not specifically analysed, and long-term results were not available. In another meta-analysis on this topic, Xenos et al. ³⁴ found similar results with a lower postoperative mortality rate (OR 0.44, P=0.005) and ischaemic spinal cord complications (OR 0.32, P=0.037) for TEVAR compared to open surgical repair.

In 2010, Jonker et al. ²⁴¹ reviewed all cases of ATAIs in New York State between 2000 and 2007, which comprised a total of 328 patients, of whom 79.6% underwent open repair and 20.4% TEVAR. After controlling for significant covariates, TEVAR independently reduced the risk of death following surgical intervention for ATAI compared to open procedure (OR 3.8, 95% CI, 1.28-10.99; P=0.01). Respiratory complications were the most common postoperative morbidity and were significantly increased after open repair: 38% vs. 24% (OR 1.95; 95% CI, 1.05-3.60; P=0.032). The authors also found an incidence of 9% endoleaks and distal embolization in patients after TEVAR ²⁴¹.

However, the only large prospective multicentre study was supported by the

American Association for the Surgery of Trauma to assess the early efficacy and safety of TEVAR for ATAI versus standard open repair in 2007 (AAST₂)¹⁵. In the 18 major US trauma centres included in the trial, the decision for open or endovascular repair was left to the surgeon's preference. The primary outcome measure was in-hospital mortality; the secondary endpoints included complication rates, ventilator days, transfusion requirements and ICU and hospital lengths of stay. A total of 193 patients met the inclusion criteria. Overall, 125 patients (64.9%) were selected for TEVAR and 68 (35.2%) for open repair. Thoracic endovascular aortic repair was selected for 71.6% of the 74 patients with major extrathoracic injuries and 60% of the 115 patients with no major extrathoracic injuries. The TEVAR patients were significantly older than the open repair patients. Overall, 25 patients in the TEVAR group (20%) developed 32 device-related complications. There were 18 endoleaks (14.4%), 6 of which needed open repair. The authors reported that procedure-related paraplegia developed in 2.9% of patients in the open repair group and 0.8% of patients in the TEVAR group (p=0.28). Multivariable analysis adjusting for severe extrathoracic injuries, hypotension, GCS and age showed that the TEVAR group had a significantly lower mortality rate and fewer blood transfusions than the open repair group. Among the 115 patients without major extrathoracic injuries, a higher mortality rate and greater transfusion requirements were also found in the open repair group. Among the 74 patients with major extrathoracic injuries, significantly higher rates of mortality and pneumonia were found in the open repair group. Multivariate analysis showed that centres with a high volume of endovascular procedures had significantly fewer systemic complications and shorter lengths of hospital stay than low-volume centres. The investigators found that most surgeons selected TEVAR for ATAIs, irrespective of associated injuries, injury severity or age. In addition, the AAST₂ group concluded that TEVAR is associated with a

significantly lower rate of mortality and fewer blood transfusions, but that there is a considerable risk of serious device-related complications ¹⁵.

More recently, a study performed by Hong et al. ²³⁵ compared the evolution of ATAI treatment (non-operative, open repair and TEVAR) in the US from 2001 to 2007, dividing the cases into two time periods, before and after the widespread adoption of TEVAR (2001-2005 and 2006-2007). A comparison of the two time periods showed an increase in the number of TEVAR procedures with a simultaneous decrease in open repair in the period of 2006 to 2007. The TEVAR group contained a higher percentage of patients with brain injury (26.1% vs. 20.6%; P=0.008), lung injury (25.0% vs. 17.7%; P < 0.001) and hemothorax (32.5% vs. 21.7%; P < 0.001) than the open surgery group. No differences were found in the number of intra-abdominal injuries or major skeletal fractures. The open surgery group had more respiratory complications (43.9% vs. 54.2%; P < 0.001), whereas the TEVAR group had a higher rate of stroke (1.9% vs. 0.7%; P=0.021). The authors did not find differences in the rate of paraplegia or renal failure. The overall rate of in-hospital mortality was 23.2% (non-operative group 26.7%, open repair 12.4% and TEVAR 10.6%). Although the investigators did not find any significant differences in the rate of mortality between the open repair and TEVAR groups, Hong et al.²³⁵ surmised that this lack of a statistically significant difference reflected the multisystem nature of injury and a greater preoperative risk in the TEVAR group. In addition, the authors concluded that the widespread use of TEVAR was associated with a decrease in the overall mortality rate from ATAIs.

Finally, it must be emphasized that TEVAR is still associated with a number of considerable complications, such as endoleak, graft fracture and graft migration, necessitating life-long surveillance ²¹⁶⁻²²⁰. Caution should be taken with the widespread use of TEVAR for ATAIs until more is known about the long-term behaviour of the

devices, especially in young trauma patients.

2.7.5. Operative timing: early versus delayed repair

The classic autopsy and clinical study of Parmley et al. in the late fifties reported a death rate at the scene of as high as 85% and a subsequent mortality rate in nonoperated survivors of 1% per hour for the first 48 hours². Moreover, of the surviving patients, approximately 5% were haemodynamically unstable or deteriorated within 6 hours of admission, leading to an in-hospital mortality rate as high as 90% or more ²⁹. In the 1960s and 1970s, as trauma systems developed and the transportation of critically ill trauma patients improved, many people who would have previously died at the scene were now arriving at trauma centres in extremis. Most of these patients subsequently died during the early phase of care. These patients were included in the early studies of ATAIs and likely skewed the interpretation of the data to suggest that all patients with ATAIs were imminently unstable and required urgent repair. Nevertheless, since the 1990s, delayed surgical repair has been considered in patients with ATAIs who present with haemodynamic stability and who do not have imaging findings showing impending rupture ²⁴⁴. The reason behind this trend is that in the majority of the patients who make it to the hospital alive, the adventitia and surrounding mediastinal structures remain partially intact, thus preserving the integrity of the disrupted aorta ²⁴⁵. In addition, an increasing number of subsequent studies suggested that some select patients with major associated injuries could be safely managed with delayed repair, provided that blood pressure and contractility were adequately controlled ^{12, 246}.

91

As we have mentioned in previous chapters, no two aortic injuries are the same or have a similar prognosis. Indeed, Karmy-Jones et al. ³⁰ noted that there were three broad categories of patients who sustained an ATAI. The largest group (70% to 80%) comprised those who died at the scene. The second group is unstable upon presentation to hospital or become unstable shortly thereafter, and comprise just 2% to 5% of the patients with ATAIs. The final group (20% to 25%) remain haemodynamically stable after the aortic injury, and any mortality is secondary to associated injuries.

In the first multicentre prospective study conducted by the *American Association for the Surgery of Trauma* (AAST₁) ¹², the patients were classified into four groups according to their clinical status, which determined their subsequent management: (1) in extremis: patients who presented with some vital signs and who underwent emergent thoracotomy; (2) stable: patients who underwent planned thoracotomy after diagnostic evaluation; (3) rupture: patients who were admitted with haemodynamic stability and developed aortic rupture before planned thoracotomy; (4) non-operative: patients who underwent a diagnostic evaluation but did not have a thoracotomy because of either associated injuries or advanced age.

Multiple studies have reported the safety of the delayed surgical repair of ATAIs in multisystem trauma patients by first addressing other life-threatening injuries ^{13, 16, 25, 247-249}. Furthermore, we recently showed that definitive non-operative management may be a therapeutic option with acceptable survival rates in carefully-selected patients with multiple severe associated injuries or high risk co-morbidities ³⁶. Nonetheless, the potential for the rapid progression of ATAIs in the same patients mandates serial radiological controls during the first 3 months after diagnosis and then annually thereafter ³⁶.

One of the major contributions towards shedding light on the timing of aortic repair in ATAIs was the analysis of data provided by the second multicentre prospective trial conducted by the American Association for the Surgery of Trauma $(AAST_2)^{16}$. A total of 178 patients with ATAI were eligible for inclusion and analysis, 109 (61.2%) of them underwent early repair and the remaining 69 (38.8%) patients delayed repair. The two groups had similar epidemiological, injury severity and repair type characteristics. The adjusted mortality rate was significantly higher in the early repair group, whereas the adjusted complication rate was similar between the two groups. However, delayed repair was associated with significantly longer lengths of stay in the ICU and hospital. The analysis of 108 patients without major associated injuries showed that there was a trend towards a higher mortality rate in early repair but a significantly lower complication rate and shorter ICU stay than in the delayed repair group. Likewise, the analysis of 68 patients with major associated injuries showed a strong trend towards a higher mortality rate in the early repair group. The rate of complications was similar between both groups. Therefore, the AAST₂ group concluded that the delayed repair of stable ATAIs is associated with improved survival irrespective of the presence or absence of major associated injuries. Nonetheless, the authors also highlighted the fact that delayed repair is associated with a longer length of ICU stay and, in the group of patients with no major associated injuries, a significantly higher rate of complications.

The current *Clinical Practice Guidelines of the Society for Vascular Surgery*⁸¹ suggest urgent (<24 hours) repair, barring other serious concomitant non-aortic injuries, or repair immediately after other injuries have been treated, but at the latest prior to hospital discharge⁸¹.

Some authors ^{16, 32, 247, 248, 250} suggested that the following factors should be considered for initial medical therapy followed by delayed repair (Table 8).

Recommended clinical factors for a delayed repair

1. Brain injury with significant haemorrhage or oedema on CT scan.

2. Pulmonary contusion with a PaO2/FiO2 ratio less than 300, positive end-expiratory pressure requirements of 7.5 cm H2O, or the inability to tolerate single-lung ventilation.

3. Pre-existing cardiac disease: recent angina, earlier coronary artery bypass surgery, requires inotropic support.

- 4. Coagulopathy: non-surgical bleeding, international normalized ratio greater than
- 1.5, platelets less than 40,000.
- 5. Intra-abdominal solid organ injury.
- 6. Severe pelvic fracture.

 Table 8. Recommended clinical factors for a delayed repair
 16, 32, 247, 248, 250

In contrast, the emergent repair of an ATAI should undoubtedly be considered when there is even a slight risk of impending rupture, namely, an enlarging aortic lesion, evidence of pseudocoarctation, and/or a large hemothorax $^{16, 32}$.

In summary, the correct timing of ATAI repair in a patient with mutisystem trauma should be considered and balanced along with the presence or absence of other severe injuries, without a fixed priority.

2.7.6. Definitive conservative management

Although the traditional approach for ATAIs is emergent (<24 hours) surgical repair, as we have previously mentioned the trend today is towards delayed repair (open or endovascular), since several studies have suggested that some patients with major associated injuries ²⁴⁶, or even with no severe associated injuries or major comorbidities ¹⁶, can safely be managed with delayed repair provided that blood pressure and contractility are adequately controlled.

It may be tempting to adopt a definitive non-operative management for patients in whom a haemodynamically stable situation is achieved with medical therapy, especially if major extrathoracic injuries are associated.

The anatomic structure of the aortic wall may explain the amenability of limited intimal injuries for conservative treatment. The aortic wall is composed of an internal layer, the intima, a middle layer, the media, and an outer layer, the adventitia. The media is composed of sheets of elastin interspersed with smooth muscle cells and provides most of the structural strength and elastic properties of the aorta. Therefore, injuries limited to the intimal layer should not compromise the resistance of the aortic wall and may be suitable candidates for non-operatively management provided that aortic wall stress and cardiac contractility is appropriately controlled with beta-blockers. Besides, animal studies support that aortic wall injuries limited to the intimal layer are successfully repaired by endothelization in nearly all the subjects ²⁵¹.

Holmes et al. reported the results of a study of 30 patients with ATAIs divided into either a group treated with delayed surgery or a non-operatively managed group with a median follow-up of 2.5 years. In this report, one third of the patients from the non-operative group died within the first 5 days. Moreover, the non-operatively managed patients were significantly older and tended to be more severely injured according to the ISS score ²⁴⁹.

In 2002, Kepros et al. ²⁵² reported a mini-series of 5 patients with conservative management after ATAI in whom the complete resolution of small intimal tears (<20 mm) was achieved by TEE between 3 and 19 days. After a review of non-operative series in the literature, the largest one including 19 patients, Hirose et al. ²⁵³ concluded that the non-operative management of ATAIs may be the treatment of choice in select patients, especially in those with multiple associated injuries or severe comorbidities and in those with an aortic flap < 10 mm.

Caffarelli et al. ²⁵⁴ recently published the early outcomes of 29 patients who underwent planned non-operative management with a survival rate of 97% at a median of 1.8 years (range, 0.9-7.2 years). This study concluded that the deliberate, nonoperative management of carefully selected patients with traumatic blunt aortic injury may be a reasonable alternative for the multisystem trauma patient. However, the serial imaging and long-term outcome results (survival and aortic-related complications) remained obscure.

In a retrospective analysis of the US National Trauma Data Bank from the years 2000 to 2005, Arthurs et al. ²⁶ identified 3,114 trauma patients with ATAIs among 1.1 million trauma admissions. A total of 68% (1,642 patients) were managed non-operatively, 28% (665) underwent open repair, and 4% (95) underwent endovascular repair with associated mortality rates of 65%, 19% and 18% respectively. The patients who were managed non-operatively presented a higher proportion of GCS \leq 8 on admission (66% vs. 24% and 21%, *P*<0.05) and a higher mean ISS (39±16 vs. 36±12 and 37±14, *P*<0.05). Using binary logistic regression, the authors concluded that aortic Mosquera V.X.

repair, either open surgical or endovascular, was the only variable associated with improved survival rates (OR = 0.36; 95% CI: 0.24-0.54, *P*<0.05) when controlling for physiological presentation and associated injuries.

In 2011, Hong et al. ²³⁵ identified 8,269 trauma patients with ATAIs among the *US National Inpatient Sample Database* from the years 2001 to 2007. Although the authors did not report the precise number of patients who underwent conservative management and focused on both endovascular and open repair, the in-hospital mortality rate was higher in the non-operative group (26.7%) than in the open repair (12.4%) and TEVAR (10.6%) groups (P=0.273). The investigators also found that the non-operative mortality rate decreased from 28% to 23.2% (P<0.001) when the period 2001-2005 was compared with the period 2006-2007 ²³⁵.

We recently reported the largest single-centre series with the longest follow-up of definitively non-operatively managed ATAI patients to date ³⁶. It was a 30-year follow-up series that included 66 major trauma patients with ATAIs who were classified according to the type of definitive management chosen (open surgery, endovascular repair or non-operative management). Figure 19 shows the design of our aforementioned study ³⁶.



Figure 19. Modification in ATAIs management since incorporation of emergent TEVAR. This flowchart shows the modifications in patient management since the incorporation of emergent aortic endografting at our institution ³⁶.

The non-operative group included patients who were not initially considered for surgical or endovascular intervention because of patient-family decisions in 6 patients; clinical judgements in 12 low-risk patients, including patients with an intramural haematoma without an intimal tear or an intimal flap <10 mm; and severe associated injuries, advanced age or other severe pre-morbid conditions in 19 high-risk patients. Two patients from the conservative group required emergent surgical or endovascular treatment because of in-hospital aortic-related complications during the first 15 days of hospitalization. The in-hospital mortality rate was similar between the three groups, but with a slightly lower in-hospital death rate in the endovascular group (14.3% endovascular vs. 21.6% conservative and 22.7% surgical groups, P=0.57). In contrast,

the expected in-hospital mortality tended to be higher in the endovascular group according to the trauma scores, although this difference was not statistically significant. Indeed, all of the in-hospital aortic-related complications (free aortic rupture or progression of dissection) only occurred in the conservative group and led to either a switch to endovascular or surgical management or directly to patient death.

With a median follow-up of 75 months, our study ³⁶ showed that patients who underwent non-surgical management had a greater long-term probability of developing aortic-related complications after discharge than those who were treated with surgical or endovascular management (37.9% vs. 0%, P=0.004). We found that the initial type of aortic lesion (HR: 2.94, P=0.002) and a TRISS score >50% (HR: 1.49, P=0.042) on admission were risk factors for a worse long-term prognosis ³⁶. Furthermore, we detected two peaks in the complication rate of the non-surgical group. The first peak occurred during the first week and mainly affected patients with a major or borderline aortic radiological injury. The second peak appeared between the first and third months after the blunt thoracic trauma. Indeed, two patients from the conservative group suffered a critical aortic-related complication (free aortic rupture) between the first and third months after thoracic trauma. Both presented with an aortic intimal tear > 10 mm ³⁶.

The long-term survival rate tended to be poorer in the conservative group than in the surgical and endovascular groups (72.3% conservative compared with 78.2% surgical and 85.7% endovascular at 5 years, P=0.18) (Figure 20)³⁶



Figure 20. Kaplan-Meier survival curves of different strategies of management of ATAI patients. The Kaplan-Meier survival curves for the conservative, surgical and endovascular groups, including in-hospital mortality, show a clear trend towards greater long-term survival in the endovascular group, without being statistically significant $(P=0.59)^{36}$.

In 1995, Pate et al. ¹³ undertook a study to explore whether or not the surgical repair of ATAIs without signs of impending rupture could be safely delayed. The authors reviewed the medical records of 112 patients with ATAIs at the aortic isthmus. Fifty of these patients received medical treatment aimed at decreasing aortic wall stress. Eight patients died before aortic repair, six of aortic exsanguination (all within 4 hours of injury). Of the 77 patients for whom the time of injury was recorded and the aorta was repaired, 36 were repaired within 12 hours of injury and 41 between 12 hours and 24 weeks; none developed an aortic haemorrhage. No patient who received adequate medical therapy died of a rupture of the haematoma. Other major surgeries preceded aortic repair in 33 patients. Pate et al. ¹³ also reported that only 7% of the patients with a

Mosquera V.X.

history of untreated ATAIs developed a chronic thoracic aortic aneurysm. In contrast to that results, our group found that the aortic injury progressed to a post-traumatic aneurysm in 8 (27.5%) out of the 29 patients of the conservative group who survived and were discharged from hospital ³⁶. In fact, all of these post-traumatic aneurysms required late surgical or endovascular repair of the aneurysm during the follow-up period ³⁶.

With the advent of MDCT and in combination with the invaluable data provided by TEE, especially in intubated patients, we currently perform an accurate stratification of ATAIs according to the risk of aortic complications, and an early endovascular repair is performed whenever possible in all ATAIs except for aortic intramural haematomas with no identifiable intimal tears or small intimal tears <10 mm, which are the lowest risk subgroup in which indefinite delay in repair may be allowed ³⁶.

In summary, the natural history of patients who are non-operatively managed has revealed a marked trend towards the development of late aortic-related complications, which may justify aortic repair, even in some low-risk patients. Moreover, the potential for the rapid progression of ATAIs in the same patients mandates serial radiological controls during the first three months after diagnosis and then annually thereafter.

2.7.7. Management of minimal aortic injuries

Minimal aortic injuries (MAI) include intimal tears <10 mm with minimal to no periaortic hematoma, whereas the remaining more severe aortic injuries or significant aortic injuries (SAI) consist of intramural hematoma without intimal tear, aortic transection / intimal tear > 10 mm, and aneurysm / pseudoaneurysm.

Nowadays MAI are being recognized more frequently due to the increasing use of high-resolution diagnostic techniques, especially with the increasingly widespread use of MDCT. In a recently published study ²⁵⁵, we found a 17.3% of MAI among the overall 52 ATAI in major trauma patients. This proportion was higher than the 10-13% of MAI among overall ATAI reported by other authors in other series of MAI ^{11, 116, 252}. In fact, 4 cases were diagnosed using dual slice helical CT during the period 2000-2006, whereas the MDCT diagnosed 5 patients in the period 2006-2011.

We have recently described ²⁵⁵ that the severity of major trauma is not usually lower in trauma patients sustaining a MAI than in trauma patients with SAI. On the contrary, in our series major trauma patients with MAI presented a worse prognosis and a higher expected mortality on admission than SAI patients as estimated by ISS, RTS and TRISS data ²⁵⁵. Aortic injuries with other associated traumatic injuries must be evaluated altogether in the context of the multisystem impairment of major trauma patients given that these associated injuries can be just as lethal as the ATAI. This emphasizes the fact that treatment priorities should be modulated on an individual basis. In our aforementioned series ²⁵⁵, in-hospital mortality in major trauma patients with SAI (30.2%) was slightly higher than in major trauma with MAI (22.2%), although this difference did not reach statistical significance.

MAI may be the most amenable aortic injuries for non-operative management ^{36, 116, 255}. In contrast to SAI traumas, in-hospital mortality in MAI is not usually related to the aortic injury. Some authors have identified the potential adverse evolution of MAI as formation, enlargement, and rupture of pseudoaneurysm; embolism of loose intima, or thrombus; and progressive dissection of the aortic wall ^{116, 252}. In our series, the 85.7% of surviving MAI have spontaneously healed and only one patient has developed a small pseudoaneurysm without reaching indication for surgical repair ²¹¹. Therefore,

management of MAI must be conservative, but performing a close imaging surveillance to early detect a potential adverse evolution of the MAI, highlighting the risk of development of an aortic pseudoaneurysm.

2.7.8. ATAIs in crush trauma

Traumatic aortic injury is not a common injury, but aortic injury as the result of crush trauma is extremely rare ²⁵⁶. Most of the published traumatic aortic injury series ^{15, 22, 32, 78} do not report ATAIs in crush trauma patients but mainly refer to deceleration trauma patients in either vehicle collisions or falls. Even in large series of crush trauma patients, the incidence of ATAI is remarkably low. Out of 215 acute thoracic crush trauma victims of the Sichuan (China) earthquake in 2008 evaluated by MDCT, only 1 patient (0.5%) presented with a traumatic aortic injury ^{257, 258}.



Figure 21. Test images of ATAIs caused by crush traumas. A. CT scan axial slide showing an aortic arch type II injury in a 66-year-old male crushed under a tractor. **B.** Aortography showing a small type I injury in a 34-year-old male crushed under a caterpillar tractor. **C.** CT scan axial slide showing a mid-descending aorta type I injury in a 40-year-old male crushed under a concrete block. The transesophageal echocardiogram (**D**) confirmed a small type I injury.

We published one of the largest series of ATAIs in crush traumas in the literature ²⁵⁶. In our series, 6.8% of all ATAIs occurred as a result of being crushed under weight. Moreover, we found out that aortic injuries in crush trauma patients most frequently present as low-risk injuries and differ from ATAIs of non-crush trauma (deceleration or high-speed trauma) patients not only in radiological severity (Table 9; 100% vs. 43.5% of low-risk injuries, *P*<0.05) but also in aortic location, where the mid- and distal aorta and the aortic arch are more frequently affected ²⁵⁶.

Type of aortic injury	All patients	Crush trauma	No-crush	
	(n=74)	group	trauma group	p value
		(n=5)	(n=69)	
Type I (Intimal tear)	17 (23%)	4 (80%)	13 (18.8%)	
Type II (Intramural	18 (24.3%)	1 (20%)	17 (24.6%)	
hematoma)				0.015
Type III (Aneurysm/	3 (4%)	0	3 (4.3%)	0.015
pseudoaneurysm)				
Type IV (rupture)	36 (48.7%)	0	36 (52.3%)	

Table 9. Types of aortic injury in crush trauma and non-crush trauma patients ²⁵⁶.

A tendency towards a higher rate of rhabdomiolysis, as determined by a higher peak in plasma CPK, and an increased risk of developing ARI in crush trauma patients have also been found ²⁵⁶. Given that renal function can also be jeopardized by either open surgery or aortic endografting and considering the aforementioned higher incidence of low-risk aortic injuries among crush trauma patients, this subset of trauma patients would be better managed by a conservative approach to ATAIs whenever a low-risk aortic injury is diagnosed.

In summary, aortic injuries in crush thoracic trauma patients seem to present in different clinical scenarios to aortic injuries from high-speed thoracic trauma and may potentially require their own distinct considerations. The increased risk of rhabdomiolysis, subsequent acute renal injury and possible acute renal failure, as well as a tendency towards developing lower-risk aortic wall injuries, must be considered when planning the initial management of aortic injuries in crush trauma victims.

2.7.9. Ascending aorta and aortic arch traumatic injuries: a different challenge

The aortic isthmus is by far the most common site of ATAI, but up to 10% of cases of ATAI occur in atypical locations, including the aortic arch, the ascending aorta and the peridiaphragmatic aorta^{10, 32, 78}. Among these atypical sites of ATAI, ascending aorta and aortic arch injuries stand out because of their ominous prognosis. Blunt traumatic injuries of the ascending aorta and the aortic arch present a different epidemiological profile than traumatic injuries at other aortic levels regarding prognosis, management and the number and distribution of associated injuries.

Traumatic injuries of the ascending part of the aorta and aortic arch branches are Mosquera V.X. 105 more common in penetrating trauma, whereas injuries of the isthmus and middescending or abdominal aorta are much more frequent in blunt trauma ²¹. In unpublished series (*Unpublished data, Mosquera, V.X. Under review. See Appendix II*) traumatic injuries of the ascending aorta and the aortic arch represented 20% of the 85 major trauma patients with ATAI included in that series (4 ascending aorta (4.7%) and 13 aortic arch (15.3%) injuries) (Figure 22). This represents a slightly higher proportion of injuries of the ascending aorta/arch than reported in other clinical studies.



Figure 22. Flow chart showing the distribution of the 85 patients enrolled in a multicentre study of ascending aorta and arch injuries by Mosquera et al. (*Unpublished data, Mosquera, V.X. Under review. See Appendix II*)

The site of ATAI was similar in the two multicentre studies sponsored by the *American Association for the Surgery of Trauma* and involved the ascending thoracic aorta/aortic arch in 7% in the AAST₁ study ²⁵ and 5.4% in the AAST₂ study ^{15, 16}. Likewise, Cardarelli et al. published their experience managing ATAIs and reported only 2

ascending aorta and no arch injuries among 219 patients with blunt traumatic aortic injury ²⁵⁹.

In 1990, Eddy et al. ⁷⁶ reviewed a series of 104 patients admitted to Harborview Medical Center with ATAIs over a 15-year period (1975-1990) and reported no ascending aorta traumatic injuries and 7 patients (7%) with arch injuries. In 2006, Cook et al. published a series from the same institution from 2000 to 2005, and only reported 1 ascending aorta and 3 patients (5.7%) with arch injuries among 54 patients with ATAIs ³². The authors suggested that advances made in restraints might be responsible for the reduction in the incidence of ascending aorta and arch traumatic injuries when the two time periods were compared ³².

Aortic arch injuries are remarkably more frequent in autopsy studies than in clinical practice. In a large autopsy series published by Dosios et al., the analysis of time of death with regard to the anatomical location of ATAIs revealed that a greater percentage of victims with injuries of the isthmus or distal descending thoracic aorta reached the hospital alive compared to those injured at the ascending part of the aorta or aortic arch ²¹. This series reported 57 ascending aorta (21.6%) and 18 aortic arch (8.3%) traumatic injuries out of 217 blunt trauma autopsies ²¹. More recently, Teixeira et al. reported a series of 104 fatal blunt trauma victims with associated ATAIs, of which 3% were located at the ascending aorta and 11% at the aortic arch ²².

After demonstrating that the incidence of injury at the aortic isthmus in autopsy studies was lower than that demonstrated in clinical studies, several authors suggested that non-isthmus injuries of the aorta are more lethal ²¹⁻²⁴. Both relevant clinical and autopsy series seem to concur with the very poor prognosis of traumatic ascending aorta and aortic arch injuries. Eddy et al. reported an in-hospital mortality rate of traumatic injuries of the ascending aorta/aortic arch as high as 81% between 1975 and 1990 ⁷⁶,

whereas it decreased to a 33% in the series published by Cook et al. between 2000 and 2005 ³². In our unpublished series (*Unpublished data, Mosquera, V.X. Under review*. *See Appendix II*), the in-hospital mortality rate for ascending aorta or aortic arch injuries was significantly higher than the in-hospital mortality rate for injuries of the isthmus, descending thoracic or abdominal aorta (52.9% vs. 26.5%; *P*=0.036). Indeed, patients with ascending aorta or arch injuries presented a higher mortality rate than expected on admission, as reflected by both significantly higher TRISS (59.7±38.6 vs. 36.6±35.3; *P*=0.20) and ISS (48.2±21.6 vs. 39.4±14.6; *P*=0.048).

In our unpublished series, the survival rate was 46.3% at 1 year, 38.6% at 5 years and 19.3% at 10 years in major trauma patients with ATAIs at the ascending aorta or the aortic arch, whereas the survival rate was 75% at 1 year, 73.2% at 5 years, and 69.1% at 10 years in major trauma patients with an aortic injury at a more distal location (isthmus and descending or abdominal aorta) (Figure 23). A significantly shorter long-term survival was found in patients with traumatic injury of the ascending aorta or aortic arch (Log-rank test P=0.003).



Mosquera V.X.
Figure 23. Kaplan-Meier survival curves of traumatic aortic injuries of the ascending aorta or the aortic arch (group A) vs. traumatic aortic injuries of the aortic isthmus, mid-descending aorta or abdominal aorta (group B) (Unpublished data, Mosquera, V.X. Under review. See Appendix II).

The grave immediate prognosis of injuries located at the ascending aorta and aortic arch is probably the result of frequent lethal concomitant intrathoracic injuries. In our series (*Unpublished data, Mosquera, V.X. Under review. See Appendix II*), associated thoracic traumatic injuries included myocardial contusion and haemopericardium in 41.2% and 35.3% of ascending aorta and arch cases, respectively, but in patients with traumatic aortic injuries at other locations there were only 11.8% and 8.8%, respectively. We also found that the distribution of coexisting extrathoracic injuries was dissimilar between ascending aorta/arch injuries and aortic injuries. Severe head and neck injuries (AIS>3) and spinal cord injuries were more frequent in patients with traumatic ascending aorta/arch injuries. In the group of patients with ascending aorta/arch injuries, the cause of death was directly related to the traumatic aortic injury in only five cases (55%), and head and abdominal injuries were the cause of death in the remaining four cases (45%). This emphasizes the fact that associated injuries can be just as lethal as the aortic injury, and that treatment priorities should be modulated on an individual basis.

During the last decade there have been several substantial diagnostic and therapeutic advances which have changed the management of thoracic aortic injuries. The advent of thoracic aorta endografting and the delay in surgical treatment after the stabilization of associated critical injuries have enabled a revolution in the management of ATAIs in major trauma patients, leading to a reduction in the in-hospital mortality rate in most recent series. However, in no series published in the literature has endovascular treatment been found to improve the prognosis of traumatic injuries of the ascending aorta or the aortic arch ³⁶. Nevertheless, the spread of hybrid surgery, which is gaining use by surgeons treating complex non-traumatic aortic arch pathologies ²⁶⁰, ²⁶¹, may allow surgeons to treat traumatic arch injuries that would otherwise be inoperable and to reduce the operative mortality of such complex traumatic injuries. Although the contribution of aortic endografting to the treatment of traumatic ascending aorta and aortic arch injuries was minor, improved trauma care, pre-hospital resuscitation, the widespread use of computed tomography as a screening tool ⁶⁰ and clinical management with aggressive blood pressure control ³⁶ have reduced the mortality rate of these injuries over the last few years, as reported by several authors ¹⁶, ^{32, 78}

The definitive management of traumatic injuries of the ascending aorta or the aortic arch usually involves an open surgical repair (five cases in our series, 29.4%), which is associated with a significant rate of surgical mortality (one case in our series, 20%) ^{32, 76, 191, 262}. In our series (*Unpublished data, Mosquera, V.X. Under review. See Appendix II*), 12 patients (70.6%) received non-operative management. In general, indications for a conservative approach are low-risk aortic injuries (intimal tear or intramural haematoma without a tear) ^{33, 81} or high-risk patients with severe associated non-aortic traumatic injuries, comorbidities or advanced age. In our unpublished series (*Unpublished data, Mosquera, V.X. Under review. See Appendix II*), among the 12 patients with ascending aorta/arch injuries and conservative management, 3 patients with high-risk ATAI (transection/rupture or pseudoaneurysm) died because of aorta-related complications and 5 patients died because of extrathoracic injuries. Despite significantly shorter long-term survival in patients with ascending aorta/arch injuries, with ascending aorta/arch injuries, with ascending aorta/arch injuries.

none of the 4 surviving patients in this group with low-risk injuries experienced any aortic-related complications thanks to a strict control of blood pressure and cardiac contractility and a close imaging surveillance.

In summary, traumatic aortic injuries of the ascending aorta and aortic arch seem to present a different clinical profile than "typical" isthmus injuries with a higher incidence of both intrathoracic and neurological injuries. Beyond the high aortic-related in-hospital mortality of the ascending aorta and arch injuries, these patients' associated injuries can be just as lethal as the aortic injury, and treatment priorities should be modulated on an individual basis. The advances in trauma care and pre-hospital resuscitation, as well as in diagnostic tests, have improved the poor prognosis of these patients. Although the advent of TEVAR has had a negligible impact in the treatment of ascending aorta and arch traumatic injuries compared to the revolution experienced in the treatment of isthmus and descending aorta, the spread of aortic hybrid surgery may pose an attractive alternative treatment for complex arch injuries.

2.7.10. Management of ATAIs associated with major aortic abdominal visceral branch injuries

Acute traumatic aortic injuries associated with injuries to major aortic abdominal visceral branches (MAAVBs) are an uncommon but highly lethal situation among major blunt trauma patients. The in-hospital mortality rate in this critical subset of major trauma patients can vary between 50% to 100% ^{263, 264}, where exsanguinating haemorrhage is the most important cause of early death ^{265, 266}. The vast majority of this subset of major trauma patients present in shock, with severe physiological compromise

Acute traumatic aortic injuries

and multiple injuries, subsequently developing acute renal failure, abdominal malperfusion syndrome and/or coagulopathy ²⁶⁶⁻²⁶⁸. Intra-abdominal vascular injuries are associated with extremely rapid rates of blood loss and pose a surgical challenge for exposure during celiotomy ^{267, 269, 270}, given the posterior position of the MAAVBs.

The management of injuries to MAAVBs can vary from a conservative to an endovascular or an open surgical treatment. Conservative treatment includes blood pressure control and close clinical (urine output, CPK levels, creatinine serum levels, metabolic acidosis) and imaging (focused assessment with sonography for trauma (FAST) and CT scanning) surveillance.

The advent of different endovascular therapies for the treatment of both ATAIs ^{15, 238-241} and injuries to visceral arteries ²⁷¹⁻²⁷⁶ has enabled a revolution in the management of these catastrophic injuries among major trauma patients, leading to a decrease in the in-hospital mortality rate in most recent series. Early angiography and embolization or stenting for treating an injury to an MAAVB should be initiated at the discretion of the attending surgeon, especially as first staged therapy of life-threatening bleeding, when the uncontrolled bleeding persisted immediately postoperatively after open repair or as an adjunct to damage control.

In the open repair of MAAVB injuries, once exposure and proximal and distal control have been achieved, the routine principles of vascular surgery should be applied, including debridement of the vessel wall, the prevention of embolization caused by a clot or plaques, irrigation with heparinized saline, embolectomy with a Fogarty catheter, arteriorraphy with a monofilament vascular suture or the interposition of autologous or prosthetic grafts, and the initiation of early damage control ^{267, 277}.

An association between aortic wall and visceral artery injuries typically appears in penetrating abdominal trauma and the segment of the aorta affected is usually the abdominal aorta²⁷⁷. However, this combination of vascular injuries is seldom reported in blunt thoracoabdominal trauma. Asensio et al. 277 presented the largest series published in the literature of abdominal vascular injuries, including both penetrating and blunt trauma, with a total of 302 patients. In this series, only 17 cases of abdominal aortic injury were associated with another abdominal vascular injury, most of which occurred in penetrating traumas. The in-hospital mortality rate in these 17 patients reached 82.4%²⁷⁷. More recently, Teixeira et al. reported an autopsy series of 102 major trauma victims with ATAIs, among which only four patients (3.9%) had associated visceral vessel injuries ²². In a recently published study from our institution 278 , we found that 19.2% of the 52 major blunt trauma patients with ATAIs admitted to our institution during the last decade sustained an associated injury to the MAAVBs. Moreover, it must be noted that in half of these patients ²⁷⁸ with associated MAAVB injuries the ATAI was located in the thoracic aorta, being either in the isthmus or middescending thoracic aorta, which differs remarkably from other series.



Figure 24. MDCT on admission and after 1 week in a major trauma patient with associated ATAI and MAAVB. *A***.** Thoracic MDCT axial slide showing the aortic transection at the isthmus level. *B***.** Abdominal MDCT axial slide demonstrating a right renal artery dissection that was conservatively managed because its blood flow improved after TEVAR. *C*. Abdominal MDCT axial slide after 1 week, confirming the improvement in right renal artery blood flow. *D*. Three-dimensional thoracic MDCT reconstruction after 1 week, showing complete exclusion of the aortic injury after TEVAR ²⁷⁸.

Major blunt trauma patients with associated ATAI and MAAVB injuries pose a great surgical challenge. The majority of these patients present in shock, are physiologically compromised, sustain multiple associated non-vascular injuries and significant blood losses, and their mortality rate remains extremely high. Few series have specifically focused on the management of both concomitant types of injuries. In our series ²⁷⁸, all patients with ATAI and MAAVB injuries presented with a severe non-vascular associated injury (AIS>3), at least. In addition, major trauma patients with associated ATAI and MAAVB injuries presented with haemodynamic instability more frequently than patients without combined vascular injuries. In fact, we found that hypotension was significantly more frequent in patients with aortic and MAAVB injuries (100% vs. 66.6%, P=0.04) ²⁷⁸.

Major blunt trauma patients with concomitant aortic and MAAVBs injuries are also associated with high rates of morbidity and require a more hazardous management at the ICU. We found a significantly higher mean peak CPK in the group with combined ATAI and MAAVB injuries than in the group without an associated MAAVB injury (23008±33400 IU/l vs. 3970±3495 IU/l; P<0.001)²⁷⁸. This finding may be explained by an increased tissue necrosis secondary to malperfusion syndrome and rhabdomiolysis in this critical subset of trauma patients. Furthermore, ATAI patients with associated MAAVB injuries presented with a higher rate of ARIs (50% vs. 26.2%, P=0.27), requiring more frequent haemodiafiltration²⁷⁸.



Figure 25. On admission MDCT and aortography images from a major trauma patient with associated ATAI and MAAVB. A. An intimal tear can be observed in the abdominal MDCT axial slide from the time of admission. **B.** The abdominal MDCT axial slide also shows an left renal artery perfusion defect due to an intimal flap. **C.** Emergent abdominal aortography confirms the lack of perfusion in the left kidney. **D.** Control abdominal aortography after the deployment of a 7 mm stent in the left renal artery. Notice the complete restoration of blood flow in the left renal artery ²⁷⁸.

In-hospital and long-term mortality rates in major trauma patients with associated ATAI and MAAVB injuries are higher than in major trauma patients with ATAIs who did not suffer concomitant injuries to the MAAVBs²⁷⁸. Nevertheless, in our aforementioned study ²⁷⁸, we observed that the in-hospital mortality rate tended to be lower than the expected mortality by TRISS in both groups of major trauma patients.



Figure 26. Kaplan-Meier survival curves of ATAI patients with associated MAAVB injuries (group A) and ATAI patients without associated MAAVB injuries (group B), including in-hospital mortality ²⁷⁸.

These satisfactory outcomes in patients with ATAIs, especially in the most critical subset of major trauma patients, are due to a multidisciplinary approach combining endovascular and open surgical techniques for the staged treatment of life-threatening aortic and visceral vascular injuries. The multidisciplinary approach for the management of the latter includes early embolization or stenting, early surgical intervention to control haemorrhaging, damage control, the use of early packing and staged surgical procedures. Several series have reported the use of stenting and angioembolization as adjuncts to the non-operative management of blunt vascular visceral injuries, and/or as means of avoiding surgical intervention ²⁷¹⁻²⁷⁶. In some cases,

we advocate for an early endovascular management, with either stenting or angioembolization of the visceral vascular injury, followed by an open surgical approach ²⁷⁸. According to our experience, nephrectomy may be required after renal angioembolization for grade IV-V of the renal Organ Injury Scale (OIS), as previously reported by other authors ²⁷⁹.

In summary, associated aortic and MAAVB injuries in major trauma patients seem to present in different clinical scenarios. These patients present with an increased risk of rhabdomiolysis, visceral ischaemia and acute renal failure, as well as a higher inhospital mortality rate. A multidisciplinary approach combining endovascular and open surgical techniques for the staged treatment of these life-threatening aortic and visceral vascular injuries is mandatory in this critical subset of trauma patients.

118

BRIEF SUMMARY

In major trauma patients with associated ATAIs, the initial assessment follows the principles of the Advanced Trauma Life Support protocol. In unstable patients, the repair of a contained aortic rupture is third in the hierarchy when addressing life-threatening injuries, where addressing an ongoing haemorrage comes first regardless of the source and the treatment of any intracranial haemorrhage causing a mass effect comes second.

Haemodynamic monitoring and medical therapy should be initiated whenever there is a suspicion of ATAI in a major trauma patient. Medical therapy should include intravenous infusion of a vasodilator to avoid hypertension and the limitation of intravenous fluid infusion. Systolic blood pressure should be titrated to approximately 100 mmHg, and the heart rate to <60 bpm. The first-line medical treatment for ATAIs is intravenous beta-blockers.

Conventional open repair of ATAIs with the interposition of a graft has been the standard with which all other management strategies should be compared; it has been proven to be safe and durable. Risk factors for postoperative paraplegia include increased cross-clamping time, the length of the aorta that is excluded, a low distal perfusion pressure, systemic hypotension, the number of intercostal arteries ligated, increased body temperature and increased cerebrospinal fluid pressure. The simple aortic cross-clamping (clamp-and-sew) technique has been used in the past, but it yielded higher rates of paraplegia than the techniques that use extracorporeal lower body perfusion.

Various perfusion techniques have been developed to reduce the incidence of paraplegia resulting from spinal cord ischaemia. Distal perfusion with the use of a passive shunt (Gott shunt) was found to shunt blood from the proximal aorta to the distal aorta depending on the pressure gradient. The use of a centrifugal pump with heparin-bonded tubing and active partial leftheart bypass does not require systemic heparinization, maintains lower body perfusion, unloads the left heart and controls proximal hypertension, controls intravascular volume and enables active warming in cases of associated hypothermia. A full cardiopulmonary bypass enables active cooling and facilitates a period of hypothermic circulatory arrest, but it requires full systemic heparinization.

Several adjunctive measures can be used to reduce the risk of spinal cord ischaemia, namely, monitoring motor or somatosensory evoked potentials, lumbar cerebrospinal fluid drainage, hypothermia and neuroprotective pharmaceuticals.

Thoracic endovascular aortic repair (TEVAR) for ATAIs is a less-invasive and less time-consuming technique that avoids the potential morbidity of open repair. Paraplegia occurs in approximately 5.6% to 7% of patients after open surgery compared to less than 1% after TEVAR. However, TEVAR has not been prospectively studied for ATAI treatment, and US Food and Drug Administration-approved devices are being used "off label". The follow-up requires CT angiography to be performed during the first postoperative week, at the time of discharge and at 1, 6 and 12 months. Potential complications that can occur after TEVAR include endoleak, stent-graft collapse, stroke, embolization, bronchial obstruction, migration, paralysis, dissection and rupture. Left subclavian artery revascularization must be individualized depending on the status of the vertebral anatomy in patients with ATAI who are undergoing TEVAR. The routine use of spinal drainage is not recommended by current clinical practice guidelines for TEVAR in ATAI, and it should only be used for symptoms of spinal cord ischaemia.

The delayed repair of stable ATAIs, irrespective of the presence or absence of major associated injuries, is associated with improved survival, but also with a longer length of ICU stay.

2.8. The rationale behind predictive scoring in ATAIs

The emphasis on improvements in prediction has become a hallmark of the quest of medical studies, and predictive literature is attracting increasing attention in medicine ²⁸⁰. Nevertheless, the utility of this literature can be hampered by methodological limitations affecting design, analysis and reporting ^{281, 282}.

Multivariate risk models are commonly used to assess the risk of specific cardiovascular diseases. Predictive risk modelling is essential for quality improvement activities in managed care systems, especially in cardiovascular medicine. It serves multiple purposes, such as provider profiling, cost containment, planning of resource allocation, patient counselling, planning of patient management and the construction of efficacy studies. The importance of risk models is such that their reliability and reproducibility in populations other than the one from which they were derived must be absolutely proven. Otherwise, any clinical and administrative decisions based on these models can be critically flawed by their instability in external populations.

Predictive scores are of a paramount importance as screening tools for rare but potentially lethal conditions such as ATAIs in major trauma patients. There are two remarkable facts that must be remembered about ATAIs. First, the vast majority of major trauma patients who suffer a high-degree ATAI (i.e. frank rupture) die at the site of the accident. Hence, the proportion of this pathology among surviving major trauma patients who arrive at hospital alive is relatively low. Second, ATAIs are overlooked at the initial screening in a significant percentage of patients due to the presence of more urgent life-threatening associated injuries such as intra-abdominal haemorrhaging or bleeding pelvic fractures.

The diagnostic performance of a test or the accuracy of a test for discriminating diseased cases from normal cases is evaluated using receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve analysis ^{283, 284}. When we consider the results of a particular test in two populations, one population with a disease and the other population without the disease, we rarely observe a perfect separation between the two groups. Indeed, the distribution of the test results will most likely overlap, as shown in Figure 27.



Figure 27. Selection of a criterion value. The overlap between both populations (with and without the disease) depending on the value of the selected criterion.

For each possible cut-off point or criterion value we select to discriminate between the two populations, there will be some cases where the disease is correctly classified as positive (TP = true positive fraction) and some cases where the disease will be classified as negative (FN = false negative fraction). On the other hand, some cases without the disease will be correctly classified as negative (TN = true negative fraction), but some cases without the disease will be classified as positive (FP = false positive fraction).

One challenge is to demonstrate that new candidate predictors can offer independent, incremental information beyond what is already known based on Mosquera V.X.

traditional risk factors ^{280, 285}. A sophisticated new predictor may have good predictive ability on its own, but it might not improve the predictive ability further when simple, easy-to-measure traditional factors are already taken into account ²⁸⁰.

When developing a predictive score for an uncommon but potentially lethal condition such as traumatic aortic injury, it is vital to strike a balance between a high sensitivity and an acceptable level of specificity.

If a high criterion value is selected, the false positive fraction will decrease with increased specificity but, on the other hand, the true positive fraction and sensitivity will decrease (Figure 28).



Figure 28. Sensitivity and specificity depending on the selected criterion value. The diagram shows that the higher the criterion value chosen, the greater the specificity will be. In contrast, the higher criterion value we use, the lower the sensitivity we obtain.

A low criterion or cut-off value will guarantee a higher rate of true positives (sensitivity) but with a detrimental effect on specificity. Although it may be sensible from a purely clinical point of view, this has led to growing concern about the potentially detrimental effects of obtaining additional images. Patients who are exposed to radiation incur a small associated risk of cancer ²⁸⁶. Patients, institutions and society as a whole assume the added economic burden of obtaining and interpreting these studies ^{127, 287}.

On the other hand, a high cut-off value will miss an important number of positive cases (false negatives) with the inherent risk of misdiagnosing a highly lethal condition, which is not affordable from a clinical point of view.

Regression analysis are the analytic techniques most commonly used for predictive risk modelling. However, the resulting models are only useful if they reliably predict outcomes for patients by determining significant risk factors associated with the outcome of interest. Problems can arise from this dependence on risk factor analysis. Different investigators evaluating the same predictors through regression analysis might obtain different results because of methodological discrepancies and inadvertent biases introduced in the statistical analysis ²⁸⁸. Hence, it is of the utmost importance that all predictive score models are validated before general use.

Like any scientific hypothesis, the generalizability of a prognostic system is tested for accuracy across increasingly diverse settings. The more numerous and diverse settings in which a system is tested and found to be accurate, the more likely it will be able to generalize in an untested setting. Before adopting a new prediction model it is important to evaluate its "generalizability" in two ways ²⁸⁹. First, one should evaluate the "reproducibility" of the predictive model among the patients included in the development model (internal validation). Second, in order to evaluate "transportability," the accuracy of the model's predictions should be examined in a new patient population with the same disease but with different enrolment methods and patient characteristics.

Internal validation can be accomplished by either the traditional training-and-test

method or by the more recent bootstrap method. The traditional training-and-test method for model building, consisting of a random splitting of the database into a derivation set from which the model is constructed and a test set for assessing its calibration and discrimination, might be subject to sampling noise. Bootstrap analysis was recently proposed as a breakthrough method for the internal validation of surgical regression models ^{290, 291}. The main advantage of this technique is that the entire dataset can be used to build the model, enabling the construction of more robust models, especially in moderately sized databases and for rare outcomes (i.e. ATAIs in major trauma patients). Furthermore, the predictive validity of the model can be assessed not only in one randomly split set of patients but also typically in 1,000 new, different samples of the same number of patients as the original database obtained by resampling with replacements. Furthermore, a more accurate confirmation of the applicability of a predictive model in different geographic areas requires an external validation process ²⁸⁹. External validity is assessed applying the predictive model to an independent population, which should be different from the target study population used to build the prediction model.

In our current study the predictive score was designed to rapidly identify major trauma patients at high risk of suffering an ATAI and to provide a framework to optimize resource use and to initiate prompt medical management in order to prevent potentially lethal aortic-related complications. According to the validation requirements of the aforementioned model, we performed an internal validation using the bootstrap method and an external validation applying the model to an independent multicentre database.

BRIEF SUMMARY

Predictive risk modelling is essential for quality improvement activities in managed care systems, especially in cardiovascular medicine. New candidate predictors should be able to offer independent, incremental information beyond what is already known based on traditional risk factors

Regression analyses are the analytic techniques most commonly used for predictive risk modelling. Before adopting a new prediction model, it is important to evaluate its "reproducibility" among the patients included in the development model (internal validation) and its "transportability", where the accuracy of the model's predictions should be examined in a new patient population with the same disease but with different enrolment methods and patient characteristics. Internal validation can be accomplished by either the traditional training-and-test method or by the more recent bootstrap method. External validity is assessed applying the predictive model to an independent population.

3. SCOPE, OBJECTIVES AND MOTIVATION OF THE RESEARCH

The first review of both our institutional results and the literature published to date about ATAI management revealed that long-term outcomes of certain uncommon types of ATAI (crush trauma aortic injuries, minimal aortic injuries, ascending aorta and aortic arch injuries or ATAI associated with other aortic branch injuries), as well as the safety and outcomes of conservative management, were poorly documented. Most studies only focused on isthmic injuries and on operative management, either endovascular or open repair, there being a lack of information about the outcomes of patients with "atypical or non-isthmal" injuries, non-decelerating mechanisms of injury and patients managed non-operatively.

As we have mentioned in *sections 2.7.7, 2.7.8* and *2.7.9* of *chapter State of the art in ATAI*, our previous studies provided a new insight to outcomes of uncommon types of ATAIs, as well as to the results of conservative management. These studies shed some light on important and poorly explored topics about ATAIs in major trauma patients. Our previously published results also suggested that ATAIs are not diagnosed soon enough to start an effective management and to avoid potentially lethal aorticrelated complications in a not negligible number of major trauma patients. Furthermore, the natural history of major trauma patients with ATAI presents a marked trend towards the development of late aortic-related complications, which may justify an early aggressive diagnostic management for risk stratification. This finding generated the main objective of this thesis: the development of an easy, fast and practical predictive scoring method for determining the risk of ATAIs in major trauma patients based on simple data provided by an initial clinical examination and CXR performed on trauma admission. Given that we were going to develop the scoring method using a population

Acute traumatic aortic injuries

of major trauma patients from 1980 to 2010, it was extremely important to externally validate the model in a current population of major trauma patients from different geographical areas. In addition, it became obvious that we required an actualization of our strategies of management and treatment algorithms by combining our research findings with best international practice evidence.

Subsequently, the in-depth research of major traumas and ATAIs in our Spanish region, Galicia, demonstrated that there was little or no information about the epidemiology and differences in prognosis of ATAI among major trauma patients in our area, whose population was 2,797,653 inhabitants in 2010 (data provided by *Instituto Galego de Estadística*: http://www.ige.eu/web). Moreover, it had not been established whether the association of an aortic wall injury modified the prognosis of major trauma patients and to which degree. As a consequence of these unknown factors emerged the need to precisely define the epidemiology of ATAIs among major trauma patients in our region as an additional objective of this thesis research.

In conclusion, we may summarize the objectives of this thesis in as follows:

I. Objective I- Epidemiology of ATAI in Galicia

- Estimating the global burden of ATAIs among major trauma patients in our institution and our region.
- Defining the clinical profile of the major trauma patient sustaining an ATAI in Galicia.

- Assessing the influence of ATAIs on the early outcomes and prognosis of major trauma patients in terms of in-hospital mortality and length of hospital stay in Galicia.
- II. Objective II- Predictive score of the risk of ATAI in major trauma patients
 - Developing a predictive score of the probability of ATAIs among major trauma patients with associated blunt chest trauma.
 - Performing an external validation of the predictive score in a current dataset of major trauma patients to test its applicability at the current time and in different geographical areas.
 - Actualizing our current management protocols for major trauma patients according to the risk of presenting with an ATAI.

4. PATIENTS AND METHODS

4.1. Study designs and patient recruitment

For the purpose of the study, major trauma patients were defined as victims of trauma of sufficient energy to put them at risk of an important injury, associating blunt chest trauma or risk of chest injury, who were transported to a level 1 trauma centre and presented with an injury severity score (ISS) ²⁹² greater than 15, as described in the published literature ²⁹²⁻²⁹⁴.

The major trauma patients who were enrolled in the study were classified into either the ATAI group (associated acute traumatic aortic injury) or the NATAI group (no associated acute traumatic aortic injury).

In order to achieve the objectives cited in the previous chapter, we developed 2 different study designs to accomplish the objectives of our thesis research:

4.1.1. Study design for Objective I (Epidemiology of ATAI in Galicia)

This first part of the research consisted in a retrospective descriptive study of all major trauma patients with blunt chest trauma admitted to a public hospital in Galicia from 2006 to 2010, followed by a comparison of the distinct clinical profile between trauma patients with and without an associated ATAI. We analysed data from all the public hospitals admitting trauma patients in Galicia, namely:

- Complejo Hospitalario Universitario de A Coruña (CHUAC).
- Complejo Hospitalario Universitario de Vigo (CHUVI).
- Complejo Hospitalario Universitario de Santiago de Compostela (CHUS).

- Complejo Hospitalario Universitario de Ourense (CHUO).
- Complejo Hospitalario Universitario de Pontevedra (CHUP).
- Hospital Universitario Lucus Augusti (HULA) (former Complejo Hospitalario Xeral-Calde).
- Hospital da Costa-Burela.
- Complejo Hospitalario Arquitecto Marcide-Ferrol.

Only three of them (CHUAC, CHUVI and CHUS) are the level 1 trauma centres available in Galicia, Spain.

Major trauma with thoracic injury database from the whole Galician region in the period 2006-2010 was provided by the regional health system data department, *Unidade de Codificación Clínica, Servicio Galego de Saude* (SERGAS). This department supports an administrative database containing inpatient admissions gathered from all public hospitals in Galicia that comprises all admissions in Galicia since 2006. The diagnosis and relevant procedures from all discharges are coded by a team of specifically trained physicians. The database was queried for all adult patients (age >15 years old) with blunt thoracic major trauma utilizing the codes from the International Classification of Diseases, 9th revision (ICD-9) (Table 10). According to the internationally accepted definition of major trauma (ISS>15), 1,760 adult (>15 years old) blunt major trauma patients (involving the chest) were admitted to public hospitals in Galicia in the period 2006-2010, of whom 44 sustained an ATAI.

ICD-9 codes screened for identification of major blunt chest trauma patients	
Traı	imatic hemothorax 860.2-860.5
Brai	n injury 850.3-850.5, 850.9, 851-854.x
Hea	rt injury 861.0-861.1x
Lun	g injury 861.2-861.3x
Abd	ominal injury 863-869.x
Maj	or orthopedic injury 805.x, 806.x, 808.x, 820.x, 821.x
Tho	racic blood vessels injury 901.x
	901.0 Thoracic aorta
	901.1 Brachiocephalic and/ or subclavian arteries
	901.2 Superior vena cava
	901.3 Innominate and/or subclavian veins
	901.4 Pulmonary vessels injury
	901.40 Not specified pulmonary vessel
	901.41 Pulmonary artery
	901.42 Pulmonary vein
	901.8 Other thoracic vessels
	901.81 Intercostal artery or vein
	901.82 Internal thoracic artery or vein
	901.83 Multiple thoracic vessels
	901.89 Azygos/ Hemiazygos vein
	901.9 Not specified thoracic vessel injury

 Table 10. ICD-9 codes screened for identification of major blunt chest trauma patients

(ICD-9, International Classification of Diseases, 9th Revision).

In summary, for this first part of the research all the major trauma patients admitted to a public hospital in Galicia between years 2006 and 2010 were enrolled, accounting for a total of 1,760 major trauma patients, of whom 44 sustained an ATAI as shown in Figure 29.



Figure 29. Design of the descriptive retrospective study for recruitment of overall major trauma patients with associated blunt chest injury in Galicia between 2006 and 2010.

4.1.2. Study design for Objective II (Predictive risk scoring method)

The second part of the research was a cross-sectional study of a diagnostic procedure. The development of a predictive score for the risk of ATAI in major trauma patients with blunt chest trauma was carried out in two stages. In the first stage, we analysed the clinical and radiological characteristics of major trauma patients in order to develop the screening tool for ATAIs among major trauma patients. In the second stage, we validated the predictive score in an independent external population of major trauma patients.

In the predictive score development, the overall study population consisted of 640 major trauma patients (all of them with blunt chest trauma) divided into two datasets: a score dataset provided only by the *Complejo Hospitalario Universitario de A Coruña* (CHUAC), and an independent validation dataset provided by other three different institutions: *Complejo Hospitalario Universitario de Vigo* (CHUVI), *Complejo Hospitalario Universitario de Santiago de Compostela* (CHUS), and *Hospital Clinic Universitari de Valencia*. All the participating institutions are level 1 trauma centres. As we have previously mentioned, three of them (CHUAC, CHUVI and CHUS) are the level 1 trauma centres for the whole region of Galicia, Spain.

The design of the second part of the study and the distribution of patients for the predictive score development are depicted in a flow diagram shown in Figure 30.



Figure 30. Design of the cross-sectional study for the development of the predictive score and recruitment for both the score and validation datasets.

As we explain in further detail in the next sections (score and validation dataset), it was required to enrol all the consecutive major trauma with ATAI since 1980 from CHUAC to achieve a sufficient number of ATAI cases to develop the score, whereas we only needed to include all the consecutive major trauma patients with ATAI since 2000 from the 3 independent centres to accomplish the score validation. We sought for a proportion of 4 controls (major trauma patients without ATAI) for each case (major trauma with ATAI). Hence, we enrolled the corresponding number of consecutive controls from each of the participating four institutions according to the number of cases provided by each one to reach the aforementioned 4:1 proportion.

4.1.2.1. Score dataset

The score dataset included 82 ATAI patients who were admitted to the CHUAC from January 1980 to December 2010. However, six patients (7.3%) from the ATAI group had to be excluded from the analysis because of insufficient documentation and/or *in extremis* status on arrival.

In order to achieve four control subjects in the NATAI group per patient with ATAI, we selected 304 consecutive patients who presented to our Emergency Department with major trauma with thoracic involvement but without traumatic aortic injury between January 2009 and December 2010. Control subjects were not contemporaneous of cases due to the lack of an institutional codified database for overall major trauma patients before 2006. Identification of cases did not present that drawback thank to the existence of specific databases for ATAIs at both Cardiac Surgery and Radiology Departments.

4.1.2.2. Validation dataset

In the validation dataset, the ATAI group included 52 consecutive major trauma patients with aortic injury who were admitted between January 2000 and December 2010 at the Emergency Departments of the three aforementioned independent collaborating first-level hospitals. Each centre also provided 4 consecutive NATAI major trauma patients per ATAI patient included in the study. A total of 208 consecutive patients with major trauma with thoracic involvement but without aortic injury were included in the validation dataset from the major trauma patients who presented to the emergency departments of the collaborating centres between January 2009 and December 2010. In the validation dataset, no patient was excluded from the analysis because of insufficient documentation and/or *in extremis* status upon arrival.

4.2. Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Inclusion and exclusion criteria were the same for both parts of the research. Recruitment was based on trauma characteristics, it is, blunt major trauma involving chest, and on the results of at least one advanced imaging test that diagnosed or ruled out the presence of an associated traumatic aortic injury. Only adult patients (>15 yearsold) were considered for the study.

Patients who were dead on arrival or who died during triage were excluded from the analysis. Penetrating trauma was also an exclusion criterion in this study. All participating centres used the same inclusion/exclusion criteria.

There was not a specific matching process for control patient selection apart from the aforementioned criteria.

All institutions have Institutional Review Board approval to participate in the study, which waived the requirement of written patient consent.

4.3. Imaging data

The ATAI diagnosis was based on imaging (CT, angiography and/or TEE) and, when available, confirmation was provided by surgical visualization and/or autopsy. There was no disagreement in the data provided by the imaging studies.

All participating centres used the same CT acquisition protocols for the trauma patients who required advanced imaging from January 2000.

All of the patients had a portable CXR on admission; either the original taken at the level 1 trauma centre during the initial work-up or a copy of the radiograph that was transferred with the patient from the referring hospital. The admission CXR was obtained in the supine position in 97.9% of the major trauma patients in our study.

Our current institutional CT scan protocol for major trauma with suspected vascular-aortic injury consists of a three-phase MDCT including an unenhanced phase, an arterial contrast-enhanced phase and a delayed phase, with 3D reconstructions. The MDCT is performed using 100-120 ml of intravenous iodinated contrast medium at 4 ml/s in order to maximize arterial enhancement. Axial images are acquired at 0.625 mm collimation during the arterial phase from the thoracic inlet to the symphysis pubis and during the portal venous phase. The images are routinely reviewed in the axial and coronal plane at font images and at a section thickness of 1-3 mm. In vascular MDCT, it is mandatory to generate oblique reconstructions that resemble the images obtained in conventional angiography, as well as sagittal, coronal and MPR¹⁰⁷.

Our MDCT scan protocol varies significantly in major trauma patients with no

137

suspected vascular injury. Axial images are acquired at 1.25 mm collimation during the portal venous phase, after the injection of 60-80 ml of iodinated contrast medium at 2 ml/s.

4.4. Variables collected

Data on 96 variables were recorded on a standardized form including information on patient demographics, mechanism of injury, clinical status on hospital admission (blood pressure, respiratory rate, need of endotracheal intubation at the site of the trauma or during transport, Glasgow Coma Scale [GCS]), Injury Severity Score ²⁹², Abbreviated Injury Score (AIS) for each body area (head, chest, abdomen, extremities), Revised Trauma Score (RTS) ²⁹⁵, Trauma Injury Severity Score (TRISS) ²⁹⁶, head and neck injuries, cardiac injuries, nonmediastinal thoracic injuries, abdominal injuries, pelvic fracture, extremities fractures, findings on admission in simple CXR and performed diagnostic imaging tests (CT, angiography, TEE).

The ISS is an established trauma score that defines the extent of multisystem trauma and expected mortality. The ISS is based upon the AIS of the three most injured body regions of the following: head, face, thorax, abdomen and extremities (pelvis included). The AIS describes the severity of the injury to one body region: 1 minor, 2 moderate, 3 serious, 4 severe, 5 critical, and 6 maximal. In this study, major injury was defined as an AIS > 3. An ISS score of more than 50 points predicts a mortality rate of over 50%, while a score of more than 70 points predicts a mortality rate of nearly 100% ²⁹². The TRISS score directly predicts the expected death rate for blunt trauma ²⁹⁶.

When present, aortic injury was classified according to its severity as type I (intimal tear), type II (intramural hematoma), type III (pseudoaneurysm) or type IV

(rupture) ^{33, 81}, and the site of injury was also recorded (ascending aorta, aortic arch, aortic isthmus and mid and/or distal descending thoracic aorta).

4.5. Definitions

The mechanism of injury was classified as: motor vehicle collision (MVC); motorcycle collision (MCC); auto vs. pedestrian (AVP); fall; crush under weight; and others.

A widened mediastinum was defined on admission CXR as a mediastinal width greater than 8 cm and/or 25% of the width of the thorax ^{25, 91-93, 100}. The width of the mediastinum was measured at the level of the aortic knob. The chest width indicates the transverse width of the thorax from the inner rib to the inner rib at the level of the aortic knob.

Hemothorax was defined on admission CXR as a blunting of either costophrenic angle due to the accumulation of >250 ml of hematic fluid considered for drainage ²⁹⁷.

Lung contusion was defined in CXR on admission as a characteristic pattern of consolidation not restricted by the anatomical boundaries of the lobes or the segments of the lung ^{298, 299}.

Pelvic fracture-deformity was defined as an unstable pelvis, open pelvic fracture with violated skin overlying the fracture or a suspected pelvic fracture on physical examination (deformity, bruising or swelling over the bony prominences, pubis, perineum or scrotum or leg-length discrepancy or rotational deformity)³⁰⁰.

Long bong fracture was defined as a proximal long bone fracture suspected by deformity on physical examination.

Left scapula fracture was defined on admission CXR by glenohumeral joint malalignment, angulation of the glenoid neck and fractures of the scapular body, or it was suspected on physical examination by the presence of either deformity, ecchymosis, tenderness and crepitus localized in the area of the left scapula or a "floating shoulder" (when associated with a left clavicle fracture) ³⁰¹⁻³⁰³.

Hypotension was defined as a systolic blood pressure <90 mmHg or the need of fluid and/or inotropic support to maintain a blood pressure of ≥ 90 mmHg.

An abnormal respiratory rate was defined as bradypnoea <10 breaths per minute or tachypnoea >30 breaths per minute.

A GCS below 9 points was defined as the cut-off value for a bad neurological prognosis upon admission.

Head injury was defined as a skull fracture, intracranial haematoma, loss of consciousness lasting more than 24 hours, or a parenchymal haemorrhage of the brain.

4.6. Statistical analysis

The data are expressed as the mean and standard deviation or the median and range where appropriate. For bivariate analysis, the proportions were compared with contingency tables by means of chi-square or Fisher's exact tests, and the Student's t test or Mann-Whitney rank-sum test were used to compare continuous variables.

Relation between the severity of the trauma, defined by the TRISS, RTS and ISS scores, and the different degrees of aortic injury (types I to IV) was tested, using oneway analysis of variance (one-way ANOVA). One-way ANOVA was also used to determine whether there was association between the aortic injury predictive score (TRAINS) and the degree of severity of the ATAIs. A *P* value of less than 0.05 was considered significant 304 .

For the score development, the data analysis consisted of two stages: the determination of easily observable variables and development of the predictive score. In the initial stage, bivariate analysis was used to identify variables with a potential influence on the probability of presenting with an ATAI.

Variables that demonstrated a P value <0.10 were entered as independent variables in a stepwise forward binary logistic regression analysis. During modelling, the variables were removed for a P value > 0.05, and were entered into the model for a P value <0.05 for a maximum of 20 iterations. Thus, stepwise forward binary logistic regression was used to confirm or reject these clinically relevant variables as predictors of aortic injury. The odds ratio (OR), 95% confidence intervals and P values were determined. A P value of less than 0.05 was selected for variable retention in the final regression model.

The second stage was the development of a prediction score that could be used in the clinical trauma bay of an ER department to determine the probability of aortic injury from clinical and CXR data. We decided that in order to be applicable in the trauma setting, the prediction rule would have to be free of complex calculations.

The relative contribution of each variable to the prediction of ATAI was calculated. Point scores were assigned to each predictive variable confirmed by logistic regression by rounding the corresponding regression beta coefficient to the closest integer value (1 to 4) 305 .

The observed and expected rates were compared. The receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve and the area under the curve (AUC) were calculated in order to determine the performance of the model ³⁰⁶. While comparing two or more ROC

curves based on tests performed on the same set of individuals (observational units), it is also important to account for the correlated nature of the data. The DeLong method is a nonparametric approach to analyse such correlated data based on generalized U-Statistics. The method described by DeLong et al. ³⁰⁷ was used to determine whether there were any statistically significant differences between the AUC directly obtained using the beta coefficients provided by binary logistic regression and the AUC obtained from the score where the beta coefficients were rounded to the closest integer value.

The Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit statistic was calculated to assess the calibration of the model ³⁰⁸. The Hosmer-Lemeshow test assesses whether the observed event rates match expected event rates in subgroups of the model population. The Hosmer-Lemeshow test specifically identified subgroups as the deciles of fitted risk values. We considered the model well calibrated when the expected and observed event rates in the subgroups were similar ^{309, 310}.

The Youden index was calculated to measure the effectiveness of the predictive score and to select an optimal threshold value (cut-off point) for the score ^{311, 312}. A Chi-square test was also used to determine which score (from 0 to 12 points) achieved the best sensitivity and specificity.

Both positive and negative likelihood ratios were assessed. A likelihood ratio greater than 1 indicated that the test result was associated with the disease. A likelihood ratio less than 1 indicated absence of the disease. Scores with likelihood ratios of close to 1 had little practical significance as this meant that the post-test and pre-test probabilities were similar. When the positive likelihood ratio is greater than 5 or the negative likelihood ratio is less than 0.2 (i.e. 1/5) then a score is considered to be applicable to the pre-test probability of a patient having the disease tested for to estimate a post-test probability of the existing disease state ³¹³.

We performed both an internal and external-multicentre validation of the score. Internal validation of the aortic injury predictive score was accomplished using a simple (no stratified) bootstrap technique. Bootstrap validation is a method of randomly resampling from a given experimental sample to simulate the effect of drawing multiple samples from the same population ^{291, 314}. Bootstrap analysis was used to formalize the development of the model, removing many of the human biases associated with regression analysis and providing a balance between selecting risk factors that are not reliable (type I error) and overlooking variables that are reliable (type II error), and introducing a concrete measure of the reliability of the risk factors ²⁹⁰. In the bootstrap procedure 1,000 samples were sampled with replacements from the 380 patients of the score dataset. Enter logistic regression analysis was applied to each bootstrap sample. The stability of the final model was assessed by comparing the frequency of occurrence of the variables of the final model in the bootstrap samples. If the predictors occurred in more than 50% of the bootstrap models they were judged to be reliable and were retained in the final model ²⁹⁰. Unreliable variables, if present, were removed from the final model.

In the external validation procedure, the same variables identified as predictive variables of ATAIs in the score dataset were evaluated for a possible association with ATAIs in the 260 major trauma patients of the multicentre validation dataset.

The readers of the score were blinded to the results of the standard tests and the patients' diagnoses.

All tests were two-tailed and the SPSS statistical program for Windows version 17.0 (SPSS, Chicago, Illinois) was used to analyse the data.

5. RESULTS

5.1. Results: epidemiology and clinical outcomes of patients with ATAIs among the major blunt chest trauma patients in Galicia between years 2006 to 2010

During the period of 2006-2010, 44 ATAIs were identified among 1,760 major trauma patients (all of them with blunt chest trauma) admitted to public hospitals in Galicia, with an overall percentage of 2.5%. The yearly importance in terms of percentage of ATAIs among the major trauma patients with blunt chest trauma in all Galician public hospitals throughout the study period is shown in Figure 31.



Figure 31. Yearly proportion of ATAI among major trauma patients with blunt chest trauma is depicted for overall Galician public hospitals.
Acute traumatic aortic injuries

Our institution, CHUAC, admitted 427 major trauma patients with blunt chest trauma during the period of 2006-2010, among which a total of 19 patients (4.4%) with ATAIs were identified (Figure 32).



Figure 32. Yearly proportions of ATAIs among the major trauma patients with blunt chest trauma admitted to CHUAC from 2006-2010.

The mean age of overall major trauma patients admitted to a public hospital in Galicia between 2006-2010 was 50.1 ± 20.5 years. Overall, men comprised 77.2% of admissions (1,392 patients), whereas 22.8% were women (412 patients). There were not statistically significant differences in sex distribution between major trauma patients with and without associated ATAI (84.1% of males in ATAI patients vs. 77% in patients without ATAI, P=0.27). Nevertheless, major trauma patients with ATAI presented a significantly lower mean age than patients without associated aortic injury (41.2±21 years vs. 50.4±20.5 years, P=0.003). The 54.6% of overall ATAIs occurred in major

trauma patients between 16 to 35 years old, whereas the age distribution was fairly more homogeneous through the whole age span among major trauma patients without aortic wall injury. Figure 33 depicts the age distribution in the overall major blunt chest trauma patients and in both groups admitted to public hospitals in Galicia between 2006-2010.



Figure 33. Distribution of age (%) among major overall blunt chest trauma patients (n=1,760 patients), major trauma without ATAI (n=1,716 patients) and major trauma with an associated ATAI (n=44 patients) admitted to public hospitals in Galicia between 2006-2010.

Among the 1,760 major blunt chest trauma patients admitted to public hospitals in Galicia between 2006-2010, the most frequent cause of accident was MVC (850 patients, 48.3%), followed by AVP (487 patients, 27.6%) and falls (199 patients, Mosquera V.X. 146

11.3%). When comparing major trauma patients with and without associated ATAI, despite MVC was the most common cause of accident in both groups of major trauma patients, MCC (29.5% vs. 8.4%) and crush under weight trauma (11.4% vs. 3.1%) were significantly more frequent among major trauma patients with ATAI, whereas AVP was remarkably more frequent among major trauma patients without aortic wall injury (P<0.001) (Figure 34).



Figure 34. Causes of accident (%) among overall major blunt chest trauma patients (n=1760 patients), major trauma without ATAI (n=1,716 patients) and major trauma with an associated ATAI (n=44 patients) admitted to public hospitals in Galicia between 2006-2010. (MVC= motor vehicle crash; MCC= motorcycle collision; AVP= auto vs. pedestrian).

Mean ISS was 30.2±11.8 for the overall 1,760 major trauma patient. Mean ISS in major trauma patients with ATAI was significantly higher than mean ISS in major trauma

patients without aortic wall injury (47.6±18.3 vs. 29.8±11.3, P<0.001). A mortality rate over 50% predicted by an ISS score of more than 50 points was found in 177 patients (10.1%) of the overall 1,760 major trauma patients; in 21 patients (47.7%) with ATAI, and in 156 patients (9.1%) without ATAI (P<0.001). An ISS score of more than 70 points predicting a mortality rate of nearly 100% was found in 9 patients (20.4%) among major traumas with ATAI, whilst an ISS score >70 was only reached by 3 patients (0.2%) among major trauma patients without aortic injury (P<0.001).

The most common site of injury was the isthmus and proximal descending thoracic aorta (56.8%), followed in frequency by the aortic arch (25%) and the mid and distal descending aorta (11.4%) (Figure 35).



Figure 35. Anatomic location of ATAIs. The graph depicts the anatomic location of the aortic injuries in major trauma patients with an associated ATAI admitted to public hospitals in Galicia between 2006-2010 (n=44 patients).

There were statistically significant differences in the anatomic location of the aortic Mosquera V.X. 148

injury, classified in "isthmal or typical" (isthmus) and "non-isthmal or atypical" (ascending aorta, arch, mid-descending and abdominal aorta), according to the mechanism or cause of injury (P=0.046). The isthmus was the most common anatomic site of aortic injury in nearly all the mechanisms of injury, except for the crush under weight. Indeed, ATAIs caused by falls presented a "typical" location at the aortic isthmus in all the cases.

The anatomic distribution of ATAIs slightly differed between motor-vehicle related accidents (MVCs and MCCs) and other blunt trauma cases, outstanding the higher frequency of injuries in the aortic arch (32.3% arch injuries in motor-vehicle accidents vs. 7.7% arch injuries in other mechanisms of ATAI; P=0.18). Regarding crush or non-decelerating trauma, "non-isthmal or atypical" injuries were more common than in decelerating or high-speed causes of trauma (80% atypical in crush vs. 38.5% in decelerating traumas; P=0.07).

The frequencies of anatomic location of ATAIs according to the mechanism of injury are summarized in Table 11.

Anatomic	Mechanism	MVC	AVP	MCC	Fall	Crush	P-value
location	of injury	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	
Isthmus injury		9	2	8	5	1	
		(50%)	(66.7%)	(61.5%)	(100%)	(20%)	
"Non-isthmal or atypical"		9	1	5	0	4	0.046
injuries		(50%)	(33.3%)	(38.5%)		(80%)	

TABLE 11. Anatomic location of the ATAIs vs. mechanisms of the aortic injury. The distribution of the anatomic location of ATAIs, which was classified in "isthmal or typical" and "non-isthmal or atypical" aortic injuries, is compared among the different mechanisms of injury. (MVC= motor vehicle crash; MCC= motorcycle collision; AVP= auto vs. pedestrian).

According to the international classification for severity of traumatic aortic injuries, the 44 major trauma patients with an associated ATAI admitted to public hospitals in Galicia between 2006-2010 presented 11.4% type I (intimal tear), 15.9% type II (intramural hematoma), 29.5% type III (pseudoaneurysm), and 43.2% type IV (rupture) traumatic aortic injuries. A 72.7% of patients presented high-risk aortic injuries (type III and type IV), whereas a low-risk aortic injury (type I and type II) appeared in 27.3% of patients.

Statistically significant differences in the severity of ATAIs, classified in lowdegree (types I-II) and high-degree (types III-IV) injuries, were found among the different mechanism of injury involved in the major trauma (P=0.045). Crush trauma patients presented significantly more frequent low-risk aortic injuries than other mechanism of injury (80% vs. 20.5%; P=0.023). On the contrary, MCC traumas presented a dramatically higher frequency of high-degree aortic injuries. The severity of ATAIs according to the mechanism of injury is summarized in Table 12.

Severity	Mechanism	MVC	AVP	MCC	Fall	Crush	P-value
of ATAI	of injury	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	
Low-degree injuries		5	1	1	1	4	
(types I and II)		(27.8%)	(33.3%)	(7.7%)	(20%)	(80%)	
High-degree injuries		13	2	12	4	1	0.045
(types III and IV)		(72.2%)	(66.7%)	(92.3%)	(80%)	(20%)	

TABLE 12. Severity of the ATAIs vs. mechanisms of the aortic injury. The distribution of the severity of ATAIs, which was classified in low-degree (types I-II) and high-degree (types III-IV) injuries, is compared among the different mechanisms of

injury. (MVC= motor vehicle crash; MCC= motorcycle collision; AVP= auto vs. pedestrian).

There were also statistically significant differences in the severity of ATAIs among the distinct anatomic locations of the ATAIs (P=0.04). The severity of ATAIs according to their anatomic location is presented in Table 13.

Severity	Anatomic	Ascending	Arch	Isthmus	Mid-	Abdominal	Р-
of	location	aorta	n (%)	n (%)	descending	aorta	value
ATAI		n (%)			aorta	n (%)	
					n (%)		
Low-deg	ree injuries	0	3	4	3	2	
(types I and II)			(27.3%)	(16%)	(60%)	(100%)	
High-deg	ree injuries	1	8	21	2	0	0.04
(types III and IV)		(100%)	(72.7%)	(84%)	(40%)		

TABLE 13. Severity of the ATAIs vs. anatomic location of the ATAIs. The distribution of the severity of ATAIs, which was classified in low-degree (types I-II) and high-degree (types III-IV) injuries, is compared among the distinct possible anatomic locations of ATAIs.

Overall in-hospital mortality was 10.2% (180 patients) among the 1,760 major blunt chest trauma patients admitted to public hospitals in Galicia between 2006-2010, whereas trauma patients with ATAI presented a significantly higher in-hospital mortality (17 patients, 38.6%) than those trauma patients without ATAI (163 patients, 9.5%) (P<0.001). Additionally, in-hospital mortality tended to be different among the distinct anatomic locations of the ATAIs, although this difference did not reach statistically significance (P=0.13). Ascending aorta and arch injuries presented both an

in-hospital mortality over 50% (100% and 63.6%, respectively), whereas none of the other anatomic locations had an in-hospital mortality over 40% (isthmus, 28%; middescending aorta, 40%; and no mortality in abdominal aortic injuries). In fact, differences in in-hospital mortality were close to reach statistical significance when comparing injuries at isthmus with "atypical or non-isthmal" aortic injuries (41.2% vs. 58.8%; *P*=0.08).

The median in-hospital stay length for the overall 1,760 major blunt chest trauma patients admitted to public hospitals in Galicia between 2006-2010 was 20 days (range 0 to 875 days). In the subset of trauma patients with ATAI, the median in-hospital stay length was 18 days (range 0 to 115 days), and 20 days (range 0 to 875 days) in major trauma patients without aortic injury (P=0.24).

5.2. Results: predictive scoring method

5.2.1. Description of the score dataset

As we mentioned previously in the chapter *Patients and Methods*, the score dataset included 380 major trauma patients (76 patients with ATAIs and 304 patients without aortic injury). In the overall score dataset (ATAI and NATAI patients), most of the patients were male (84.7%) with a mean age of 43.16 ± 18.27 years, including 28.7% of the patients who were over 55 years. The expected mortality at admission was \geq 50% according to an ISS score >50 points in 11.5% of the patients, while the overall mean expected death rate according to the TRISS score was 22.44 ± 28.63%. All patients had at least one severe extrathoracic injury with AIS >3. Clinical and radiological data were available for all patients in both groups (ATAI and NATAI) and are presented in Table 10.

Variable	ATAI group	NATAI group	<i>p</i> -value
Sex (male)	82.9%	85.2%	0.61
Age	41.33±18.14	43.62±18.30	0.32
Age ≥55 years	26.3%	29.3%	0.61
Mechanism of injury			
MVC	61.8%	39.2%	
МСС	14.5%	14.8%	
Fall	10.5%	26%	0.002
AVP	6.6%	11.5%	
Crush under weight	6.6%° <	8.5%	

Diagnostic tests on admission			
CT scan	68.4%	91.7%	< 0.001
Angiography	42.1%	12.2%	< 0.001
TEE	63.1%	26.9%	< 0.001
ISS	40.45±14.32	29.95±11.03	< 0.001
RTS	5.98±1.71	6.97±1.34	< 0.001
TRISS (%)	38.06±36.44	18.54±24.91	< 0.001

 Table 14. Epidemiological, clinical and diagnostic characteristics of the patients of

the score dataset. The *P* value of the proportions analysis was obtained with the χ^2 test, while the *P* value mean analysis corresponds to Student's *t* test (ATAI group = acute traumatic aortic injury; NATAI group =no associated acute traumatic aortic injury; MVC= motor vehicle crash; MCC= motorcycle collision; AVP= auto vs. pedestrian; CT= computed tomography; TEE= transesophageal echocardiography; ISS= Injury Severity Score; AIS= Abbreviated Injury Score; RTS= Revised Trauma Score; TRISS= Trauma Injury Severity Score).

The locations of the aortic injury in the score dataset were: aortic isthmus, 64.5%; middistal descending aorta, 15.8%; aortic arch, 11.9%; ascending aorta, 3.9%; and peridiaphragmatic aorta, 3.9%.

According to the international classification for traumatic aortic injuries, the 76 ATAI patients included in the score dataset presented 25% type I (intimal tear), 22.4% type II (intramural hematoma), 22.4% type III (pseudoaneurysm), and 30.2% type IV (rupture) traumatic aortic injuries. The one-way ANOVA revealed that there was no relation between the severity of the trauma defined by the TRISS (P=0.77), the ISS (P=0.59) or the RTS (P=0.73) scores and the severity of aortic injury (types I to IV).

Overall in-hospital mortality was 11.8%, whereas in-hospital mortality was 26.3% in ATAI group, and 8.2% in NATAI group. There was a significantly higher in-hospital mortality in the group of patients with ATAI (P<0.001). Causes of death are summarized in Table 15.

Cause of death	Deaths in ATAI	Deaths in NATAI	Chi-
	group	group	square
	N=20 (%)	N=25 (%)	
Hypovolemic shock	7 (35%)	3 (12%)	
Neurologic- brain herniation	3 (15%)	7 (28%)	
Multisystem organ failure	5 (25%)	8 (32%)	
Septic shock	2 (10%)	4 (16%)	< 0.001
Respiratory-ARDS	1 (5%)	3 (12%)	
Cardiogenic shock or cardiac	2 (10%)	0	
tamponade			

Table 15. Distribution of the causes of in-hospital mortality in the score dataset.

(ADRS=Acute respiratory distress syndrome).

There were no statistically significant differences in the length of ICU and hospital stays between the two groups of major trauma patients. The overall median length of ICU stay was 10 days (range 0 to 448 days), whilst the median length of ICU stay in the ATAI group was 16 days (range 0 to 123 days), with 9 days (range 0 to 448 days) in the NATAI group (P=0.11). The overall median length of the stay in hospital was 26 days (range 0 to 587 days). In the ATAI group, the median length of the stay in hospital was 30 days (range 0 to 547 days), with 25 days (range 0 to 587 days) in the NATAI group (P=0.79).

5.2.2. Development of the predictive score

In the first step, bivariate analysis suggested 18 variables having a potential influence on the probability of the major trauma patients in the score dataset presenting with an aortic injury (Table 16). Other 11 different analysed variables were not statistically significant in bivariate analysis (Table 16).

Variable	ATAI	NATAI group	<i>P</i> -value
	group		
First rib fracture	17.1%	8.2%	0.021
Left ribs fracture	69.7%	47%	< 0.001
Right ribs fracture	31.6%	43.4%	0.061
Sternal fracture	9.2%	5.9%	0.301
Left clavicle fracture	11.8%	8.6%	0.375
Right clavicle fracture	2.6%	4.9%	0.385
Left scapula fracture	28.9%	7.9%	< 0.001
Right scapula fracture	2.6%	5.6%	0.290
Pelvic fracture	51.3%	15.5%	< 0.001
Long bone fracture	21.1%	4.6%	< 0.001
Head injury	21.1%	18.7%	0.61
Spine fracture	24.3%	23.7%	0.905
Lung contusion	93.4%	59.9%	< 0.001
Diaphragmatic rupture	9.2%	2.3%	0.004
Cardiac injury	23.7%	5.6%	< 0.001
Liver injury	27.6%	16.4%	0.025

Spleen injury	21.1%	14.5%	0.159
Bowel injury	10.5%	5.3%	0.092
Kidney injury	18.4%	7.9%	0.006
Bladder injury	3.9%	0.7%	0.024
Hemoperitoneum	43.4%	17.8%	< 0.001
Pneumoperitoneum	1.3%	3.3%	0.359
Hemothorax	77.6%	44.7%	< 0.001
Pneumothorax	38.2%	39.5%	0.834
Widened mediastinum	78.9%	24%	< 0.001
Hypotension <90 mmHg	76.3%	19.1%	< 0.001
Altered respiratory rate	59.2%	30.6%	<0.001
Need of ETI	65.8%	32.2%	< 0.001
GCS <9	34.2%	21.7%	0.023

Table 16. Results of the bivariate analysis for the patients of the score dataset.(ATAI group = acute traumatic aortic injury; NATAI group= no associated acute traumatic aortic injury;ETI= endotracheal intubation; GCS= Glasgow Coma Score).

We confirmed that the diagnostic accuracy on admission CXR of a widened mediastinum, tested as a single predictive sign, was limited with a sensitivity of 78.9% and a specificity of 75.9%.

Subsequently, of the 18 potentially influence variables suggested by the bivariate analysis, the stepwise forward binary logistic regression only confirmed widened mediastinum, hypotension, hemothorax, lung contusion, left scapula fracture, pelvic fracture-deformity and long bone fracture on admission as risk factors for the presence of an associated traumatic aortic injury in major trauma patients (Table 17). These variables were assigned a score between 1 and 4 points according to their corresponding beta coefficient provided by stepwise forward logistic regression, which was rounded to the closest integer value (1 to 4), as shown in Table 17. Thus, the scoring method obtained could rank from 0 to 12 points.

Variable	Beta	OR	95% CI for	P-value	Score
	coefficient		OR		
Widened mediastinum	3.42	30.82	12.05-78.81	< 0.001	4
Hypotension <90 mmHg	1.76	5.85	2.26-15.15	< 0.001	2
Long bone fracture	2.15	8.60	2.15-34.31	0.002	2
Lung contusion	1.41	4.12	1.11-15.20	0.033	1
Left scapula fracture	1.34	3.81	1.24-11.69	0.019	1
Hemothorax	1.24	3.47	1.19-10.09	0.023	1
Pelvic fracture-	1.08	2.96	1.15-7.60	0.024	1
deformity					

 Table 17. Results of the binary stepwise forward logistic regression and the

 corresponding score assigned to each significant variable according to its OR. (OR=

 Odds ratio; CI= Confidence Interval).

The ROC curve corresponding to the aforementioned score (TRAINS) presented an area under the curve of 0.96 (0.95-0.98) (Figure 36).



Figure 36. ROC curve of the TRAINS in the score dataset. The ROC curve obtained using the TRAINS in the score dataset presented an area under the curve (AUC) of 0.96 (0.95-0.98).

The ROC curve for the score constructed using directly the non-rounded or original beta coefficients was also calculated. This ROC curve for the non-adjusted coefficient score had an AUC of 0.97 (0.96-0.99).

Using the DeLong method, no statistically significant differences were found between the ROC curves (with and without beta coefficients rounded to the closest integer number) (Chi-square value=2.21; P=0.14) (Figure 37).



ROC CURVE	AUC	CI 95%	S.E. (DeLong)
TRAINS	0.96	0.95-0.98	0.009
Non-rounded Score	0.97	0.96-0.99	0.007

Figure 37. DeLong method for ROC curves comparison. The graph shows the comparison using the DeLong method between both AUC and ROC curves obtained in the score dataset, one of them with original beta coefficients (green curve) and the other with beta coefficients rounded to the closest integer value (blue curve). (ROC= receiver operating characteristic; AUC= area under the curve; CI= confidence interval).

The Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit statistic across the groups of risk was not statistically significant (Chi square value= 13.14, P=0.10; Table 18), indicating little departure from a perfect fit.

		No aortic injury		Aortic	Aortic injury		
		Observed	Expected	Observed	Expected	-	
Step	1	49	48.90	0	0.09	49	
	2	33	32.78	0	0.22	33	
	3	68	67.44	0	0.55	68	
	4	27	26.50	0	0.49	27	
	5	49	47.63	0	1.36	49	
	6	38	36.46	1	2.53	39	
	7	25	31.21	13	6,79	38	
	8	11	11.16	30	29.83	41	
	9	4	1.90	32	34.09	36	

Table 18. Results of the Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test in the score dataset.

A score of \geq 4 points was defined as the threshold value for maximum sensitivity and specificity. It provided a sensitivity of 93.42% (87.19%-99.65%) and a specificity of 85.85% (81.77%-89.94%). Youden's index for a score \geq 4 was 0.79 (0.72-0.86), while the positive likelihood ratio was 6.60 (4.98-8.77) and the negative likelihood ratio was 0.08 (0.03-0.18).

Other cut-off values tested were a score \geq 3 points, which provided a sensitivity of 97.2% (95.2%-100%) and a specificity of 53% (47.34%-58.65%), and a score \geq 5 points, which involved a sensitivity of 74.68% (64.46%-84.9%) and a specificity of 94.74% (92.06%-97.41%).

Figure 38 shows the distribution of the score dataset patients according to the TRAINS results obtained using a cut-off value of \geq 4 points. As can be seen in the

diagram, the five ATAI patients with a TRAINS <4 (false negatives) presented low-risk aortic injuries, which were either small intimal tears or intramural haematomas without intimal tears.



Figure 38. Distribution of patients from the score dataset according to their TRAINS result.

Moreover, the one-way ANOVA demonstrated that there was a significant relationship between the TRAINS score and the severity of aortic injury (types I to IV) (p=0.005), as we may observe in Figure 39.



Figure 39. Means of TRAINS results among the different degrees of severity of the aortic injuries in the score dataset (CI= confidence interval).

In contrast, the one-way ANOVA demonstrated that the severity of the trauma defined by the classical trauma scores (TRISS, ISS and RTS) have no statistically significant relationship with the severity of the aortic injuries (types I to IV). These relationships are shown in Figure 40.



Figure 40. Means of trauma scores, TRISS (A), ISS (B) and RTS (C), among the different degrees of severity of the aortic injuries in the score dataset (CI= confidence interval).

5.2.3. Description of the validation dataset

As we have previously mentioned in the chapter *Patients and Methods*, the validation dataset included 260 major trauma patients from three independent first-level trauma centres (52 patients with ATAIs and 208 patients without aortic injury). In the overall validation dataset (ATAI and NATAI patients), most of patients were male (74.2%) with a mean age of 45.5 ± 19.54 years, including 32.7% of the patients who were over 55 years. The expected mortality at admission was \geq 50% according to an ISS score >50 points in 16.4% of the patients, while the overall mean expected death rate according to the TRISS score was $24.21 \pm 30.52\%$. All patients had at least one severe extrathoracic injury with AIS>3. The data for the patients of the validation dataset are shown in Table 19.

Variable	ATAI group	NATAI group	<i>P</i> -value
Sex (male)	78.8%	73.1%	0.395
Age	37.35±18.13	47.54±19.39	< 0.001
Age ≥55 years	15.4%	37%	0.003
Mechanism of injury			
MVC	50%	36.5%	
МСС	23.1%	13%	
Fall	11.5%	33.7%	0.013
AVP	5.8%	7.2%	
Crush under weight	5.8%	7.7%	
Others	3.8%	1.9%	

Diagnostic tests on			
admission			
CT scan	94.4%	93.7%	0.9
Angiography	30.7%	6.7%	< 0.001
TEE	57.7%	16.3%	<0.001
ISS	38.67±18.29	31.85±14.47	0.004
RTS	6.22±1.81	7.02±1.33	< 0.001
TRISS (%)	31.46±34.63	21.39±29.21	0.055

Table 19. Epidemiological, clinical and diagnostic characteristics of the patients of the validation dataset. The *P* value of the proportions analysis was obtained with the χ^2 test, while the *P* value for the mean analysis was obtained with the Student's *t* test. (ATAI group = acute traumatic aortic injury; NATAI group =no associated acute traumatic aortic injury; MVC= motor vehicle crash; MCC= motorcycle collision; AVP= auto vs. pedestrian; CT= computed tomography; TEE= transesophageal echocardiography; ISS= Injury Severity Score; AIS= Abbreviated Injury Score; RTS= Revised Trauma Score; TRISS= Trauma Injury Severity Score).

The locations of the aortic injuries in the validation dataset were: aortic isthmus, 55.8%; mid-distal descending aorta, 23.1%; aortic arch, 19.2%; and ascending aorta, 1.9%.

According to the international classification for traumatic aortic injuries, the 52 ATAI patients included in the validation dataset presented 15.4% type I, 15.4% type II, 28.8% type III, and 40.4% type IV traumatic aortic injuries

Overall in-hospital mortality in the validation cohort was 15%, whilst in-hospital mortality was 34.6% in ATAI group, and 10.1% in NATAI group. There was a significantly higher in-hospital mortality in the group of patients with ATAIs (P<0.001). The causes of death in the validation dataset are summarized in Table 20.

Cause of death	Deaths in the ATAI	Deaths in the NATAI	Chi-
	group	group	square
	N=18 (%)	N=21 (%)	
Hypovolemic shock	11 (61.1%)	4 (19%)	
Neurologic- Brain herniation	2 (11.1%)	7 (33.4%)	
Multisystem organ failure	4 (22.2%)	5 (23.8%)	
Septic shock	1 (5.6%)	2 (9.5%)	<0.001
Respiratory-ARDS	0	3 (14.3%)	
Cardiogenic shock or cardiac	0	0	
tamponade			

 Table 20. Distribution of the causes of in-hospital mortality in the validation

dataset (ADRS=Acute respiratory distress syndrome).

No statistically significant differences in the length of the ICU and hospital stays were found between the two groups of major trauma patients. The overall median length of ICU stay was 6 days (range 0 to 157 days), whilst the median length of ICU stay for the ATAI group was 5 days (range 0 to 64 days), with 18 days (range 0 to 142 days) for the NATAI group (P=0.11). The overall median length of the stay in hospital was 19 days (range 0 to 449 days). In the ATAI group, the median length of the stay in hospital was 30 days (range 0 to 547 days), with 25 days (range 0 to 587 days) for the NATAI group (P=0.79).

5.2.4. Validation of the predictive score

5.2.4.1. Internal validation

The internal validation was performed using a simple (non-stratified) bootstrap method and 1,000 samples from the 380 major trauma patients of the score dataset. The bootstrap results for the variables included in the binary logistic regression are shown in Table 21.

Variable	Beta	Bias	Standard	P-value	95% CI for the
	coefficient		error	(2-tailed)	beta coefficient
Widened	3.42	0.29	1.32	0.001	2.49-5.15
mediastinum					
Hypotension	1.76	0.15	0.86	0.001	0.72-3.18
<90 mmHg					
Long bone	2.15	0.16	1.02	0.001	0.62-3.95
fracture					
Lung contusion	1.41	0.26	1.41	0.011	0.37-3.09
Left scapula	1.34	0.12	0.92	0.023	0.038-278
fracture					
Hemothorax	1.24	0.07	0.61	0.017	0.19-2.67
Pelvic fracture-	1.08	0.02	0.79	0.028	0.20-2.24
deformity					

 Table 21. Bootstrap results for the variables included in the equation (CI= confidence interval).

5.2.4.2. External validation

Applying the TRAINS model to the validation dataset of 260 major trauma cases revealed an ROC curve of 0.93 (0.89-0.98) (Figure 41). The DeLong method demonstrated that the validation dataset ROC curve was similar to the ROC curve for the score dataset, indicating a good discriminatory power (Chi-square value=2.11; P=0.11).



Figure 41. ROC curve of TRAINS in validation dataset. The ROC curve obtained by using the TRAINS in the validation dataset presented an area under the curve (AUC) of 0.93 (0.89-0.98).

Acute traumatic aortic injuries

The Hosmer-Lemeshow test was not statistically significant (Chi-square= 2.17; P=0.9. Table 22), revealing little departure from a perfect fit.

		No aortic injury		Aortic	Total	
		Observed	Expected	Observed	Expected	-
Step	1	36	35.7	0	0.29	36
	2	49	49.5	0	0.49	49
	3	26	25.6	0	0.39	26
	4	32	32.45	1	1.55	33
	5	26	25.36	1	1.63	27
	6	23	24.36	5	4.64	28
	7	14	14.01	10	8.64	24
	8	1	1.01	15	14.01	16
	9	1	0.16	20	19.99	21

 Table 22. Results of the Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test in the validation

 dataset.

In the validation dataset the score demonstrated a sensitivity of 92.31% (86.1%-100%) and a specificity of 85.1% (80.02%-90.18%). The Youden's Index for a score \geq 4 was 0.77 (0.69-0.86), while the positive likelihood ratio was 6.19 (4.43-8.65) and the negative likelihood ratio was 0.09 (0.04-0.23). Figure 42 shows the distribution of the score dataset patients according to the TRAINS result obtained. As can be seen in the diagram, the four ATAI patients with a TRAINS <4 (false negatives) presented low-risk aortic injuries, which were either small intimal tears or intramural haematomas without intimal tear.





The one-way ANOVA also confirmed that there was a significant relationship between the TRAINS score and the severity of the aortic injury (types I to IV) (p=0.002) in the validation dataset, as we may observe in Figure 43.



Figure 43. Means of TRAINS results among the different degrees of severity of the aortic injuries in the validation dataset (CI= confidence interval).

Conversely, the one-way ANOVA revealed that there were not statistically significant differences between the severity of the trauma defined by any of the classical trauma scores, TRISS (P=0.35), ISS (P=0.34) or RTS (P=0.28), and the severity of the aortic injuries (types I to IV) sustained by trauma patients in the validation dataset (Figure 44).



Figure 44. Means of trauma scores, TRISS (A), ISS (B) and RTS (C), among the different degrees of severity of the aortic injuries in the validation dataset (CI= confidence interval).

6. **DISCUSSION**

6.1. Discussion: importance of ATAI among major trauma patients in Galicia

To date, there is little information regarding the incidence and in-hospital outcomes of ATAIs among major trauma patients in our region. In fact, the precise influence of an associated aortic wall injury on the prognosis of a major trauma patient in our region remained obscure.

In the present study we found that, between 2006 and 2010, the overall importance of ATAIs among major trauma patients with blunt chest trauma in terms of percentage in our institution and in the region of Galicia was 4.4% and 2.5%, respectively. Besides this, the yearly importance of ATAIs in Galicia in terms of percentage was 1.1%-3.3%, whereas it ranged from 2.5%-7.8% in our institution. These findings are consistent with the results of studies in the literature to date. Nevertheless, it must be noted that this study presents a clinical series and that the proportion of ATAIs among major trauma patients is thus underestimated as the analysis did not include those who died due to this catastrophic injuries at the site of accident or the victims who died during transportation. Death at the scene or during transportation is significantly more frequent in patients with an ATAI compared to major trauma patients without aortic injury ^{21, 22}. According to the results of several other reports, only 10% to 20% of patients with blunt chest trauma and an ATAI reach the hospital alive ^{2, 21, 22, 315}. Applying the most pessimistic estimate (of only 10% of ATAIs reaching hospital alive) to the Galician population results in approximately 440 cases of blunt ATAI in Galicia during the period 2006-2010. On the contrary, if we consider the less ominous prognosis (20% of ATAIs admitted to hospital alive), this results in around 220 cases of blunt ATAI in Galicia during the same period. The resulting incidence of this injury in Galicia would be 3 to 6.1 cases per 100,000 inhabitants per year, which is slightly higher than the number reported by other authors such as Feczko et al. ²³, Dosios et al. ²¹ and Teixeira et al. ²².

The graphs (Figures 31 and 32) presented in the *Results* chapter show that, during the period 2006-2010, there was a slight but continual decrease in the total number of major trauma patients admitted to Galician public hospitals per year. This decreasing trend reflects the implementation of vehicle safety and restraint systems (seat belts and airbags), traffic laws enforcement and enhancement of the road environment, but also the enforcement of workplace safety laws and working environment regulations. Nonetheless, the yearly proportion of ATAIs among major trauma patients remained unchanged. Despite the decrease mainly experienced in the total number of road accidents, we can surmise that the lack of decrease, and especially the slight rise, in the proportion of ATAIs among major blunt trauma patients admitted to hospitals is due to the improved survival of ATAI patients who reach the hospital alive as a result of the remarkable advances in trauma care and pre-hospital resuscitation in the last decade.

It is worth to highlight that major trauma patients suffering an ATAI present a different clinical profile than those major trauma patients without associated aortic injury, as we have mentioned in the *section 5.1* of *Results* chapter. The differences in epidemiological profiles of major trauma patients with and without associated ATAI, as demonstrated by the current analysis, refer to the mechanism of accident, the initial clinical presentation, the number and distribution of associated injuries and the prognosis.

Although we have not identified differences in sex distribution between major trauma with or without aortic injury, we have actually reported a significant difference in mean age between both subsets of major trauma patients. Indeed, up to 54.6% of overall ATAIs occurred in major trauma patients between 16 to 35 years old, whereas the age distribution was fairly more homogeneous through the whole age span among major trauma patients without aortic wall injury.

Among the 1,760 major trauma patients admitted to Galician public hospitals between 2006-2010, the cause of accident significantly differed between the subset of patients with ATAI and those without aortic injury. In fact, as we have previously published ²⁵⁶, despite the MVC remains as the main cause of accident among ATAI victims in our series, we have found a higher proportion of MCC, falls and crush traumas and a lower proportion of AVP among patients with ATAI compared to those reported in ATAI victims by other authors in the literature. In both clinical ^{25, 32, 76} and autopsy ²¹⁻²⁴ series, MVC has been identified as the most common mechanism of injury, followed by AVP, MCC, and falls. Furthermore, crush trauma with resulting ATAI is extremely rare in other published series. In Table 23, we compare our results regarding the cause of accident with those reported by other authors.

Author	Year	MVC	AVP	MCC	Falls	Crush	Others
		(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)
Parmley et al. ²	1958	57.1%	5.8%	1.5%	8.8%	1.8%	9.1%
(n= 273 pts)							
Eddy et al. ⁷⁶	1990	71.1%	7.7%	17.3%	3.8%	0	0
(n=108 pts)							
Feczko et al. ²³	1992	72%	12%	8%	5%	2%	3%
(n=142 pts)							

Fabian et al. ²⁵	1997	81%	6.9%	6.9%	2.6%	0	2.6%
(n=274 pts)							
Burkhart et al. ²⁴	2001	68%	40%	19%	10%	0	2%
(n=242 pts)							
Cook et al. ³²	2006	60.4%	17%	13.2%	7.5%	0	1.9%
(n=53 pts)							
Teixeira et al. ²²	2011	52%	37.3%	6.9%	2.9%	0	1%
(n=102 pts)							
Mosquera et al.	2011	40.9%	6.8%	29.5%	11.4%	11.4%	0
(Current series							
n=44 pts)							

Table 23. Comparison of our results with those previously published in the literature regarding the distribution of causes of accident among major trauma with ATAI.

We have not only identified significant differences in the mechanism of injury between our series and current literature but also in the anatomic features of the aortic wall injury regarding its location and severity. Among the 44 major trauma patients with ATAI admitted to Galician public hospitals between 2006-2010, the anatomic location of the aortic injuries differed to the reported in most of the clinical series published in the literature hitherto ^{25, 32, 76}. In fact, we have identified a 43.2% of "atypical or non-isthmal" aortic injuries, which is significantly higher than the 7% to 15% reported in other clinical series ^{25, 32, 76}, which also presented a proportion of injuries at the aortic arch below 6% ^{25, 32, 76}. Moreover, when comparing the distribution of the site of aortic injury in our series with the anatomic location reported in the autopsy series ²¹⁻²⁴ Mosquera V.X.

reflected in Table 5 in section 2.4.3 of State of the art chapter, we found a remarkably higher proportion of aortic injuries at the aortic arch (25%) than the 2% to 11% published in the aforementioned autopsy series. It is also worth to mention that this higher proportion of "atypical or non-isthmal" aortic injuries is related to the higher proportion of non-deceleration mechanism of trauma (i.e. crush injuries) found in our series. We have previously published ²⁵⁶ that non-deceleration or non-high speed traumas usually present non-isthmal aortic wall injuries, especially at the level of the aortic arch and the distal descending and abdominal aorta. Actually, aortic injuries in crush thoracic trauma patients seemed to present in a different clinical scenario from aortic injuries in high-speed or deceleration thoracic trauma thus requiring distinct considerations ²⁵⁶. In the aforementioned study, we found that aortic injuries in crush trauma had associated an increased risk of rhabdomiolysis (mean peak CPK levels in crush trauma ATAIs 7598±3690 IU/L vs. 3645±2506 IU/L in high-speed trauma ATAIs; P=0.041) and subsequent acute renal injury (100% vs. 36.2%; P=0.018), as well as a tendency to develop lower-risk aortic wall injuries (100% in crush patients vs. 43.5% in non-crush patients, P=0.04)²⁵⁶. The in-hospital a long-term outcomes of patients suffering an ATAI as a result of a crush trauma turned to be remarkably more benign that in high-speed trauma.

The 72.7% of the 44 major trauma patients with ATAI admitted to Galician public hospitals between 2006-2010 presented a high-risk aortic wall injury (dissection/transection, pseudoaneurysm or frank rupture; types III-IV), whilst the 27.3% developed a low-risk injury (intimal tear <10 mm or hematoma; types I-II). In both multicenter prospective studies of the *American Association for the Surgery of Trauma*, AAST₁ ²⁵ and AAST₂ ¹⁶, the proportion of low-risk ATAIs was 11.4% and 20.2%, respectively. Other clinical recent series have also reported an incidence of low-

risk ATAIs from 10% to 14% ^{32, 33, 116}. Therefore, our series presents a not negligible proportion of low-risk aortic wall injuries, which is higher that the reported by previous authors. We may explain this finding again by the higher frequency of non-deceleration and crush traumas in our series and by the widespread use of MDCT in major trauma patients in Galicia institutions since 2006-2007, which has proven a much higher accuracy in diagnosing minimal aortic injuries ^{10, 11, 255}. The clinical significance of those injuries still remains obscure and will require further imaging surveillance, as we will comment in advance in *section 6.2* of *Discussion*.

According to our results, major trauma patients sustaining an ATAI present a more ominous prognosis than those without aortic injury, as reflected by a significant difference in in-hospital mortality (38.6% vs. 9.5%; P<0.001). Furthermore, regarding major trauma with ATAIs, in-hospital mortality tended to be different among the distinct anatomic locations of the aortic injuries. Indeed, "atypical or non-isthmal" locations as the ascending aorta and the aortic arch presented a significantly higher inhospital mortality and a worse prognosis.

Furthermore, in the second part of the current research, the development of the TRAINS score commented in *section 6.2* of *Discussion*, we reassured that major trauma patients with associated ATAI had a much higher expected mortality on admission as calculated by TRISS scores in both the score dataset ($38.06\pm36.44\%$ vs. $18.54\pm24.91\%$; *P*<0.001) and in the validation dataset ($31.46\pm34.63\%$ vs. $21.39\pm29.21\%$; *P*=0.055). In fact, patients with ATAI from both dataset presented more frequently haemodynamic instability and critical status on admission as reflected by a significantly higher proportion of hypotension, need of ETI at site of accident or during transportation and GCS <9. Altogether explains the significantly higher in-hospital mortality found in major trauma patients with aortic injury. In addition, in the current study, trauma

patients with ATAI had a much higher proportion of severe abdominal injuries (AIS>3) and severe head injuries (AIS>3). Initial hypotension, severe abdominal injuries and severe head injuries were found to be independent predictors of death in trauma patients with ATAIs by other authors in recent literature ²⁶.

The most frequent cause of death among the patients with an ATAI was aorticrelated, either hypovolemic shock or cardiac tamponade, secondary to a ortic rupture, or the less common presentation of multisystem organ failure secondary to a malperfusion syndrome. This finding is in accordance with the results of a previous study published by us ³⁶, in which we found that up to the 37.9% of the major trauma patients with nonoperatively managed ATAIs developed an aortic-related complication that required surgery or caused the patient's death. In that study we identified two peaks in the rate of complications of conservatively managed ATAIs during the first week and between the first and third months after blunt thoracic trauma ³⁶. Mantel-Cox regression confirmed that the initial type of aortic lesion (HR: 2.94, *P*=0.002) and a TRISS score >50% on admission (HR: 1.49, *P*=0.042) were risk factors for the appearance of potentially lethal aortic-related complications in major trauma patients with ATAIs ³⁶. The results of that study showed that the natural history of patients with ATAIs presents a marked trend towards developing late aortic-related complications, which stresses the importance of a prompt diagnosis and specific management ³⁶.

In Galicia, the "atypical" characteristics of the major trauma patients with associated ATAI in terms of mechanism of accident, location and severity of the aortic injuries probably obey to demographic characteristics of Galician population, occurring a high proportion of the accidents in rural areas due to certain occupational activities such as cattle-related activities, forestry and tractor and forklift truck accidents.
6.2. Discussion: TRAINS predictive scoring method

This research presents for the first time in the literature a predictive scoring method for ATAIs in major blunt chest trauma patients, which was externally validated in a multicentre study, based on simple variables easy to obtain in the emergency room and proven remarkable both sensitivity and specificity.

The score and the associated algorithm have been designed to rapidly identify major trauma patients at high risk of suffering an ATAI and to provide a framework to optimize resources use and to initiate a prompt medical management to prevent potentially lethal aortic-related complications.

Acute traumatic aortic injury, which is among the most lethal cardiovascular catastrophes, is rarely suspected in major trauma patients upon initial evaluation. Nowadays, the management of ATAIs has evolved thanks to the advent of MDCT and other advances in imaging technology ⁶⁰, clinical management with aggressive control of both blood pressure and cardiac contractility for patients who reach the hospital alive ¹², the shift toward the use of aortic endovascular repair techniques ¹⁵, and the institution of delayed surgical treatment after other associated critical injuries have been stabilized ¹⁶. Nevertheless, an important number of patients may not completely benefit of all the advances achieved in the ATAI management because of a delay in the diagnosis of aortic injury, which may lead to catastrophic aortic-related complications ³⁶. Furthermore, the imaging diagnosis of some ATAI requires a specific arterial MDCT with MPR or an IVUS study ^{10, 11}. On the other hand, if every major trauma patient undergoes an arterial MDCT with MPR for a potential ATAI, the cost and level of radiation exposure would be prohibitive. Indeed, nowadays some concerns ^{123, 124} have

been raised about excess diagnostic radiation exposure during high-resolution imaging diagnosis as we have previously commented in the *chapter 2.6.2.3 of the State of the art in ATAIs*. Recent studies have proven that a typical patient with traumatic injuries who undergoes irradiation at a young age incurs an increased cumulative lifetime risk of developing cancer ¹²³.

In daily practice, on admission CXR is used to provide data to guide suspicion of ATAIs in major trauma patients. A widened mediastinum ¹⁰⁰ and variations such as a left mediastinal width ≥ 6 cm or more and a mediastinal width ratio $\geq 0.60^{-94}$, as well as other CXR findings (rightward tracheal, esophageal, and/or nasogastric tube deviation; left mainstem bronchus depression; and a left apical cap 96, 97, 99) are frequently associated with the diagnosis of an ATAI and are used in the decision to proceed to more advanced imaging tests. Nonetheless, although combining the most sensitive radiographic signs may improve sensitivity up to 90% in certain series, there is a simultaneous decrease in specificity (even <50%) which fails to provide a sufficient negative predictive value to avoid the performance of unnecessary imaging tests ^{60, 100}. In addition, it has been reported in the literature that up to 30% of patients with ATAIs may not present mediastinal abnormalities 97, 316. On the contrary, patients with mediastinal haemorrhage have no more than a 20% probability of major thoracic vascular injury¹¹³. The vast majority of major trauma patients (97.9% of the patients in our study) had a CXR taken in the supine position using portable imaging equipment. Thus, in a significant number of cases, the interpretation of CXR findings in major trauma patients may be difficult due to the poorer technical quality of supine radiographs taken using portable equipment, including aspects such as patient's rotation, degree of inspiration, and adequacy of radiographic penetration, and each of these technical shortcomings can produce invalid signs of ATAIs ^{92, 100}. In fact, in our

study the accuracy on admission CXR of a widened mediastinum (greater than 8 cm and/or 25% of the width of the thorax), tested as a single predictive sign, was limited with a sensitivity of 78.9% and a specificity of 75.9% in the score dataset. It was clear that in order to improve on the relatively low accuracy of CXR for the detection of ATAIs, a more specific screening test was necessary. In our analysis, the betacoefficient of a widened mediastinum provided by the binary stepwise forward logistic regression was 3.42 (Table 17). That result involved that, after rounding its betacoefficient to the closest integer value, a widened mediastinum would have received an assigned score of 3 points. Such score would entail i.e. to completely ignore a large mediastinum on a hypothetic trauma patient with a score < 4, a practice which is clearly against the current standard of care and of almost impossible implementation. That is the reason why a widened mediastinum was forced to entail a positive test by itself (it is, score ≥ 4), being rounded to 4 rather than 3 points. Furthermore, all the patients with ATAI and widened mediastinum in the score dataset presented another associated risk factor apart from the widened mediastinum, which altogether would have anyway entailed a positive test (true positives): 95% of lung contusion; 73.3% of hemothorax; 76.7% of hypotension; 21.6% long bone fracture; 51.7% of pelvic fracture and 25% of left scapula fracture. It means that, even assigning 3 points to a widened mediastinum, all the patients with ATAI and a widened mediastinum would have equally scored 4 or more points in the TRAINS score; thus, obtaining anyway a positive test and remaining as true positives. On the contrary, all major trauma patients without an ATAI and with widened mediastinum presented another associated predictive factor, resulting again in positive tests (false positives). This subgroup of patients, NATAI with widened mediastinum, presented a 94.5% of lung contusion; 75.3% of hemothorax; 54.8% of hypotension; 23.3% of pelvic fracture; 8.2% of left scapula fracture and 1.4% long bone

fracture. We may surmise then that the rounding performed to the variable widened mediastinum would not have somehow jeopardized the accuracy and internal validity of the test.

Even considering such modification, we developed a highly predictive but easy scoring method based on clinical and CXR data with a sensitivity of 93.4% (87.2%-99.6%) and a specificity of 85.9% (81.8%-89.9%) in our centre population (score dataset) and with a sensitivity of 92.3% (86.1%-100%) and a specificity of 85.1% (80%-90.2%) after an independent external multicentre validation process (validation dataset).

When developing a predictive score for an uncommon but potentially lethal condition such as the traumatic aortic injury, it is vital to strike a balance between a high sensitivity and an acceptable specificity, which in our study was achieved by using a cut-off value of \geq 4 points. Moreover, a small number of false negatives were obtained using this cut-off value of \geq 4 points, with five patients (1.8%) in the score dataset and four patients (2.2%) in the validation dataset, where all of them had small intimal tears or intramural hematomas (types I-II injuries). Furthermore, even if we analyse only the accuracy of TRAINS score among low degree aortic injuries (types I-II), the sensitivity and the specificity of the score remain as high as 86.1% and 85.9%, respectively.

As other authors have found ¹¹⁶, the conventional trauma risk scores (ISS, RTS and TRISS) failed to show statistical relationship between the severity of the trauma and the degree of severity of the aortic injury (types I to IV) in both datasets. Thus, the conventional trauma severity scores are useless to raise diagnostic suspicion of ATAI. On the contrary, the TRAINS score has proven to be related with the severity of the aortic injury in both datasets. In fact, the greater the TRAINS score, the more severe the aortic injury.

Mosquera V.X.

In order to enable a prompt identification of major trauma patients at risk of suffering a potentially lethal aortic injury, we currently recommend that all patients with a TRAINS score \geq 4 undergo an optimal medical control of cardiac contractility, blood pressure and heart rate, and advocate a specific aortic MDCT protocol combined with a TEE; the latter especially in unstable and/or intubated patients. Medical therapy should include intravenous infusion of a vasodilator to avoid hypertension and limited intravenous fluid infusion once the systolic blood pressure exceeds 100 mmHg. Betablockers are the drugs of choice for initial medical stabilization because they control both the heart rate and blood pressure ¹⁴. The systolic blood pressure should be titrated to approximately 100 mmHg, and the heart rate to <60 bpm $^{12-14}$. This practice may only deviate in the respect that patients with evidence of increased intracranial pressure must be considered immediate operative candidates if other factors permit in order to prevent secondary brain injury associated with the decrease in cerebral perfusion pressure that accompanies hypotensive medical therapy ³². Likewise, patients with a score ≥ 4 (high risk of ATAI) should undergo a three-phase vascular MDCT from the thoracic inlet to the symphysis pubis including an unenhanced phase, an arterial contrast-enhanced phase, and a venous or portal phase. Whenever the score is ≥ 4 it is mandatory to generate oblique reconstructions that resemble the images obtained in conventional angiography, as well as sagittal, coronal and MPR¹⁰⁷. In contrast, patients with a score <4 (low-risk of ATAI) should be managed with simple CXRs, data from extended focused assessment with sonography for trauma (eFAST) and, when indicated due to a suspected non-aortic injury (i.e. a non-vascular thoracic injury or an intraabdominal solid organ injury), a less aggressive thoracic or thoraco-abdominopelvic protocol of two-phase MDCT. The latter minimizes the contrast and radiation exposure of the patient compared to a three-phase vascular MDCT. Using a standard trauma (non

specific arterial) MDCT scan protocol without MPR, some high degree ATAI can be diagnosed, but up to 10-20% of less severe aortic injuries ¹¹⁶ can be missed. Although low degree aortic injuries usually do not pose a life-threatening risk at the moment of trauma admission, its long-term natural history is not well-known. Those less severe aortic injuries may spontaneously resolve, remain stable on imaging controls or, on the contrary, lead to potential adverse consequences as formation, enlargement and rupture of pseudoaneurysm; embolism of loose intima, or thrombus; or progressive dissection of the aortic wall ^{33, 36, 81, 116, 220, 252, 255, 317}.

Other alternative cut-off values such as a score of ≥ 5 points were rejected because, despite providing a higher specificity (94.7%), the decrease in sensitivity (74.7%) would probably mean that the diagnosis of a significant number of traumatic aortic injuries would be missed, which is not affordable from a clinical point of view. Conversely, a cut-off value of ≥ 3 points with a higher sensitivity (97.2%) presented an unacceptably low specificity (53%), which would involve the overuse of advanced thoracic imaging tests (TEE, MDCT) in a large number of patients without aortic injury (false positives). Thus, a score with a low specificity might entail an unnecessary increase in hospital resources (e.g., intensive care unit surveillance) and financial costs and, moreover, unnecessary and deleterious exposure to nephrotoxic contrast agents and radiation.

We have proposed an algorithm for the management of any patient with major blunt chest trauma and a high risk of ATAIs combining TRAINS with the international recommendations for advanced imaging tests ^{10, 11} and medical therapy ¹²⁻¹⁴ (Figure 45).

Mosquera V.X.



Figure 45. Algorithm for management of major trauma patients with ATAI. This proposed algorithm for the management of any patient with major blunt chest trauma and with a high risk of ATAIs has been designed according to the international recommendations for advanced imaging tests ^{10, 11} and medical therapy ¹²⁻¹⁴. (BP= blood pressure; HR= heart rhythm; RR: respiratory rate; CXR= chest X-ray; eFAST= extended focused assessment with sonography for trauma; MDCT= multidetector computed tomography).

Although other authors examined clinical factors that might be associated with aortic injury, our research is different from previous works for several reasons. First, we used a study design with four NATAI control patients per ATAI patient, thereby greatly increasing the statistical power of the study for the relatively uncommon ATAI. Second, in addition to measuring the clinical predictors separately, we used binary logistic regression to determine whether or not each factor was a predictor, even accounting for the effects of all of the other predictors. Third, and of the utmost importance, we developed a methodologically rigorous yet easy, fast and simple predictive scoring system for traumatic aortic injury, which, to the best of our knowledge, is the first one to be independently validated in a multicentre study. It is worth emphasizing that the process of external validation is of paramount importance for checking the validity of a predictive model across other geographic areas ³¹⁸.

Apart from the previously mentioned CXR findings suggestive of ATAI described by other authors ^{94, 96, 97, 99, 100}, clinically relevant correlations have been reported between non-mediastinal injuries and ATAIs in both clinical and autopsy series. Fabian et al. ²⁵ pointed out the fact that 93 (33.9%) of the 274 patients with ATAIs who were enrolled in a multicentre trial sponsored by the *American Association for the Surgery of Trauma* (AAST₁) presented pelvic or long bone fractures. More recently, in a clinical series, Cook et al. ³² described the incidence of associated injuries among 53 patients with an ATAI: 22.6% of myocardial contusions, 49.6% of pulmonary injuries, 45.3% pelvic injuries and 50.9% of long bone fractures.

After reviewing 275 cases of blunt ATAIs, Parmley et al.² found that 38% of these patients had an associated cardiac injury. This classic study also found that 80% of the patients with combined aortic and cardiac injuries and more than one half of the patients with an aortic injury had sustained additional injuries that were severe enough

to cause their deaths 2 .

In an autopsy series of 242 fatal ATAI victims reported by Burkhart et al. ²⁴, associated lung injuries and lower extremity fractures were present in 53% and 43% of the cases, respectively. Likewise, in a more recent series of 304 autopsies from blunt trauma in which 102 (34%) ATAIs were identified, Teixeira et al. ²² found that patients with ATAIs were significantly more likely to have other associated injuries: cardiac injury (44% vs. 25%, P = 0.001), hemothorax (86% vs. 56%, P < 0.001), pelvic fracture (40% vs. 26%, P = 0.014), rib fractures (86% vs. 72%, P = 0.006) and intra-abdominal injury (74% vs. 49%, P < 0.001) compared with patients without ATAI.

In our study, patients with ATAIs were significantly more likely to have a wide range of associated injuries when compared to major trauma patients who did not sustain aortic injuries. In fact, many of the coexisting injuries of blunt major chest trauma patients in both the ATAI and NATAI groups were comprised of extrathoracic trauma. At least one severe (AIS>3) extrathoracic injury was recorded in all the trauma patients included in our study. Therefore, our experience is consistent with the results of studies in the literature in many respects, whilst also providing some new insights into combining radiological and clinical findings to improve the diagnosis and management of ATAIs.

Blackmore et al.⁸⁷ published a traumatic aortic injury prediction rule based on a single-centre retrospective case-control study. Although innovative, this study presented several shortcomings; for example, the number of cases was very low, with only 31 patients with an ATAI. Because none of the simple predictors reached statistical signification in the logistic regression analysis, the authors had to resort to composite predictors, which jeopardized the utility of the prediction rule in an Emergency or Trauma Department. Besides this, the study lacked an external validation in other

populations to ensure generalizability.

In fact, a more recent re-evaluation of those clinical predictors by Kirkham et al. ⁸⁸ showed that only four factors (abdominopelvic injury, thoracic injury, hypotension, and being unrestrained) were actually predictive. Furthermore, the combination of three or four factors only resulted in a 2% chance of an ATAI ⁸⁸.

One factor with our model that differs from previous ones is that all types of mechanisms of blunt major trauma were analysed and their potential influence as risk factors for traumatic aortic injury was assessed. Although we found that the variable MVC was statistically significant on bivariate analysis, the logistic regression analysis did not confirm it as a potential risk factor for traumatic aortic injury.

The CXR obtained during the initial assessment at the trauma bay, in combination with the clinical examination, remains the gold standard for the diagnosis of suspected traumatic aortic injuries.

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first predictive scoring method of ATAIs in major trauma patients to be externally validated in a multicentre study. Apart from both an internal and external multicentre validation, the strength of our research lays in the fact that comprehensive data points were analysed in order to answer a clinically relevant question. The variables included in the final score are easily determined upon clinical examination and CXR and are therefore ready while the patient is still in the trauma bay. This method also overcomes a weakness present in other models that use variables such as AIS scores from each body region, which are dependent on the performance of advanced image tests ¹²⁷.

On the other hand, the TRAINS algorithm may enable optimization of the use of clinical and diagnostic resources to provide an early and accurate diagnosis of patients at a high risk of ATAI, reducing admission costs and the exposure to nephrotoxic

contrast agents and radiation in low-risk patients. Besides, TRAINS score is able to raise suspicion of ATAI even in trauma cases with low-degree aortic injuries, thus recommending the performance of a specific arterial MDCT with MPR and avoiding the misdiagnosis of aortic injuries.

6.3. Limitations

There are limitations with our model that need to be considered, including the limitations inherent in any retrospective study. The model only includes the variables available in our dataset; there may be other more complex variables that could potentially influence the diagnosis but which are not routinely collected. Consequently, as the purpose of this model is to guide clinicians prior to the development of definitive diagnosis techniques, such factors would be impossible to predict. Finally, the score dataset was obtained from a long time period during which substantial diagnostic and therapeutic advances were incorporated. Hence, we must admit a potential non-contemporaneous control (major trauma patients without ATAI) bias because control patients were obtained from the period 2009-2010. Nevertheless, we consider that using a more recent control group decreases the chance of missclasification (i.e. including as controls patients with aortic lesions), a positive value for the control group.

The rounding of the variable widened mediastinum to 4 points might jeopardize the score from a pure statistical point of view, but this modification improves the applicability of the score in the everyday clinical practice. All the patients with ATAI and widened mediastinum in the score dataset presented another associated risk factor. It means that, even assigning 3 points to a widened mediastinum, all the patients with ATAI and a widened mediastinum would have equally scored 4 or more points in the TRAINS score; thus, obtaining anyway a positive test (true positives). On the contrary, all NATAI patients with widened mediastinum presented another associated predictive factor, resulting anyway in positive tests (false positives). Therefore, the rounding performed in a widened mediastinum would not have somehow jeopardized the accuracy and internal validity of the test. Moreover, in spite of the aforementioned modification, the score maintained a great accuracy in the external validation process performed in a current trauma population from three different geographic areas.

The simplicity of the scoring method, the fact that it does not depend on the result of complex diagnostic tests and its validation in a contemporaneous multicentre population overcomes these shortcomings.

7. CONCLUSIONS

In relation with the 2 main objectives outlined at the beginning of this research, we may summarise our conclusions as follows:

- I. Objective I- Epidemiology of ATAI in Galicia
 - a) The overall importance in terms of percentage of ATAIs among major trauma patients with blunt chest trauma between 2006 and 2010 in our institution (CHUAC) and region (Galicia) was 4.4% and 2.5%, respectively. Likewise, the yearly proportion of ATAIs among major trauma patients in Galicia was 1.1%-3.3%, whereas it ranged from 2.5% to 7.8% in our institution. After estimation of the number of major trauma patients with ATAI who die at the site of accident or during transportation, the actual resulting incidence of ATAI in Galicia would be 3 to 6.1 cases per 100,000 inhabitants per year. A more comprehensive study in the future combining data from clinical and autopsy series is required to truly determine the importance in percentage terms of ATAI among major trauma patients.
 - b) The yearly proportion of ATAIs among major trauma patients has been slightly increasing, probably due to the advances in trauma care and pre-hospital resuscitation that have reduced the number of ATAI victims who die at the scene or during transportation. This finding stresses the need for a future study enrolling cases from both clinical and autopsy series.
 - c) Our research has confirmed that in Galicia major trauma patients with associated ATAIs present a different epidemiological profile, prognosis, initial clinical

presentation and number and distribution of associated injuries.

- d) In Galicia, while major trauma patients without aortic injury distribute fairly homogeneously through the whole age span, ATAIs concentrate among 16 to 35 years old trauma patients, where 54.6% of overall ATAI occurs.
- e) The cause of accident significantly differs between the subset of trauma patients with ATAI and those without aortic injury. The MVC is the commonest cause of accident among ATAI victims in Galicia, but we have found a higher proportion of MCC, falls and crush traumas and a lower proportion of AVP among patients with ATAI compared to those reported in ATAI victims by other authors.
- f) The proportion of "atypical or non-isthmal" aortic injuries (43.2%) is significantly higher than the 7% to 15% reported in other clinical series, also highlighting a remarkably higher proportion of injuries at the aortic arch (25%).
- g) Major trauma patients with ATAIs present with haemodynamic instability on admission more frequently than major trauma patients without aortic injury. The former also have a higher proportion of severe extra-thoracic injuries, which justify their worse prognosis.
- h) Major trauma patients with associated ATAIs had a higher expected mortality rate on admission than major traumas without ATAI and also presented an actual higher in-hospital mortality rate, which was mostly caused by aorticrelated complications, mainly aortic rupture or distal malperfusion syndrome.
- i) In-hospital mortality tended to be different among the distinct anatomic locations of the aortic injuries, especially in "atypical or non-isthmal" locations, as the ascending aorta and the aortic arch, which present a significantly higher in-hospital mortality and worse prognosis.

- II. Objective II- Predictive score of the risk of ATAI in major trauma patients
 - a) The accuracy of a widened mediastinum on admission CXR as a predictive sign of ATAI in our study was significantly limited with a sensitivity of 78.9% and a specificity of 75.9%. However, the combination of clinical examination findings and CXR on admission has been shown to accurately diagnose suspected traumatic aortic injuries.
 - b) We developed a contemporaneous multivariate prediction model for traumatic aortic injury after major trauma with a sensitivity >93% and a specificity >85%. The small number of ATAI patients who were misdiagnosed by TRAINS (false negatives) presented low-degree aortic injuries in all cases.
 - c) The scoring method proved its accuracy in both an internal and an external validation process. TRAINS demonstrated its ability to diagnose ATAIs among major trauma patients with a sensitivity >92% and a specificity >85% in a current multicentre population of major trauma patients, thus confirming its applicability at the current time and in different geographical areas.
 - d) We have demonstrated that the conventional trauma risk scores (ISS, RTS and TRISS) fail to show statistical relationship between the severity of the trauma and the degree of severity of the aortic injury (types I to IV). Thus, the conventional trauma severity scores are useless to cast suspicion on the diagnosis of ATAI. On the contrary, TRAINS score has proven to be related with the severity of the aortic injury and to be useful even in the diagnosis of low-degree ATAIs.
 - e) The TRAINS score and associated algorithm have been designed to be used in daily practice to easily and rapidly identify major trauma patients who are at risk

of aortic injury, thus avoiding unnecessary costs and radiation exposure in lowrisk trauma patients. On the other hand, the TRAINS score may raise suspicion of ATAI even in the cases of low-degree aortic injuries, which require a close imaging surveillance to determine whether those patients will need a further intervention.

f) The TRAINS algorithm is also useful for resource allocation planning, enabling clinicians to refer patients at high risk of traumatic aortic injuries to specialized units, providing the ability to rapidly diagnose and therapeutically manage this critical subset of trauma patients in order to avoid potentially lethal aorticrelated complications.

8. BIBLIOGRAPHY

1. Vesalius A, Bonetus T. Sepulchretum sive anatomia practica ex cadaveribus morbo denatis. Sect 2. Geneva, Switzerland: 1700; 290.

2. Parmley LF, Mattingly TW, Manion WC, Jahnke EJ Jr. Nonpenetrating traumatic injury of the aorta. *Circulation* 1958;17(6):1086-101.

3. L.P. K. Traumatic rupture of thoracic aorta with review of fifty-five abdominal injuries. *Illinois Medical Journal* 1925;(47):420.

4. Strassman G. Traumatic rupture of the aorta. *Am Heart J* 1947;33(4):508-15.

5. Goyette EM, Blake HA, Forsee JH, Swan H. Traumatic aortic aneurysms. *Circulation* 1954;10(6):824-8.

6. Jay JB, French SW, 3rd. Traumatic rupture of the thoracic aorta; review of literature and case report. *AMA Arch Surg* 1954;68(5):657-62.

7. Ware PF, Adler RH, Lyter CS. Traumatic aneurysm of the thoracic aorta. U S *Armed Forces Med J* 1955;6(11):1674-90.

8. Gerbode F, Braimbridge M, Osborn JJ, Hood M, French S. Traumatic thoracic aneurysms: treatment by resection and grafting with the use of an extracorporeal bypass. *Surgery* 1957;42(6):975-85.

9. Demetriades D, Gomez H, Velmahos GC, Asensio JA, Murray J, Cornwell EE 3rd, et al. Routine helical computed tomographic evaluation of the mediastinum in highrisk blunt trauma patients. *Arch Surg* 1998;133(10):1084-8.

Mosquera V.X.

 Mirvis SE, Shanmuganathan K. Diagnosis of blunt traumatic aortic injury 2007: still a nemesis. *Eur J Radiol* 2007;64(1):27-40.

11. Steenburg SD, Ravenel JG. Acute traumatic thoracic aortic injuries: experience with 64-MDCT. *AJR Am J Roentgenol* 2008;191(5):1564-9.

12. Fabian TC, Davis KA, Gavant ML, Croce MA, Melton SM, Patton JH Jr, et al. Prospective study of blunt aortic injury: helical CT is diagnostic and antihypertensive therapy reduces rupture. *Ann Surg* 1998;227(5):666-76; discussion 676-7.

13. Pate JW, Fabian TC, Walker W. Traumatic rupture of the aortic isthmus: an emergency? *World J Surg* 1995;19(1):119-25; discussion 125-6.

14. Tsai TT, Nienaber CA, Eagle KA. Acute aortic syndromes. *Circulation* 2005;112(24):3802-13.

15. Demetriades D, Velmahos GC, Scalea TM, Jurkovich GJ, Karmy-Jones R, Teixeira PG, et al. American Association for the Surgery of Trauma Thoracic Aortic Injury Study Group. Operative repair or endovascular stent graft in blunt traumatic thoracic aortic injuries: results of an American Association for the Surgery of Trauma Multicenter Study. *J Trauma* 2008;64(3):561-70; discussion 570-1.

16. Demetriades D, Velmahos GC, Scalea TM, Jurkovich GJ, Karmy-Jones R, Teixeira PG, et al. Blunt traumatic thoracic aortic injuries: early or delayed repair-results of an American Association for the Surgery of Trauma prospective study. *J Trauma* 2009; 66(4):967-73.

17. Smith RS, Chang FC. Traumatic rupture of the aorta: still a lethal injury. *Am J Surg* 1986;152(6):660-3.

Mosquera V.X.

18. Clancy TV, Gary Maxwell J, Covington DL, Brinker CC, Blackman D. A statewide analysis of level I and II trauma centers for patients with major injuries. *J Trauma* 2001;51(2):346-51.

19. Greendyke RM. Traumatic rupture of aorta; special reference to automobile accidents. *JAMA* 1966;195(7):527-30.

20. Sutorius DJ, Schreiber JT, Helmsworth JA. Traumatic disruption of the thoracic aorta. *J Trauma* 1973; 13(7):583-90.

21. Dosios TJ, Salemis N, Angouras D, Nonas E. Blunt and penetrating trauma of the thoracic aorta and aortic arch branches: an autopsy study. *J Trauma* 2000; 49(4):696-703.

22. Teixeira PG, Inaba K, Barmparas G, Georgiou C, Toms C, Noguchi TT, et al. Blunt thoracic aortic injuries: an autopsy study. *J Trauma* 2011 Jan;70(1):197-202.

23. Feczko JD, Lynch L, Pless JE, Clark MA, McClain J, Hawley DA. An autopsy case review of 142 nonpenetrating (blunt) injuries of the aorta. *J Trauma* 1992; 33(6):846-9.

24. Burkhart HM, Gomez GA, Jacobson LE, Pless JE, Broadie TA. Fatal blunt aortic injuries: a review of 242 autopsy cases. *J Trauma* 2001; 50(1):113-5.

25. Fabian TC, Richardson JD, Croce MA, Smith JS Jr, Rodman G Jr, Kearney PA,
et al. Prospective study of blunt aortic injury: Multicenter Trial of the American Association for the Surgery of Trauma. *J Trauma* 1997; 42(3):374-80; discussion 3803.

Mosquera V.X.

26. Arthurs ZM, Starnes BW, Sohn VY, Singh N, Martin MJ, Andersen CA. Functional and survival outcomes in traumatic blunt thoracic aortic injuries: An analysis of the National Trauma Databank. *J Vasc Surg* 2009;49(4):988-94.

27. Livingston DH, Tripp T, Biggs C, Lavery RF. A fate worse than death? Longterm outcome of trauma patients admitted to the surgical intensive care unit. *J Trauma* 2009;67(2):341-8; discussion 348-9.

28. Mattox KL. Red River anthology. J Trauma 1997; 42(3):353-68.

29. Mattox KL, Wall MJ, Jr. Historical review of blunt injury to the thoracic aorta. *Chest Surg Clin N Am* 2000; 10(1):167-82.

30. Karmy-Jones R, Nicholls S, Gleason TG. The endovascular approach to acute aortic trauma. *Thorac Surg Clin* 2007;17(1):109-28.

31. Razzouk AJ, Gundry SR, Wang N, del Rio MJ, Varnell D, Bailey LL. Repair of traumatic aortic rupture: a 25-year experience. *Arch Surg* 2000;135(8):913-8; discussion 919.

32. Cook J, Salerno C, Krishnadasan B, Nicholls S, Meissner M, Karmy-Jones R. The effect of changing presentation and management on the outcome of blunt rupture of the thoracic aorta. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2006;131(3):594-600.

33. Azizzadeh A, Keyhani K, Miller CC 3rd, Coogan SM, Safi HJ, Estrera AL. Blunt traumatic aortic injury: initial experience with endovascular repair. *J Vasc Surg* 2009;49(6):1403-8. 34. Xenos ES, Minion DJ, Davenport DL, Hamdallah O, Abedi NN, Sorial EE. Endovascular versus open repair for descending thoracic aortic rupture: institutional experience and meta-analysis. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2009;35(2):282-6.

35. Estrera AL, Gochnour DC, Azizzadeh A, Miller CC 3rd, Coogan S, Charlton-Ouw K, et al. Progress in the treatment of blunt thoracic aortic injury: 12-year singleinstitution experience. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2010;90(1):64-71.

36. Mosquera VX, Marini M, Lopez-Perez JM, Muñiz-Garcia J, Herrera JM, Cao I, et al. Role of conservative management in traumatic aortic injury: Comparison of long-term results of conservative, surgical, and endovascular treatment. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2011;142(3):614-21.

37. Oppenheim F. Gibt es eine Spontanruptur der gesunden Aorta und wie kommet es zustande? *Muench Med Woschenschr* 1918;65:1234-1237.

38. Klotz O, Simpson W. Spontaneous rupture of the aorta. *Am J Med Sci* 1932; 184:455–473.

39. Richens D, Field M, Hashim S, Neale M, Oakley C. A finite element model of blunt traumatic aortic rupture. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2004;25(6):1039-47.

40. Zhao AR, Field ML, Digges K, Richens D. Blunt trauma and acute aortic syndrome: a three-layer finite-element model of the aortic wall. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2008;34(3):623-9.

41. Crass JR, Cohen AM, Motta AO, Tomashefski JF Jr, Wiesen EJ. A proposed new mechanism of traumatic aortic rupture: the osseous pinch. *Radiology* 1990; 176(3):645-9.

Mosquera V.X.

42. Cohen AM, Crass JR, Thomas HA, Fisher RG, Jacobs DG. CT evidence for the "osseous pinch" mechanism of traumatic aortic injury. *AJR Am J Roentgenol* 1992; 159(2):271-4.

43. Creasy JD, Chiles C, Routh WD, Dyer RB. Overview of traumatic injury of the thoracic aorta. *Radiographics* 1997; 17(1):27-45.

44. Rindfleisch. E. Zurentstehung und heilung des Aneurysmadissecans Aortae. *Virschow's Arch Pathol Anat* 1893; 131:374–378.

45. Sevitt S. The mechanisms of traumatic rupture of the thoracic aorta. *Br J Surg* 1977; 64(3):166-73.

46. Lundewall J. The mechanics of traumatic rupture of the aorta. *Acta Pathol Microbiol Scand* 1964; 62:34-36.

47. Shkrum MJ, McClafferty KJ, Green RN, Nowak ES, Young JG. Mechanisms of aortic injury in fatalities occurring in motor vehicle collisions. *J Forensic Sci* 1999; 44(1):44-56.

48. Richens D, Field M, Neale M, Oakley C.. The mechanism of injury in blunt traumatic rupture of the aorta. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2002;21(2):288-93.

49. Zehnder MA. Delayed post-traumatic rupture of the aorta in a young healthy individual after closed injury; mechanical-etiological considerations. *Angiology* 1956; 7(3):252-67.

50. Katyal D, McLellan BA, Brenneman FD, Boulanger BR, Sharkey PW, Waddell JP. Lateral impact motor vehicle collisions: significant cause of blunt traumatic rupture of the thoracic aorta. *J Trauma* 1997; 42(5):769-72.

Mosquera V.X.

51. Dischinger PC, Cushing BM, Kerns TJ. Injury patterns associated with direction of impact: drivers admitted to trauma centers. *J Trauma* 1993; 35(3):454-8; discussion 458-9.

52. Mohan D, Melvin JW. Failure properties of passive human aortic tissue. I-uniaxial tension tests. *J Biomech* 1982; 15(11):887-902.

53. Mohan D, Melvin JW. Failure properties of passive human aortic tissue. II--Biaxial tension tests. *J Biomech* 1983; 16(1):31-44.

54. Fisher RG, Ben-Menachem Y, Hadlock FP. Ascending aortic laceration. *AJR Am J Roentgenol* 1986; 146(2):422-3.

55. Schleyer F. On adventitial haemorrhages of the thoracic blood vessels. *J Forensic Med* 1963; 10:3-5.

56. Siegel JH, Yang KH, Smith JA, Siddiqi SQ, Shah C, Maddali M, et al. Computer simulation and validation of the Archimedes Lever hypothesis as a mechanism for aortic isthmus disruption in a case of lateral impact motor vehicle crash: a Crash Injury Research Engineering Network (CIREN) study. *J Trauma* 2006;60(5):1072-82.

57. Zehnder MA. [Tensile strength and elasticity of the aorta; contribution to traumatic rupture of the aorta]. *Schweiz Med Wochenschr* 1955; 85(9):203-8.

58. Zehnder MA. [The mechanism and mechanics of the accident in aortic rupture due to closed thoracic trauma]. *Thoraxchirurgie* 1960; 8:47-65.

59. Zehnder MA. [Mechanisms of traumatic aortic rupture (author's transl)]. *Langenbecks Arch Chir* 1974; 337:325-8.

Mosquera V.X.

60. Steenburg SD, Ravenel JG, Ikonomidis JS, Schönholz C, Reeves S. Acute traumatic aortic injury: imaging evaluation and management. *Radiology* 2008;248(3):748-62.

61. Kivity Y, Collins R. Nonlinear wave propagation in viscoelastic tubes: application to aortic rupture. *J Biomech* 1974; 7(1):67-76.

62. Pearson R, Philips N, Hancock R, Hashim S, Field M, Richens D, et al. Regional wall mechanics and blunt traumatic aortic rupture at the isthmus. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2008;34(3):616-22.

63. Marco JV, Gregory JS. Posterior fracture of the left sixth rib causing late aortic laceration: case report. *J Trauma* 1997; 42(4):736-7.

64. Murakami R, Tajima H, Ichikawa K, Kobayashi Y, Sugizaki K, Yamamoto K, et al. Acute traumatic injury of the distal descending aorta associated with thoracic spine injury. *Eur Radiol* 1998; 8(1):60-2.

65. Moar JJ. Traumatic rupture of the thoracic aorta. An autopsy and histopathological study. *S Afr Med J* 1985; 67(10):383-5.

66. Gotzen L, Flory PJ, Otte D. Biomechanics of aortic rupture at classical location in traffic accidents. *Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1980; 28(1):64-8.

67. Cook CC, Gleason TG. Great vessel and cardiac trauma. *Surg Clin North Am* 2009;89(4):797-820, viii.

68. McBurney RP, Vaughan RH. Rupture of the Thoracic Aorta due to Nonpenetrating Trauma. *Ann Surg* 1961; 153(5):670-8.

Mosquera V.X.

69. Bennett DE, Cherry JK. The natural history of traumatic aneurysms of the aorta. *Surgery* 1967;61(4):516-23.

70. Finkelmeier BA, Mentzer RM Jr, Kaiser DL, Tegtmeyer CJ, Nolan SP. Chronic traumatic thoracic aneurysm. Influence of operative treatment on natural history: an analysis of reported cases, 1950-1980. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1982; 84(2):257-66.

71. John LC, Hornick P, Edmondson SJ. Chronic traumatic aneurysm of the aorta: to resect or not. The role of exploration operation. *J Cardiovasc Surg (Torino)* 1992; 33(1):106-8.

72. Hirose H, Svensson LG. Chronic posttraumatic aneurysm of descending aorta with fistulous communication into pulmonary artery. *J Vasc Surg* 2004;40(3):564-6.

73. Pantaleo P, Prothero T, Banning AP. Aorto-bronchial fistula resulting from an accidental fall one year earlier. *Int J Cardiol* 1999;68(2):239-40.

74. Fernández González AL, Montero JA, Luna D, Gil O, Sanjuán VM, Monzonís AM. Aortobronchial fistula secondary to chronic post-traumatic thoracic aneurysm. *Tex Heart Inst J* 1996; 23(2):174-7.

75. Baba M, Yamashita A, Sugimoto S, Izumiyama O, Hasegawa T. [A case of a chronic traumatic thoracic aneurysm with compression of left main bronchus at the isthmus]. *Kyobu Geka* 1998; 51(10):860-3.

76. Eddy AC, Rusch VW, Marchioro T, Ashbaugh D, Verrier ED, Dillard D. Treatment of traumatic rupture of the thoracic aorta. A 15-year experience. *Arch Surg* 1990; 125(10):1351-5; discussion 1355-6.

Mosquera V.X.

77. McGwin G Jr, Reiff DA, Moran SG, Rue LW 3rd. Incidence and characteristics of motor vehicle collision-related blunt thoracic aortic injury according to age. *J Trauma* 2002; 52(5):859-65; discussion 865-6.

78. Demetriades D, Velmahos GC, Scalea TM, Jurkovich GJ, Karmy-Jones R, Teixeira PG, et al. Diagnosis and treatment of blunt thoracic aortic injuries: changing perspectives. *J Trauma* 2008; 64(6):1415-8; discussion 1418-9.

79. Prijon T, Ermenc B. Classification of blunt aortic injuries a new systematic overview of aortic trauma. *Forensic Sci Int* 2010;195(1-3):6-9.

80. Vignon P, Guéret P, Vedrinne JM, Lagrange P, Cornu E, Abrieu O, et al. Role of transesophageal echocardiography in the diagnosis and management of traumatic aortic disruption. *Circulation* 1995; 92(10):2959-68.

81. Lee WA, Matsumura JS, Mitchell RS, Farber MA, Greenberg RK, Azizzadeh A, et al. Endovascular repair of traumatic thoracic aortic injury: clinical practice guidelines of the Society for Vascular Surgery. *J Vasc Surg* 2011;53(1):187-92.

82. Clark DE, Zeiger MA, Wallace KL, Packard AB, Nowicki ER. Blunt aortic trauma: signs of high risk. *J Trauma* 1990; 30(6):701-5.

83. Kram HB, Appel PL, Wohlmuth DA, Shoemaker WC. Diagnosis of traumatic thoracic aortic rupture: a 10-year retrospective analysis. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1989; 47(2):282-6.

84. Plume S, DeWeese JA. Traumatic rupture of the thoracic aorta. *Arch Surg* 1979; 114(3):240-3.

Mosquera V.X.

85. Sturm JT, Perry JF Jr, Olson FR, Cicero JJ.. Significance of symptoms and signs in patients with traumatic aortic rupture. *Ann Emerg Med* 1984;13(10):876-8.

Vlahakes GJ, Warren RL. Traumatic rupture of the aorta. *N Engl J Med* 1995;
 332(6):389-90.

87. Blackmore CC, Zweibel A, Mann FA. Determining risk of traumatic aortic injury: how to optimize imaging strategy. *AJR Am J Roentgenol* 2000; 174(2):343-7.

88. Kirkham JR, Blackmore CC. Screening for aortic injury with chest radiography and clinical factors. *Emerg Radiol* 2007; 14(4):211-7.

89. Mattox KL, Pickard L, Allen MK, Garcia-Rinaldi R. Suspecting thoracic aortic transection. *JACEP* 1978; 7(1):12-5.

90. Symbas PN, Tyras DH, Ware RE, Hatcher CR Jr. Rupture of the aorta. A diagnostic triad. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1973; 15(4):405-10.

91. Marnocha KE, Maglinte DD, Woods J, Goodman M, Peterson P. Mediastinalwidth/chest-width ratio in blunt chest trauma: a reappraisal. *AJR Am J Roentgenol* 1984; 142(2):275-7.

92. Woodring JH, Dillon ML. Radiographic manifestations of mediastinal hemorrhage from blunt chest trauma. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1984; 37(2):171-8.

93. Kram HB, Wohlmuth DA, Appel PL, Shoemaker WC. Clinical and radiographic indications for aortography in blunt chest trauma. *J Vasc Surg* 1987;6(2):168-76.

94. Wong YC, Ng CJ, Wang LJ, Hsu KH, Chen CJ. Left mediastinal width and mediastinal width ratio are better radiographic criteria than general mediastinal width for predicting blunt aortic injury. *J Trauma* 2004 Jul;57(1):88-94.

Mosquera V.X.

95. Mirvis SE, Kostrubiak I, Whitley NO, Goldstein LD, Rodriguez A. Role of CT in excluding major arterial injury after blunt thoracic trauma. *AJR Am J Roentgenol* 1987; 149(3):601-5.

96. Sefczek DM, Sefczek RJ, Deeb ZL. Radiographic signs of acute traumatic rupture of the thoracic aorta. *AJR Am J Roentgenol* 1983; 141(6):1259-62.

97. Woodring JH. The normal mediastinum in blunt traumatic rupture of the thoracic aorta and brachiocephalic arteries. *J Emerg Med* 1990; 8(4):467-76.

98. Lee J, Harris JH Jr, Duke JH Jr, Williams JS. Noncorrelation between thoracic skeletal injuries and acute traumatic aortic tear. *J Trauma* 1997; 43(3):400-4.

99. Mirvis SE, Bidwell JK, Buddemeyer EU, Diaconis JN, Pais SO, Whitley JE. Imaging diagnosis of traumatic aortic rupture. A review and experience at a major trauma center. *Invest Radiol* 1987; 22(3):187-96.

100. Cook AD, Klein JS, Rogers FB, Osler TM, Shackford SR. Chest radiographs of limited utility in the diagnosis of blunt traumatic aortic laceration. *J Trauma* 2001; 50(5):843-7.

101. Heiberg E, Wolverson MK, Sundaram M, Shields JB. CT in aortic trauma. *AJR Am J Roentgenol* 1983; 140(6):1119-24.

102. Ishikawa T, Nakajima Y, Kaji T. The role of CT in traumatic rupture of the thoracic aorta and its proximal branches. *Semin Roentgenol* 1989; 24(1):38-46.

103. Richardson P, Mirvis SE, Scorpio R, Dunham CM. Value of CT in determining the need for angiography when findings of mediastinal hemorrhage on chest radiographs are equivocal. *AJR Am J Roentgenol* 1991; 156(2):273-9.

Mosquera V.X.

104. Durham RM, Zuckerman D, Wolverson M, Heiberg E, Luchtefeld WB, Herr DJ, et al. Computed tomography as a screening exam in patients with suspected blunt aortic injury. *Ann Surg* 1994; 220(5):699-704.

105. Graham AN, McManus KG, McGuigan JA, McIlrath E. Traumatic rupture of the thoracic aorta: computed tomography may be a dangerous waste of time. *Ann R Coll Surg Engl* 1995; 77(2):154-5.

106. Dyer DS, Moore EE, Ilke DN, McIntyre RC, Bernstein SM, Durham JD, et al. Thoracic aortic injury: how predictive is mechanism and is chest computed tomography a reliable screening tool? A prospective study of 1,561 patients. *J Trauma* 2000; 48(4):673-82; discussion 682-3.

107. Berger FH, van Lienden KP, Smithuis R, Nicolaou S, van Delden OM. Acute aortic syndrome and blunt traumatic aortic injury: pictorial review of MDCT imaging. *Eur J Radiol* 2010;74(1):24-39.

108. Gavant ML. Helical CT grading of traumatic aortic injuries. Impact on clinical guidelines for medical and surgical management. *Radiol Clin North Am* 1999; 37(3):553-74, vi.

109. Fishman JE, Nuñez D Jr, Kane A, Rivas LA, Jacobs WE. Direct versus indirect signs of traumatic aortic injury revealed by helical CT: performance characteristics and interobserver agreement. *AJR Am J Roentgenol* 1999; 172(4):1027-31.

110. Melton SM, Kerby JD, McGiffin D, McGwin G, Smith JK, Oser RF, et al. The evolution of chest computed tomography for the definitive diagnosis of blunt aortic injury: a single-center experience. *J Trauma* 2004; 56(2):243-50

Mosquera V.X.

111. Rivas LA, Munera F, Fishman JE. Multidetector-row computerized tomography of aortic injury. *Semin Roentgenol* 2006;41(3):226-36.

112. Birchard KR. Acute aortic syndrome and acute traumatic aortic injury. *Semin Roentgenol* 2009;44(1):16-28.

113. Mirvis SE, Shanmuganathan K, Buell J, Rodriguez A. Use of spiral computed tomography for the assessment of blunt trauma patients with potential aortic injury. *J Trauma* 1998; 45(5):922-30.

114. Scaglione M, Pinto A, Pinto F, Romano L, Ragozzino A, Grassi R. Role of contrast-enhanced helical CT in the evaluation of acute thoracic aortic injuries after blunt chest trauma. *Eur Radiol* 2001; 11(12):2444-8.

115. Wong H, Gotway MB, Sasson AD, Jeffrey RB. Periaortic hematoma at diaphragmatic crura at helical CT: sign of blunt aortic injury in patients with mediastinal hematoma. *Radiology* 2004;231(1):185-9.

116. Malhotra AK, Fabian TC, Croce MA, Weiman DS, Gavant ML, Pate JW. Minimal aortic injury: a lesion associated with advancing diagnostic techniques. J Trauma 2001; 51(6):1042-8.

117. Goodman PC, Jeffrey RB, Minagi H, Federle MP, Thomas AN. Angiographic evaluation of the ductus diverticulum. *Cardiovasc Intervent Radiol* 1982; 5(1):1-4.

118. Fisher RG, Sanchez-Torres M, Whigham CJ, Thomas JW. "Lumps" and "bumps" that mimic acute aortic and brachiocephalic vessel injury. *Radiographics* 1997; 17(4):825-34.

Mosquera V.X.

119. Mettler FA Jr, Wiest PW, Locken JA, Kelsey CA. CT scanning: patterns of use and dose. *J Radiol Prot* 2000; 20(4):353-9.

120. McNitt-Gray MF. AAPM/RSNA Physics Tutorial for Residents: Topics in CT. Radiation dose in CT. *Radiographics* 2002; 22(6):1541-53.

121. Brenner DJ, Doll R, Goodhead DT, Hall EJ, Land CE, Little JB, et al. Cancer risks attributable to low doses of ionizing radiation: assessing what we really know. *Proc Natl Acad Sci US* 2003; 100(24):13761-6.

122. Birnbaum S. Radiation protection in the era of helical CT: practical patient based programs for decreasing patient exposure. *Semin Ultrasound CT MR* 2010; 31(1):46-52.

123. Brenner DJ, Hall EJ. Computed tomography--an increasing source of radiation exposure. *N Engl J Med* 2007; 357(22):2277-84.

124. Brenner DJ. Should we be concerned about the rapid increase in CT usage? *Rev Environ Health* 2010; 25(1):63-8.

125. Remy-Jardin M, Remy J. Spiral CT angiography of the pulmonary circulation. *Radiology* 1999; 212(3):615-36.

126. Cardis E, Vrijheid M, Blettner M, Gilbert E, Hakama M, Hill C, et al. Risk of cancer after low doses of ionising radiation: retrospective cohort study in 15 countries. *BMJ* 2005; 331(7508):77.

127. Kaiser ML, Whealon MD, Barrios C Jr, Dobson SC, Malinoski DJ, Dolich MO, et al. Risk factors for traumatic injury findings on thoracic computed tomography among patients with blunt trauma having a normal chest radiograph. *Arch Surg* 2011 Apr;146(4):459-63.

128. Fattori R, Celletti F, Bertaccini P, Galli R, Pacini D, Pierangeli A, et al. Delayed surgery of traumatic aortic rupture. Role of magnetic resonance imaging. *Circulation* 1996; 94(11):2865-70.

129. Gavelli G, Canini R, Bertaccini P, Battista G, Bnà C, Fattori R. Traumatic injuries: imaging of thoracic injuries. *Eur Radiol* 2002; 12(6):1273-94.

130. Fattori R, Celletti F, Descovich B, Napoli G, Bertaccini P, Galli R, Gavelli G, Pierangeli A. Evolution of post-traumatic aortic aneurysm in the subacute phase: magnetic resonance imaging follow-up as a support of the surgical timing. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 1998;13(5):582-6; discussion 586-7.

131. Rasche V, Oberhuber A, Trumpp S, Bornstedt A, Orend KH, Merkle N, et al. MRI assessment of thoracic stent grafts after emergency implantation in multi trauma patients: a feasibility study. *Eur Radiol* 2011; 21(7):1397-405.

132. Farhat F, Attia C, Boussel L, Staat P, Revel D, Douek P, Villard J. Endovascular repair of the descending thoracic aorta: mid-term results and evaluation of magnetic resonance angiography. *J Cardiovasc Surg (Torino)* 2007; 48(1):1-6.

133. Ayella RJ, Hankins JR, Turney SZ, Cowley RA. Ruptured thoracic aorta due to blunt trauma. *J Trauma* 1977; 17(3):199-205.

134. Sturm JT, Hankins DG, Young G. Thoracic aortography following blunt chest trauma. *Am J Emerg Med* 1990; 8(2):92-6.

135. Ahrar K, Smith DC, Bansal RC, Razzouk A, Catalano RD. Angiography in blunt thoracic aortic injury. *J Trauma* 1997; 42(4):665-9.

Mosquera V.X.

136. Patel NH, Stephens KE Jr, Mirvis SE, Shanmuganathan K, Mann FA. Imaging of acute thoracic aortic injury due to blunt trauma: a review. *Radiology* 1998; 209(2):335-48.

137. Chen MY, Regan JD, D'Amore MJ, Routh WD, Meredith JW, Dyer RB. Role of angiography in the detection of aortic branch vessel injury after blunt thoracic trauma. *J Trauma* 2001; 51(6):1166-71; discussion 1172.

138. Fisher RG, Hadlock F. Laceration of the thoracic aorta and brachiocephalic arteries by blunt trauma. Report of 54 cases and review of the literature. *Radiol Clin North Am* 1981; 19(1):91-110.

139. Thomas AN, Goodman PC, Roon AJ. Role of angiography in cervicothoracic trauma. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1978; 76(5):633-8.

140. Mirvis SE, Pais SO, Gens DR. Thoracic aortic rupture: advantages of intraarterial digital subtraction angiography. *AJR Am J Roentgenol* 1986;146(5):987-91.

141. Wintermark M, Wicky S, Schnyder P. Imaging of acute traumatic injuries of the thoracic aorta. *Eur Radiol* 2002; 12(2):431-42.

142. Eddy AC, Nance DR, Goldman MA, Caldwell DM, Copass M, Verrier ED, Carrico CJ. Rapid diagnosis of thoracic aortic transection using intravenous digital subtraction angiography. *Am J Surg* 1990; 159(5):500-3.

143. Williams DM, Simon HJ, Marx MV, Starkey TD. Acute traumatic aortic rupture: intravascular US findings. *Radiology* 1992; 182(1):247-9.

Mosquera V.X.

144. Williams DM, Dake MD, Bolling SF, Deeb GM. The role of intravascular ultrasound in acute traumatic aortic rupture. *Semin Ultrasound CT MR* 1993; 14(2):85-90.

145. Uflacker R, Horn J, Phillips G, Selby JB. Intravascular sonography in the assessment of traumatic injury of the thoracic aorta. *AJR Am J Roentgenol* 1999; 173(3):665-70.

146. Patel NH, Hahn D, Comess KA. Blunt chest trauma victims: role of intravascular ultrasound and transesophageal echocardiography in cases of abnormal thoracic aortogram. *J Trauma* 2003; 55(2):330-7.

147. Lee DY, Williams DM, Abrams GD. The dissected aorta: part II. Differentiation of the true from the false lumen with intravascular US. *Radiology* 1997; 203(1):32-6.

148. Pearce BJ, Jordan WD, Jr. Using IVUS during EVAR and TEVAR: improving patient outcomes. *Semin Vasc Surg* 2009;22(3):172-80.

149. Koschyk DH, Meinertz T, Hofmann T, Kodolitsch YV, Dieckmann C, Wolf W, et al. Value of intravascular ultrasound for endovascular stent-graft placement in aortic dissection and aneurysm. *J Card Surg* 2003;18(5):471-7.

150. Koschyk DH, Nienaber CA, Knap M, Hofmann T, Kodolitsch YV, Skriabina V, et al. How to guide stent-graft implantation in type B aortic dissection? Comparison of angiography, transesophageal echocardiography, and intravascular ultrasound. *Circulation* 2005;112(9 Suppl):I260-4.

151. Smith DC, Bansal RC. Transesophageal echocardiography in the diagnosis of traumatic rupture of the aorta. *N Engl J Med* 1995; 333(7):457-8.

Mosquera V.X.

152. Vignon P, Lagrange P, Boncoeur MP, Francois B, Gastinne H, Lang RM. Routine transesophageal echocardiography for the diagnosis of aortic disruption in trauma patients without enlarged mediastinum. *J Trauma* 1996; 40(3):422-7.

153. Goarin JP, Catoire P, Jacquens Y, Saada M, Riou B, Bonnet F, et al.Use of transesophageal echocardiography for diagnosis of traumatic aortic injury. *Chest* 1997; 112(1):71-80.

154. Vignon P, Ostyn E, François B, Hojeij H, Gastinne H, Lang RM. Limitations of transesophageal echocardiography for the diagnosis of traumatic injuries to aortic branches. *J Trauma* 1997; 42(5):960-3.

155. Vignon P, Lang RM. Use of Transesophageal Echocardiography for the Assessment of Traumatic Aortic Injuries. *Echocardiography* 1999; 16(2):207-219.

156. Le Bret F, Ruel P, Rosier H, Goarin JP, Riou B, Viars P. Diagnosis of traumatic mediastinal hematoma with transesophageal echocardiography. *Chest* 1994; 105(2):373-6.

157. Vignon P, Rambaud G, François B, Preux PM, Lang RM, Gastinne H. Quantification of traumatic hemomediastinum using transesophageal echocardiography: impact on patient management. *Chest* 1998; 113(6):1475-80.

158. Karalis DG, Victor MF, Davis GA, McAllister MP, Covalesky VA, Ross JJ Jr, et al. The role of echocardiography in blunt chest trauma: a transthoracic and transesophageal echocardiographic study. *J Trauma* 1994; 36(1):53-8.

159. Minard G, Schurr MJ, Croce MA, Gavant ML, Kudsk KA, Taylor MJ, et al. A prospective analysis of transesophageal echocardiography in the diagnosis of traumatic disruption of the aorta. *J Trauma* 1996; 40(2):225-30.

Mosquera V.X.

160. Willens HJ, Kessler KM. Transesophageal echocardiography in the diagnosis of diseases of the thoracic aorta: part II-atherosclerotic and traumatic diseases of the aorta. *Chest* 2000; 117(1):233-43.

161. Catoire P, Orliaguet G, Liu N, Delaunay L, Guerrini P, Beydon L, et al. Systematic transesophageal echocardiography for detection of mediastinal lesions in patients with multiple injuries. *J Trauma* 1995; 38(1):96-102.

162. García-Fernández MA, López-Pérez JM, Pérez-Castellano N, Quero LF, Virgós-Lamela A, Otero-Ferreiro A, et al. Role of transesophageal echocardiography in the assessment of patients with blunt chest trauma: correlation of echocardiographic findings with the electrocardiogram and creatine kinase monoclonal antibody measurements. *Am Heart J* 1998;135(3):476-81.

163. Hiratzka LF, Bakris GL, Beckman JA, Bersin RM, Carr VF, Casey DE Jr, et al. 2010 ACCF/AHA/AATS/ACR/ASA/SCA/SCAI/SIR/STS/SVM Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Management of Patients with Thoracic Aortic Disease. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2010; 55(14):e27-e129.

164. Warren RL, Akins CW, Conn AK, Hilgenberg AD, McCabe CJ. Acute traumatic disruption of the thoracic aorta: emergency department management. *Ann Emerg Med* 1992; 21(4):391-6.

165. Svensson LG, Antunes MD, Kinsley RH. Traumatic rupture of the thoracic aorta. A report of 14 cases and a review of the literature. *S Afr Med J* 1985; 67(21):853-7.
166. von Oppell UO, Dunne TT, De Groot MK, Zilla P. Traumatic aortic rupture: twenty-year metaanalysis of mortality and risk of paraplegia. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1994;58(2):585-93.

167. Jahromi AS, Kazemi K, Safar HA, Doobay B, Cinà CS. Traumatic rupture of the thoracic aorta: cohort study and systematic review. *J Vasc Surg* 2001;34(6):1029-34.

168. Katz NM, Blackstone EH, Kirklin JW, Karp RB. Incremental risk factors for spinal cord injury following operation for acute traumatic aortic transection. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1981; 81(5):669-74.

169. Albrink MH, Rodriguez E, England GJ, McKeown PP, Hurst JM, Rosemurgy AS 2nd. Importance of designated thoracic trauma surgeons in the management of traumatic aortic transection. *South Med J* 1994; 87(4):497-501.

170. Kim FJ, Moore EE, Moore FA, Read RA, Burch JM. Trauma surgeons can render definitive surgical care for major thoracic injuries. *J Trauma* 1994; 36(6):871-5; discussion 875-6.

171. Hollingsworth RK, Johnston WW, McCooey JF. Traumatic saccular aneurysm of the thoracic aorta. *J Thorac Surg* 1952; 24(4):325-45.

172. De Bakey ME, Cooley DA, Creech O, Jr. Treatment of aneurysms and occlusive disease of the aorta by resection; analysis of eighty-seven cases. *J Am Med Assoc* 1955; 157(3):203-8.

173. Hilgenberg AD, Logan DL, Akins CW, Buckley MJ, Daggett WM, Vlahakes GJ. Blunt injuries of the thoracic aorta. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1992; 53(2):233-8; discussion 238-9.

Mosquera V.X.

174. Hunt JP, Baker CC, Lentz CW, Rutledge RR, Oller DW, Flowe KM. Thoracic aorta injuries: management and outcome of 144 patients. *J Trauma* 1996; 40(4):547-55; discussion 555-6.

175. Sweeney MS, Young DJ, Frazier OH, Adams PR, Kapusta MO, Macris MP. Traumatic aortic transections: eight-year experience with the "clamp-sew" technique. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1997; 64(2):384-7; discussion 387-9.

176. Bhaskar J, Foo J, Sharma AK. Clamp-and-sew technique for traumatic injuries of the aorta: 20-year experience. *Asian Cardiovasc Thorac Ann* 2010; 18(2):161-5.

177. Lam CR, Aram HH. Resection of the descending thoracic aorta for aneurysm; a report of the use of a homograft in a case and an experimental study. *Ann Surg* 1951; 134(4):743-52.

178. Storey CF, Nardi GL, Sewell WH. Traumatic aneurysms of the thoracic aorta; report of two cases, one successfully treated by resection and graft replacement with the aid of a shunt. *Ann Surg* 1956; 144(1):69-78.

179. Gott VL, Whiffen JD, Dutton RC. Heparin bonding on colloidal graphite surfaces. *Science* 1963; 142:1297-8.

180. Gott VL. Heparinized shunts for thoracic vascular operations. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1972; 14(2):219-20.

181. Donahoo JS, Brawley RK, Gott VL. The heparin-coated vascular shunt for thoracic aortic and great vessel procedures: a ten-year experience. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1977; 23(6):507-13.

Mosquera V.X.

182. Stavens B, Hashim SW, Hammond GL, Stansel HC, Gatehouse J, Kopf GS. Optimal methods of repair of descending thoracic aortic transection and aneurysms. *Am J Surg* 1983; 145(4):508-13.

183. Verdant A, Pagé A, Cossette R, Dontigny L, Pagé P, Baillot R. Surgery of the descending thoracic aorta: spinal cord protection with the Gott shunt. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1988; 46(2):147-54.

184. Hilgenberg AD, Rainer WG, Sadler TR, Jr. Aneurysm of the descending thoracic aorta: replacement with the use of a shunt or bypass. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1981; 81(6):818-24.

185. Verdant A. Descending thoracic aortic aneurysms: surgical treatment with the Gott shunt. *Can J Surg* 1992; 35(5):493-6.

186. Cowley RA, Turney SZ, Hankins JR, Rodriguez A, Attar S, Shankar BS. Rupture of thoracic aorta caused by blunt trauma. A fifteen-year experience. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1990; 100(5):652-60; discussion 660-1.

187. Walls JT, Boley T, Curtis J, Schmaltz R, Nawarawong W. Centrifugal pump support for repair of thoracic aortic injury. *Mo Med* 1991; 88(12):811-3.

188. Read RA, Moore EE, Moore FA, Haenel JB. Partial left heart bypass for thoracic aorta repair. Survival without paraplegia. *Arch Surg* 1993; 128(7):746-50; discussion 750-2.

189. Grossi EA, Krieger KH, Cunningham JN Jr, Culliford AT, Nathan IM, Spencer FC. Venoarterial bypass: a technique for spinal cord protection. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1985; 89(2):228-34.

Mosquera V.X.

190. Turney SZ. Blunt trauma of the thoracic aorta and its branches. *Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1992; 4(3):209-16.

191. Carter YM, Karmy-Jones RC, Oxorn DC, Aldea GS. Traumatic disruption of the aortic arch. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2001;20(6):1231.

192. Leshnower BG, Litt HI, Gleason TG. Anterior approach to traumatic mid aortic arch transection. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2006;81(1):343-5.

193. Mattox KL, Holzman M, Pickard LR, Beall AC Jr, DeBakey ME. Clamp/repair: a safe technique for treatment of blunt injury to the descending thoracic aorta. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1985; 40(5):456-63.

194. Miller PR, Kortesis BG, McLaughlin CA 3rd, Chen MY, Chang MC, Kon ND. Complex blunt aortic injury or repair: beneficial effects of cardiopulmonary bypass use. *Ann Surg* 2003; 237(6):877-83; discussion 883-4.

195. von Oppell UO, Dunne TT, De Groot KM, Zilla P. Spinal cord protection in the absence of collateral circulation: meta-analysis of mortality and paraplegia. J Card Surg 1994; 9(6):685-91.

196. Laschinger JC, Cunningham JN Jr, Catinella FP, Nathan IM, Knopp EA, Spencer FC. Detection and prevention of intraoperative spinal cord ischemia after crossclamping of the thoracic aorta: use of somatosensory evoked potentials. *Surgery* 1982; 92(6):1109-17.

197. Kouchoukos NT, Masetti P, Rokkas CK, Murphy SF, Blackstone EH. Safety and efficacy of hypothermic cardiopulmonary bypass and circulatory arrest for operations on the descending thoracic and thoracoabdominal aorta. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2001;72(3):699-707; discussion 707-8.

Mosquera V.X.

198. Lim KH, Connolly M, Rose D, Siegman F, Jacobowitz I, Acinapura A, et al. Prevention of reperfusion injury of the ischemic spinal cord: use of recombinant superoxide dismutase. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1986; 42(3):282-6.

199. Grabitz K, Freye E, Prior R, Schrör K, Sandmann W. Does prostaglandin E1 and superoxide dismutase prevent ischaemic spinal cord injury after thoracic aortic cross-clamping? *Eur J Vasc Surg* 1990; 4(1):19-24.

200. Simpson JI, Eide TR, Schiff GA, Clagnaz JF, Hossain I, Tverskoy A. Intrathecal magnesium sulfate protects the spinal cord from ischemic injury during thoracic aortic cross-clamping. *Anesthesiology* 1994; 81(6):1493-9; discussion 26A-27A.

201. Laschinger JC, Cunningham JN Jr, Cooper MM, Krieger K, Nathan IM, Spencer FC. Prevention of ischemic spinal cord injury following aortic cross-clamping: use of corticosteroids. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1984; 38(5):500-7.

202. Kouchoukos NT, Daily BB, Rokkas CK, Murphy SF, Bauer S, Abboud N. Hypothermic bypass and circulatory arrest for operations on the descending thoracic and thoracoabdominal aorta. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1995; 60(1):67-76; discussion 76-7.

203. Kato N, Dake MD, Miller DC, Semba CP, Mitchell RS, Razavi MK. Traumatic thoracic aortic aneurysm: treatment with endovascular stent-grafts. *Radiology* 1997; 205(3):657-62.

204. Peterson BG, Matsumura JS, Morasch MD, West MA, Eskandari MK. Percutaneous endovascular repair of blunt thoracic aortic transection. *J Trauma* 2005;59(5):1062-5.

Mosquera V.X.

205. Tehrani HY, Peterson BG, Katariya K, Morasch MD, Stevens R, DiLuozzo G, et al. Endovascular repair of thoracic aortic tears. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2006;82(3):873-7; discussion 877-8.

206. Dake MD, White RA, Diethrich EB, Greenberg RK, Criado FJ, Bavaria JE, et al. Report on endograft management of traumatic thoracic aortic transections at 30 days and 1 year from a multidisciplinary subcommittee of the Society for Vascular Surgery Outcomes Committee. *J Vasc Surg* 2011;53(4):1091-6.

207. Lettinga-van de Poll T, Schurink GW, De Haan MW, Verbruggen JP, Jacobs MJ. Endovascular treatment of traumatic rupture of the thoracic aorta. *Br J Surg* 2007; 94(5):525-33.

208. Neschis DG, Moaine S, Gutta R, Charles K, Scalea TM, Flinn WR, et al. Twenty consecutive cases of endograft repair of traumatic aortic disruption: lessons learned. *J Vasc Surg* 2007;45(3):487-92.

209. Mosquera VX, Herrera JM, Marini M, Estevez F, Cao I, Gulías D, et al. Midterm results of thoracic endovascular aortic repair in surgical high-risk patients. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg* 2009; 9(1):61-5.

210. Navid F, Gleason TG. Great vessel and cardiac trauma: diagnostic and management strategies. *Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2008; 20(1):31-8.

211. Svensson LG, Kouchoukos NT, Miller DC, Bavaria JE, Coselli JS, Curi MA, et al. Expert consensus document on the treatment of descending thoracic aortic disease using endovascular stent-grafts. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2008; 85(1 Suppl):S1-41.

Mosquera V.X.

212. Matsumura JS, Rizvi AZ; Society for Vascular Surgery. Left subclavian artery revascularization: Society for Vascular Surgery Practice Guidelines. *J Vasc Surg* 2010;52(4 Suppl):65S-70S.

213. Matsumura JS, Cambria RP, Dake MD, Moore RD, Svensson LG, Snyder S;, et al. International controlled clinical trial of thoracic endovascular aneurysm repair with the Zenith TX2 endovascular graft: 1-year results. *J Vasc Surg* 2008; 47(2):247-257; discussion 257.

214. Makaroun MS, Dillavou ED, Wheatley GH, Cambria RP; Gore TAG Investigators. Five-year results of endovascular treatment with the Gore TAG device compared with open repair of thoracic aortic aneurysms. *J Vasc Surg* 2008;47(5):912-8.

215. Fairman RM, Criado F, Farber M, Kwolek C, Mehta M, White R, et al. Pivotal results of the Medtronic Vascular Talent Thoracic Stent Graft System: the VALOR trial. *J Vasc Surg* 2008; 48(3):546-54.

216. Idu MM, Reekers JA, Balm R, Ponsen KJ, de Mol BA, Legemate DA. Collapse of a stent-graft following treatment of a traumatic thoracic aortic rupture. *J Endovasc Ther* 2005; 12(4):503-7.

217. Sze DY, Mitchell RS, Miller DC, Fleischmann D, Frisoli JK, Kee ST, et al. Infolding and collapse of thoracic endoprostheses: manifestations and treatment options. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2009; 138(2):324-33.

218. Annamalai G, Cook R, Martin M. Endograft collapse following endovascular repair of traumatic aortic injury. *Diagn Interv Radiol* 2011; 17(1):84-7.

Mosquera V.X.

219. Muhs BE, Balm R, White GH, Verhagen HJ. Anatomic factors associated with acute endograft collapse after Gore TAG treatment of thoracic aortic dissection or traumatic rupture. *J Vasc Surg* 2007; 45(4):655-61.

220. Atkins MD, Marrocco CJ, Bohannon WT, Bush RL. Stent-graft repair for blunt traumatic aortic injury as the new standard of care: is there evidence? *J Endovasc Ther* 2009; 16 Suppl 1:I53-62.

221. Dunham MB, Zygun D, Petrasek P, Kortbeek JB, Karmy-Jones R, Moore RD. Endovascular stent grafts for acute blunt aortic injury. *J Trauma* 2004;56(6):1173-8.

222. Mitchell RS, Ishimaru S, Ehrlich MP, Iwase T, Lauterjung L, Shimono T, et al. First International Summit on Thoracic Aortic Endografting: roundtable on thoracic aortic dissection as an indication for endografting. *J Endovasc Ther* 2002; 9 Suppl 2:II98-105.

223. Dunning J, Martin JE, Shennib H, Cheng DC. Is it safe to cover the left subclavian artery when placing an endovascular stent in the descending thoracic aorta? *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg* 2008;7(4):690-7.

224. Botta L, Buttazzi K, Russo V, Parlapiano M, Gostoli V, Di Bartolomeo R, et al. Endovascular repair for penetrating atherosclerotic ulcers of the descending thoracic aorta: early and mid-term results. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2008; 85(3):987-92.

225. Kotelis D, Geisbüsch P, Hinz U, Hyhlik-Dürr A, von Tengg-Kobligk H, Allenberg JR, et al. Short and midterm results after left subclavian artery coverage during endovascular repair of the thoracic aorta. *J Vasc Surg* 2009;50(6):1285-92.

226. Matsumura JS, Lee WA, Mitchell RS, Farber MA, Murad MH, Lumsden AB, et al. The Society for Vascular Surgery Practice Guidelines: management of the left

subclavian artery with thoracic endovascular aortic repair. *J Vasc Surg* 2009;50(5):1155-8.

227. Feezor RJ, Lee WA. Strategies for detection and prevention of spinal cord ischemia during TEVAR. *Semin Vasc Surg* 2009; 22(3):187-92.

228. Rizvi AZ, Sullivan TM. Incidence, prevention, and management in spinal cord protection during TEVAR. *J Vasc Surg* 2010;52(4 Suppl):86S-90S.

229. Greenberg R, Resch T, Nyman U, Lindh M, Brunkwall J, Brunkwall P, et al. Endovascular repair of descending thoracic aortic aneurysms: an early experience with intermediate-term follow-up. *J Vasc Surg* 2000;31(1 Pt 1):147-56.

230. Amabile P, Grisoli D, Giorgi R, Bartoli JM, Piquet P. Incidence and determinants of spinal cord ischaemia in stent-graft repair of the thoracic aorta. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg* 2008;35(4):455-61.

231. Buth J, Harris PL, Hobo R, van Eps R, Cuypers P, Duijm L, et al. Neurologic complications associated with endovascular repair of thoracic aortic pathology: Incidence and risk factors. a study from the European Collaborators on Stent/Graft Techniques for Aortic Aneurysm Repair (EUROSTAR) registry. *J Vasc Surg* 2007; 46(6):1103-1110; discussion 1110-1.

232. Khoynezhad A, Donayre CE, Bui H, Kopchok GE, Walot I, White RA. Risk factors of neurologic deficit after thoracic aortic endografting. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2007;83(2):S882-9; discussion S890-2.

233. Hnath JC, Mehta M, Taggert JB, Sternbach Y, Roddy SP, Kreienberg PB, et al. Strategies to improve spinal cord ischemia in endovascular thoracic aortic repair:

Mosquera V.X.

Outcomes of a prospective cerebrospinal fluid drainage protocol. *J Vasc Surg.* 2008 Oct;48(4):836-40.

234. Gravereaux EC, Faries PL, Burks JA, Latessa V, Spielvogel D, Hollier LH, et al. Risk of spinal cord ischemia after endograft repair of thoracic aortic aneurysms. *J Vasc Surg* 2001 Dec;34(6):997-1003.

235. Hong MS, Feezor RJ, Lee WA, Nelson PR. The advent of thoracic endovascular aortic repair is associated with broadened treatment eligibility and decreased overall mortality in traumatic thoracic aortic injury. *J Vasc Surg* 2011; 53(1):36-42; discussion 43.

236. Jeong YB, Choi WJ, Han SH, Choi IC. Cerebral epidural hematoma following cerebrospinal fluid drainage during thoracoabdominal aortic repair. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand* 2009;53(9):1221-2.

237. Wynn MM, Mell MW, Tefera G, Hoch JR, Acher CW. Complications of spinal fluid drainage in thoracoabdominal aortic aneurysm repair: a report of 486 patients treated from 1987 to 2008. *J Vasc Surg* 2009; 49(1):29-34; discussion 34-5.

238. Riesenman PJ, Farber MA, Rich PB, Sheridan BC, Mendes RR, Marston WA, et al. Outcomes of surgical and endovascular treatment of acute traumatic thoracic aortic injury. *J Vasc Surg* 2007;46(5):934-40.

239. Chung J, Owen R, Turnbull R, Chyczij H, Winkelaar G, Gibney N. Endovascular repair in traumatic thoracic aortic injuries: comparison with open surgical repair. *J Vasc Interv Radiol* 2008;19(4):479-86.

Mosquera V.X.

240. Akowuah E, Angelini G, Bryan AJ. Open versus endovascular repair of traumatic aortic rupture: a systematic review. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2009; 138(3):768-9.

241. Jonker FH, Giacovelli JK, Muhs BE, Sosa JA, Indes JE. Trends and outcomes of endovascular and open treatment for traumatic thoracic aortic injury. *J Vasc Surg* 2010; 51(3):565-71.

242. Hoffer EK, Forauer AR, Silas AM, Gemery JM. Endovascular stent-graft or open surgical repair for blunt thoracic aortic trauma: systematic review. *J Vasc Interv Radiol* 2008; 19(8):1153-64.

243. Tang GL, Tehrani HY, Usman A, Katariya K, Otero C, Perez E, et al. Reduced mortality, paraplegia, and stroke with stent graft repair of blunt aortic transections: a modern meta-analysis. *J Vasc Surg* 2008; 47(3):671-5.

244. Pacini D, Angeli E, Fattori R, Lovato L, Rocchi G, Di Marco L, et al. Traumatic rupture of the thoracic aorta: ten years of delayed management. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2005;129(4):880-4.

245. Botta L, Russo V, Savini C, Buttazzi K, Pacini D, Lovato L, et al. Endovascular treatment for acute traumatic transection of the descending aorta: focus on operative timing and left subclavian artery management. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2008; 136(6):1558-63.

246. Pate JW, Gavant ML, Weiman DS, Fabian TC. Traumatic rupture of the aortic isthmus: program of selective management. *World J Surg* 1999; 23(1):59-63.

Mosquera V.X.

247. Camp PC, Shackford SR. Outcome after blunt traumatic thoracic aortic laceration: identification of a high-risk cohort. Western Trauma Association Multicenter Study Group. *J Trauma* 1997; 43(3):413-22.

248. Maggisano R, Nathens A, Alexandrova NA, Cina C, Boulanger B, McKenzie R, et al. Traumatic rupture of the thoracic aorta: should one always operate immediately? *Ann Vasc Surg* 1995; 9(1):44-52.

249. Holmes JH 4th, Bloch RD, Hall RA, Carter YM, Karmy-Jones RC. Natural history of traumatic rupture of the thoracic aorta managed nonoperatively: a longitudinal analysis. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2002; 73(4):1149-54.

250. Nzewi O, Slight RD, Zamvar V. Management of blunt thoracic aortic injury. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg* 2006;31(1):18-27.

251. Chemnitz J, Christensen BC. Repair in arterial tissue 2 years after a severe single dilatation injury: the regenerative capacity of the rabbit aortic wall. The importance of endothelium and of the state of subendothelial connective tissue to reconstitution of the intimal barrier. *Virchows Arch A Pathol Anat Histopathol* 1991; 418(6):523-30.

252. Kepros J, Angood P, Jaffe CC, Rabinovici R. Aortic intimal injuries from blunt trauma: resolution profile in nonoperative management. *J Trauma* 2002; 52(3):475-8.

253. Hirose H, Gill IS, Malangoni MA. Nonoperative management of traumatic aortic injury. *J Trauma* 2006; 60(3):597-601.

254. Caffarelli AD, Mallidi HR, Maggio PM, Spain DA, Miller DC, Mitchell RS. Early outcomes of deliberate nonoperative management for blunt thoracic aortic injury in trauma. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2010; 140(3):598-605.

Mosquera V.X.

255. Mosquera VX, Marini M, Gulias D, Cao I, Muñiz J, Herrera-Noreña JM, Lopez-Perez JM, Cuenca JJ. Minimal traumatic aortic injuries: meaning and natural history. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg. 2012 Jun;14(6):773-8. Epub 2012 Mar 21.*

256. Mosquera VX, Marini M, Muñiz J, Lopez-Perez JM, Gulías D, Cuenca JJ. Aortic injuries in crush trauma patients: Different mechanism, different management. *Injury*. 2011 Oct 11. [Epub ahead of print] DOI: 10.1016/j.injury.2011.09.022

257. Dong ZH, Yang ZG, Chen TW, Feng YC, Chu ZG, Yu JQ, et al. Crush thoracic trauma in the massive Sichuan earthquake: evaluation with multidetector CT of 215 cases. *Radiology* 2010;254(1):285-91.

258. Hu Y, Tang Y, Yuan Y, Xie TP, Zhao YF. Trauma evaluation of patients with chest injury in the 2008 earthquake of Wenchuan, Sechuan, China. *World J Surg* 2010; 34(4):728-32.

259. Cardarelli MG, McLaughlin JS, Downing SW, Brown JM, Attar S, Griffith BP.
Management of traumatic aortic rupture: a 30-year experience. *Ann Surg* 2002;
236(4):465-9; discussion 469-70.

260. Gottardi R, Funovics M, Eggers N, Hirner A, Dorfmeister M, Holfeld J, et al. Supra-aortic transposition for combined vascular and endovascular repair of aortic arch pathology. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2008; 86(5):1524-9.

261. Schoder M, Lammer J, Czerny M. Endovascular aortic arch repair: hopes and certainties. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg* 2009; 38(3):255-61.

262. Symbas PJ, Horsley WS, Symbas PN. Rupture of the ascending aorta caused by blunt trauma. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1998; 66(1):113-7.

263. Asensio JA, Forno W, Roldan G, Petrone P, Rojo E, Tillou A, et al. Abdominal vascular injuries: injuries to the aorta. *Surg Clin North Am* 2001; 81(6):1395-416, xiii-xiv.

264. Asensio JA, Forno W, Roldán G, Petrone P, Rojo E, Ceballos J, et al. Visceral vascular injuries. *Surg Clin North Am* 2002; 82(1):1-20, xix.

265. Asensio JA, McDuffie L, Petrone P, Roldań G, Forno W, Gambaro E, et al. Reliable variables in the exsanguinated patient which indicate damage control and predict outcome. *Am J Surg* 2001; 182(6):743-51.

266. Fialka C, Sebök C, Kemetzhofer P, Kwasny O, Sterz F, Vécsei V.. Open-chest cardiopulmonary resuscitation after cardiac arrest in cases of blunt chest or abdominal trauma: a consecutive series of 38 cases. *J Trauma* 2004; 57(4):809-14.

267. Asensio JA, Soto SN, Forno W, Roldan G, Petrone P, Gambaro E, et al. Abdominal vascular injuries: the trauma surgeon's challenge. *Surg Today* 2001; 31(11):949-57.

268. Ganter MT, Pittet JF. New insights into acute coagulopathy in trauma patients. *Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol* 2010; 24(1):15-25.

269. Cox EF. Blunt abdominal trauma. A 5-year analysis of 870 patients requiring celiotomy. *Ann Surg* 1984; 199(4):467-74.

270. Morris JA, Jr., Eddy VA, Rutherford EJ. The trauma celiotomy: the evolving concepts of damage control. *Curr Probl Surg* 1996; 33(8):611-700.

271. Wahl WL, Ahrns KS, Brandt MM, Franklin GA, Taheri PA. The need for early angiographic embolization in blunt liver injuries. *J Trauma* 2002; 52(6):1097-101.

Mosquera V.X.

272. Hagiwara A, Murata A, Matsuda T, Matsuda H, Shimazaki S. The efficacy and limitations of transarterial embolization for severe hepatic injury. *J Trauma* 2002; 52(6):1091-6.

273. Chimpiri AR, Natarajan B. Visceral arteriography in trauma. *Semin Intervent Radiol* 2009; 26(3):207-14.

274. Sabe AA, Claridge JA, Rosenblum DI, Lie K, Malangoni MA. The effects of splenic artery embolization on nonoperative management of blunt splenic injury: a 16-year experience. *J Trauma* 2009; 67(3):565-72; discussion 571-2.

275. Mayglothling JA, Haan JM, Scalea TM. Blunt splenic injuries in the adolescent trauma population: the role of angiography and embolization. *J Emerg Med* 2011; 41(1):21-8.

276. Jiang J, Ding X, Su Q, Zhang G, Wang Q, Jian W, et al. Therapeutic management of superior mesenteric artery aneurysms. *J Vasc Surg* 2011; 53(6):1619-24.

277. Asensio JA, Chahwan S, Hanpeter D, Demetriades D, Forno W, Gambaro E, et al. Operative management and outcome of 302 abdominal vascular injuries. *Am J Surg* 2000;180(6):528-33; discussion 533-4.

278. Mosquera VX, Marini M, Cao I, Gulias D, Muñiz J, Herrera-Noreña JM, Cuenca JJ. Traumatic aortic injuries associated with major visceral vascular injuries in major blunt trauma patients. *World J Surg. 2012 Jul;36(7):1571-80*.

279. Davis KA, Reed RL 2nd, Santaniello J, Abodeely A, Esposito TJ, Poulakidas SJ, et al. Predictors of the need for nephrectomy after renal trauma. *J Trauma* 2006;60(1):164-9; discussion 169-70.

Mosquera V.X.

280. Tzoulaki I, Liberopoulos G, Ioannidis JP. Assessment of claims of improved prediction beyond the Framingham risk score. *JAMA* 2009;302(21):2345-52.

281. Pepe MS. Problems with risk reclassification methods for evaluating prediction models. *Am J Epidemiol* 2011;173(11):1327-35.

282. Cook NR, Paynter NP. Performance of reclassification statistics in comparing risk prediction models. *Biom J* 2011; 53(2):237-58.

283. Metz CE. Basic principles of ROC analysis. Semin Nucl Med 1978; 8(4):283-98.

284. Zweig MH, Campbell G. Receiver-operating characteristic (ROC) plots: a fundamental evaluation tool in clinical medicine. *Clin Chem* 1993; 39(4):561-77.

285. Steyerberg EW, Vickers AJ, Cook NR, Gerds T, Gonen M, Obuchowski N, et al. Assessing the performance of prediction models: a framework for traditional and novel measures. *Epidemiology* 2010;21(1):128-38.

286. Huppmann MV, Johnson WB, Javitt MC. Radiation risks from exposure to chest computed tomography. *Semin Ultrasound CT MR* 2010;31(1):14-28.

287. Barrios C, Malinoski D, Dolich M, Lekawa M, Hoyt D, Cinat M. Utility of thoracic computed tomography after blunt trauma: when is chest radiograph enough? *Am Surg* 2009; 75(10):966-9.

288. Naftel DC. Do different investigators sometimes produce different multivariable equations from the same data? *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1994;107(6):1528-9.

289. Justice AC, Covinsky KE, Berlin JA. Assessing the generalizability of prognostic information. *Ann Intern Med* 1999;130(6):515-24.

Mosquera V.X.

290. Blackstone EH. Breaking down barriers: helpful breakthrough statistical methods you need to understand better. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2001;122(3):430-9.

291. Grunkemeier GL, Wu Y. Bootstrap resampling methods: something for nothing? *Ann Thorac Surg* 2004;77(4):1142-4.

292. Baker SP, O'Neill B, Haddon W Jr, Long WB. The injury severity score: a method for describing patients with multiple injuries and evaluating emergency care. *J Trauma* 1974; 14(3):187-96.

293. Soreide K. Epidemiology of major trauma. Br J Surg 2009; 96(7):697-8.

294. Lossius HM, Langhelle A, Søreide E, Pillgram-Larsen J, Lossius TA, Laake P, et al. Reporting data following major trauma and analysing factors associated with outcome using the new Utstein style recommendations. *Resuscitation* 2001;50(3):263-72.

295. hampion HR, Sacco WJ, Copes WS, Gann DS, Gennarelli TA, Flanagan ME. A revision of the Trauma Score. *J Trauma* 1989; 29(5):623-9.

296. Champion HR, Sacco WJ, Copes WS. Injury severity scoring again. *J Trauma* 1995; 38(1):94-5.

297. Mowery NT, Gunter OL, Collier BR, Diaz JJ Jr, Haut E, Hildreth A, et al. Practice management guidelines for management of hemothorax and occult pneumothorax. *J Trauma* 2011;70(2):510-8.

Allen GS, Coates NE. Pulmonary contusion: a collective review. *Am Surg* 1996;62(11):895-900.

Mosquera V.X.

299. Cohn SM, Dubose JJ. Pulmonary contusion: an update on recent advances in clinical management. *World J Surg* 2010; 34(8):1959-70.

300. Lee C, Porter K. The prehospital management of pelvic fractures. *Emerg Med J* 2007;24(2):130-3.

301. Cole PA. Scapula fractures. Orthop Clin North Am 2002; 33(1):1-18, vii.

302. Lapner PC, Uhthoff HK, Papp S. Scapula fractures. *Orthop Clin North Am* 2008;39(4):459-74, vi.

303. van Noort A, van der Werken C. The floating shoulder. *Injury* 2006;37(3):218-27.

304. Glantz SA. It is all in the numbers. J Am Coll Cardiol 1993;21(3):835-7.

305. Moons KG, Harrell FE, Steyerberg EW. Should scoring rules be based on odds ratios or regression coefficients? *J Clin Epidemiol* 2002;55(10):1054-5.

306. Zou KH, O'Malley AJ, Mauri L. Receiver-operating characteristic analysis for evaluating diagnostic tests and predictive models. *Circulation* 2007;115(5):654-7.

307. DeLong ER, DeLong DM, Clarke-Pearson DL. Comparing the areas under two or more correlated receiver operating characteristic curves: a nonparametric approach. *Biometrics* 1988; 44(3):837-45.

308. Shah BR, Laupacis A, Hux JE, Austin PC. Propensity score methods gave similar results to traditional regression modeling in observational studies: a systematic review. *J Clin Epidemiol* 2005;58(6):550-9.

309. Hosmer DW, Hosmer T, Le Cessie S, Lemeshow S. A comparison of goodnessof-fit tests for the logistic regression model. *Stat Med* 1997;16(9):965-80.

Mosquera V.X.

310. Hosmer DW, Hjort NL. Goodness-of-fit processes for logistic regression: simulation results. *Stat Med* 2002; 21(18):2723-38.

311. Greiner M, Pfeiffer D, Smith RD. Principles and practical application of the receiver-operating characteristic analysis for diagnostic tests. *Prev Vet Med* 2000;45(1-2):23-41

312. Kraemer HC. Reconsidering the odds ratio as a measure of 2x2 association in a population. *Stat Med* 2004; 23(2):257-70.

313. McGee S. Simplifying likelihood ratios. J Gen Intern Med 2002;17(8):646-9.

314. Henderson AR. The bootstrap: a technique for data-driven statistics. Using computer-intensive analyses to explore experimental data. *Clin Chim Acta* 2005;359(1-2):1-26.

315. Sturm JT, McGee MB, Luxenberg MG. An analysis of risk factors for death at the scene following traumatic aortic rupture. J Trauma 1988; 28(11):1578-80.

316. Appelbaum A, Karp RB, Kirklin JW. Surgical treatment for closed thoracic aortic injuries. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1976; 71(3):458-60.

317. Ahrar K, Smith DC. Trauma to the aorta and aortic arch branches. *Curr Opin Cardiol* 1998; 13(5):355-68.

318. Laupacis A, Sekar N, Stiell IG. Clinical prediction rules. A review and suggested modifications of methodological standards. *JAMA* 1997; 277(6):488-94.

9. APENDICES

9.1.APPENDIX I: Publications

- Mosquera VX, Herrera JM, Marini M, Estevez F, Cao I, Gulías D, Valle JV, Cuenca JJ. Mid-term results of thoracic endovascular aortic repair in surgical high-risk patients. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg* 2009;9(1):61-5.
- Mosquera VX, Marini M, Lopez-Perez JM, Muñiz-Garcia J, Herrera JM, Cao I, Cuenca JJ. Role of conservative management in traumatic aortic injury: comparison of long-term results of conservative, surgical, and endovascular treatment. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2011;142(3):614-21.
- Mosquera VX, Marini M, Muñiz J, Lopez-Perez JM, Gulías D, Cuenca JJ. Aortic injuries in crush trauma patients: Different mechanism, different management. *Injury*. 2011 Oct 11. [Epub ahead of print] DOI: 10.1016/j.injury.2011.09.022
- Mosquera VX, Marini M, Cao I, Gulias D, Muñiz J, Herrera-Noreña JM, Cuenca JJ. Traumatic aortic injuries associated with major visceral vascular injuries in major blunt trauma patients. *World J Surg. 2012 Jul;36(7):1571-80*.
- Mosquera VX, Marini M, Gulias D, Cao I, Muñiz J, Herrera-Noreña JM, Lopez-Perez JM, Cuenca JJ. Minimal traumatic aortic injuries: meaning and natural history. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg. 2012 Jun;14(6):773-8. Epub 2012 Mar 21.*
- Victor X Mosquera, Milagros Marini, Javier Muñiz, Vanesa Asorey-Veiga, Belen Adrio-Nazar, Ricardo Boix, José M Lopez-Perez, Gonzalo Pradas-Montilla, José J Cuenca. Traumatic Aortic Injury Score (TRAINS): an easy and

simple score for early detection of traumatic aortic injuries in major trauma patients. *Intensive Care Med. 2012 May 23*. DOI: 10.1007/s00134-012-2596-y.

9.2.APPENDIX II: Unpublished data. Manuscripts under review

 Mosquera VX, Marini M, Muñiz J, Asorey-Veiga V, Adrio-Nazar B, Herrera-Noreña JM, Pradas-Montilla G, Cuenca JJ. Blunt traumatic aortic injuries of the ascending aorta and aortic arch: a clinical multicentre study. *Submitted to: Injury. Under Review.* JINJ-D-12-00337